DIGITAL COMMONS

@ UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA

University of South Florida Digital Commons @ University of South Florida

USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations

USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations

July 2018

Hamiltonian structures and Riemann-Hilbert problems of integrable systems

Xiang Gu University of South Florida, xianggu@mail.usf.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd

Part of the Mathematics Commons

Scholar Commons Citation

Gu, Xiang, "Hamiltonian structures and Riemann-Hilbert problems of integrable systems" (2018). USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations. https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd/7677

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. It has been accepted for inclusion in USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usf.edu.

Hamiltonian structures and Riemann-Hilbert problems of integrable systems

by

Xiang Gu

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Department of Mathematics & Statistics College of Arts and Sciences University of South Florida

Major Professor: Wen-Xiu Ma, Ph.D. Yuncheng You, Ph.D. Sherwin Kouchekian, Ph.D. Razvan Teodorescu, Ph.D. Leslaw Skrzypek, Ph.D.

> Date of Approval: June 29, 2018

Keywords: Hamiltonian Operator, Hamiltonian Structure, Matrix Spectral Problem, Riemann-Hilbert Problem, Integrable Systems

Copyright ©2018, Xiang Gu

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my dear parents and sister, as well as all the people who have persistently trusted me and supported me with their mentorship or friendship.

Acknowledgments

First of all, I must express my sincerest gratitude to my Ph.D. advisor, Prof. Dr. Wen-Xiu Ma. Prof. Ma is a distinguished scholar and a Thomson Reuters' highly-cited researcher in mathematics, as well as a kind and wise academic mentor. He works conscientiously and efficiently; he has burning passion in mathematics; he shares experience and innovative ideas with us; he is quickly available to help and encourage us whenever we have difficulties . . . His wisdom, methodology and enthusiasm of enjoying mathematics & life had impacted me a lot, and definitely will also illuminate some of the future paths ahead of me.

A special thank must be delivered to Prof. Yuncheng You, from whom I learned a lot of analysis and PDE theory. Just like my advisor Prof. Ma, Prof. You offered me plenty of constructive instructions not only on mathematics, but also on general academics, ethics and life wisdom. I also thank him from deep heart for his persistent academic recommendations during my job hunting.

I must also thank my committee members, Prof. Dr. Shengqian Ma, Prof. Dr. Leslaw Skrzypek, Prof. Dr. Yuncheng You, Prof. Dr. Razvan Teoderescu and Prof. Dr. Sherwin Kouchekian for taking the time to attend my thesis defense, as well as providing insightful advices and comments to me to improve the dissertation.

I also have to sincerely thank Prof. Dr. Stephen Suen and Dr. Scott Rimbey for their supervision on my teaching assistantship during this Ph.D. program. They have also put valuable time in writing letters of recommendation for me when I was looking for academic jobs.

Dr. Solomon Manukure, Dr. Morgan A. Mcanally, Dr. Junyi Tu, Dr. Meng Yang, Fudong Wang, Sumayah Batwa and Emmenuel Appiah must also be sincerely thanked for their helps, discussions, coorperations and friendship during my Ph.D. study.

Any words definitely do not suffice to express the gratitude to my parents, my dear sister and my girl friend Yunqiu Zhong —they support me unconditionally with all what they have and they can. Finally, I'd like to send my gratefulness to all who had lent me their warm hands during the entire program, especially those whose names are not even mentioned here.

Table of Contents

List of Figur	resi	iii		
Abstract		iv		
Chapter 1	Introduction	1		
1.1	Solitons	1		
1.2	The KdV equation as an integrable model	2		
1.3	Methodologies for solving the KdV equation	5		
	1.3.1 Bäcklund transform	7		
	1.3.2 Inverse scattering transform	8		
	1.3.3 Hirota bilinear method	9		
	1.3.4 Riemann-Hilbert problems	13		
1.4	Mathematical framework	15		
	1.4.1 Evolution equations	15		
	1.4.2 Variational calculus	16		
	1.4.3 Conservation laws and symmetries	17		
	1.4.4 Hamiltonian structures 1	19		
Chapter 2	Integrable Hamiltonian hierarchies with three potentials based on matrix spectral			
problem	is associated with $sl(2,\mathbb{R})$ and $so(3,\mathbb{R})$	23		
2.1	Matrix spectral problems	23		
2.2	A new soliton hierarchy based on the $sl(2,\mathbb{R})$ Lie algebra $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	26		
	2.2.1 From spectral problem to soliton hierarchy	26		
	2.2.2 Analysis of Hamiltonian structures	32		
2.3	An so $(3, \mathbb{R})$ -counterpart	34		
	2.3.1 From spectral problem to soliton hierarchy	34		
	2.3.2 Analysis of Hamiltonian structures	38		
2.4	Concluding remarks	39		
Chapter 3	A type of Hamiltonian operators with two potentials and their integrable hierarchies 4			
3.1				
3.2	The Gauge equivalence of a class of Hamiltonian matrix differential operators 4	14		
3.3	The coupling between H and constant matrix differential operators			
3.4	Examples	50		
	3.4.1 Example #.1	50		
	3.4.2 Example #.2	51		
	3.4.3 Example #.3	53		
	3.4.4 Example #.4	54		
3.5	Concluding remarks	55		
Chapter 4	Computation of solutions of a generalized eight-component mKdV system			
based on Riemann-Hilbert problems				
4.1	Matrix spectral problems of a class of generalized modified KdV systems 5	59		
4.2	Riemann-Hilbert problems $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	52		

4.3	Soliton solutions
4.4	Reductions
4.5	Concluding remarks
References .	

List of Figures

Figure 1	Schematic Diagram of the	Inverse Scattering Transform	 0
0			-

Abstract

We begin this dissertation by presenting a brief introduction to the theory of solitons and integrability (plus some classical methods applied in this field) in Chapter 1, mainly using the Korteweg-de Vries equation as a typical model. At the end of this Chapter a mathematical framework of notations and terminologies is established for the whole dissertation.

In Chapter 2, we first introduce two specific matrix spectral problems (with 3 potentials) associated with matrix Lie algebras $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ and $so(3, \mathbb{R})$, respectively; then we engender two soliton hierarchies. Analysis of their Hamiltonian structures based on the trace identity affirms that the obtained hierarchies are Liouville integrable. This chapter shows the entire process of how a soliton hierarchy is engendered by starting from a proper matrix spectral problem.

In Chapter 3, at first we elucidate the Gauge equivalence among three types *u*-linear Hamiltonian operators, and construct then the corresponding Bäcklund transformations among them explicitly. Next we derive the if-and-only-if conditions under which the linear coupling of the discussed *u*-linear operators and matrix differential operators with constant coefficients is still Hamiltonian. Very amazingly, the derived conditions show that the resulting Hamiltonian operators is truncated only up to the 3rd differential order. Finally, a couple of relevant examples of integrable hierarchies are illustrated.

In Chapter, 4 we first present a generalized modified Korteweg-de Vries hierarchy. Then for one of the equations in this hierarchy, we build the associated Riemann-Hilbert problems with some equivalent spectral problems. Next, computation of soliton solutions is performed by reducing the Riemann-Hilbert problems to those with identity jump matrix, i.e., those correspond to reflectionless inverse scattering problems. Finally a special reduction of the original matrix spectral problem will be briefly discussed.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Solitons

Solitons are meant in mathematics and physics to be nonlinear self-reinforcing wave packets that preserve their shapes while traveling at constant speeds. The story about the discovery of solitary waves by Scott Russell on the Union Canal at Hermiston in 1834, is well known to soliton scientists just like Genesis to the Christians [1]. Russell even spent time making his own water tanks to investigate these waves, but in the middle of 19th century his experimental results cannot be explained by the existing Newton's or Bernoulli's theories of hydrodynamics or water waves.

In 1870s, as an early attempt of theoretical exploration to the above phenomenon, J. Boussinesq and L. Rayleigh published an effective approximation treatment and presented the corresponding solutions [2, 3, 4]. Then in 1895, Diederik Korteweg and Gustav de Vries formally proposed a partial differential equation (PDE) for the description of wave propagation on shallow water surfaces (like what Russell had observed), which is known to all of us today as the **Korteweg-de Vries equation** (KdV equation) [5].

But the KdV equation then immediately slept in silence for almost seven decades till it was woken up in 1965—by using a finite difference method, N. Zabusky from Bell Labs and M. Kruskal in Princeton University first introduced computer simulations to gain analytical insights upon soliton behavior in media governed by the KdV equation [6]. Then by associating this result with that of an earlier numerical simulation performed by Fermi, Pasta, Ulam and Tsingou [7] (a 1-dimensional lattice of equal point masses connected by nonlinear anharmonic strings), they also showed that the KdV equation can be viewed as the continuum limit of this FPUT system, whose behavior remained unexplained till then (Indeed the modern discoveries associated with the KdV equation later on was also more or less stimulated by the unexpected numerical results yielded from this FPUT model).

In 1967, Gardner, Greene, Kruskal and Miura proposed the inverse scattering transform method that propelled the study of exact solutions of the KdV equation on its right way [8]. Meanwhile, the mathematical tools of Lax pairs and Lax's equation developed by Peter Lax [9] have extended this to computing solutions of various soliton-related models.

Mathematically, *solitons* are solutions of a class of nonlinear PDEs which describe those nonlinear travelling waves that are characterized by:

- The waves do not disperse, so they preserve stabilized profiles (see eqn. (1.22) below) and can travel rather long distances if not much disturbed;
- They are localized (on every dimension), also see eqn. (1.22);
- Due to the nonlinearity, the traveling speed of such a wave is dependent on its amplitude (usually the speed increases with the growth of amplitude, though not necessarily in proportion, see eqn. (1.22) again), and multiple waves do not interact according to the superposition principle;
- The waves interact elastically.

The very last item above, i.e., the elastic interaction between soliton waves, can be basically pictured in one spatial dimension as: suppose two soliton waves are initially well separated, the one with larger speed is located to the left of the other, and both are travelling from left to right; then the taller, faster wave will catch up with the smaller, slower one, and overlap it through a nonlinear interaction; finally both retrieve their profiles unchanged from the collision, and still keep traveling with their own speeds independently, leaving but only a phase shift as the evidence of undergoing a collision.

Physically, the origin of solitons lies in the mechanism of a balanced competition between nonlinear and dispersive effects in the medium—or in another word, in the cases when the effect that causes the wave dispersion is properly compensated by the involved nonlinear effect, such an subtle interplay between the two may give rise to a stable, localized and uniformly traveling wave profile.

So far solitons have been observed not only in shallow water surfaces, but also through experiments in fiber optics [10], in magnets described by Landau-Lifshitz equation or continuum Heisenberg model [11], in the low-frequency collective motion in proteins and DNA [12] and in plasmas, etc.

1.2 The KdV equation as an integrable model

The KdV equation reads

$$u_t + 6uu_x + u_{xxx} = 0, (1.1)$$

where u = u(x, t) is the to-be-determined function depending spatially on x and temporally on t, was first introduced by Joseph Boussinesq in 1877, and particularly revisited by Diederik Korteweg and Gustav de Vries in 1895 as a mathematical model to depict the waves propagating on shallow water surfaces. The remarkable significance of the KdV equation lies in the fact that it is the prototypical example of an integrable model, i.e., a nonlinear partial differential (or difference) equation whose solutions to well-posed initial or boundary valued problems can be presented [13] in terms of elementary functions, through a finite number of algebraic operations, composition of functions, and computing limits (including differentiations, integrals, etc.).

The KdV equation can be solved in various ways depending on how the initial or boundary values are posed. The most fundamental and amazing property of the KdV equation (indeed of most integrable models) is that it can be expressed as the compatibility condition of a pair of linear differential equations. Suppose that L and M are two operators. Let φ be an eigenfunction of L, with $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ (called a **spectral parameter**) being the corresponding eigenvalue; and let the action of M upon ϕ give the associated temporal evolution of the eigenfunction, i.e.:

$$L\varphi = \lambda\varphi, \quad \varphi_t = M\varphi. \tag{1.2}$$

By taking the partial derivative of (1.2) with respect to t, one obtains:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}L\varphi = L_t\varphi + L\varphi_t = \lambda_t\varphi + \lambda\varphi_t,$$

$$\Rightarrow L_t\varphi + LM\varphi = \lambda_t\varphi + \lambda M\varphi = \lambda_t\varphi + M(\lambda\varphi) = \lambda_t\varphi + ML\varphi,$$

$$\Rightarrow (L_t + [L, M])\varphi = \lambda_t\varphi,$$
(1.3)

where [L, M] = LM - ML is the operator commutator of L and M. Hence it follows from the nontriviality of the eigenfunction $\varphi(x, t)$ in the isospectral case of $\lambda_t = 0$ that the so-called **Lax's equation** holds:

$$L_t + [L, M] = 0. (1.4)$$

Peter Lax discovered in 1968 that given $L = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + u$ which is the Sturm-Liouville operator, so that $L\varphi = \lambda\varphi$ reproduces the one-dimensional linear Schrödinger equation, and if *M* is a third-order differential operator

$$M = -4\frac{\partial^3}{\partial x^3} - 6u\frac{\partial}{\partial x} - 3u_x,\tag{1.5}$$

then the Lax's equation is equivalent to the KdV equation, i.e.,

$$L_t + [L, M] = u_t + 6uu_x + u_{xxx} = 0.$$
(1.6)

More generally, if a nonlinear PDE, in a way similar to that for the KdV equation presented above, arises as the compatibility condition of two operators L and M, (1.4) for the corresponding pair of L, M is then called the *Lax representation* of that PDE, and L and M are said to make a *Lax pair*. The Lax's equation in one-dimensional space actually can be presented in a more general form. Consider two matrix spectral problems, with a potential function u and a spectral parameter λ , i.e., a pair of firstorder linear matrix differential equations, with respect to the one-dimensional coordinate x and time t, respectively:

$$\begin{cases} \phi_x = U(x, t, u, \lambda)\phi, \\ \phi_t = V(x, t, u, \lambda)\phi, \end{cases}$$
(1.7)

where ϕ is an *n*-dimensional column vector, and *U* and *V* are $n \times n$ matrices. By imposing the compatibility condition $(\phi_x)_t = (\phi_t)_x$, one obtains the so-called *zero curvature equation*:

$$U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0. (1.8)$$

The zero curvature equation admits spatial eigenvalue dependence other than $L\phi = \lambda\phi$, and is hence more general than the Lax's equation.

From the view of Lagrangian mechanics, if one sets $u(x,t) = \psi_x(x,t)$, the KdV equation can also be derived as the Euler-Lagrange equation of motion associated with the Lagrangian density

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_x \psi \partial_t \psi + (\partial_x \psi)^3 - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_x^2 \psi)^2.$$
(1.9)

A "milestone" discovery in the development of general methods for solving the KdV equation is that the KdV may possess infinitely many independent conservation laws. A conservation law of a system is mathematically characterized by $\frac{\partial}{\partial t}T + \frac{\partial}{\partial x}X = 0$ (see Definition 1.4.7 below), from which one can derive $\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\Omega}Tdx = 0$ by applying the Green's formula upon a domain $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$, and so $\int_{\Omega}Tdx$ comes out to be a conserved quantity.

The first two conservation laws of the KdV equation were found with ease due to their mathematical simplicity and physical significance:

$$u_t = -(3u^2 + u_{xx})_x, (1.10a)$$

$$(u^2)_t = -(4u^3 + 2uu_{xx} - u_x^2)_x, (1.10b)$$

which correspond obviously to the conservation laws of momentum and energy in the system, respectively. The third conservation of the KdV was then found by Whitham in 1965 to be:

$$(u^{3} - \frac{1}{2}u_{x}^{2})_{t} = -\left(\frac{9}{2}u^{4} + 3u^{2}u_{x}x - 6uu_{x}^{2} - u_{x}u_{xxx} + \frac{1}{2}u_{xx}^{2}\right)_{x}.$$
(1.11)

Kruskal and Zabusky later discovered the fourth and fifth conservation laws of the KdV. This number kept growing till Miura found the tenth. The thus-arisen conjecture that the KdV equation may have an infinite

number of independent conservation laws was finally proved by Miura, Gardner and Kruskal in 1968 by using the Miura transformation which bridges the KdV equation and the so-called modified KdV equation (we shall omit the very much detail here)

$$v_t - 6v^2 v_x + v_{xxx} = 0 (1.12)$$

in terms of $u = -(v^2 + v_x)$ (Note that through this transformation, if v solves (1.12), then u solves the KdV, but not necessarily the converse).

Another amazing property of the KdV equation is that, as an evolutionary equation in the form of $u_t = K[u] = K(x, u^{(k)})$, K[u] on the r.h.s can be written in the form of a Hamiltonian operator acting on a Hamiltonian functional in two alternative ways. Firstly,

$$u_t = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} (-u_{xx} - 3u^2) = \mathcal{J}_1 \delta \mathcal{H}_1, \qquad (1.13)$$

where δ denotes the variational derivative with respect to u (See Definition 1.4.5 below) and

$$\mathcal{J}_1 = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}, \quad \mathcal{H}_1 = \int \left(\frac{1}{2}u_x^2 - u^3\right) dx.$$
 (1.14)

Secondly, which is less obvious, K[u] can be alternatively written as

$$u_t = (\partial_x^3 + 4u\partial_x + 2u_x)u = \mathcal{J}_2\delta\mathcal{H}_2, \tag{1.15}$$

where

$$\mathcal{J}_2 = \partial_x^3 + 4u\partial_x + 2u_x, \quad \mathcal{H}_2 = \int \left(-\frac{1}{2}u^2\right) dx. \tag{1.16}$$

Both \mathcal{J}_1 and \mathcal{J}_2 can be shown to be Hamiltonian because they satisfy the skew-symmetric properties and the Jacobi identity; both \mathcal{H}_1 and \mathcal{H}_2 are Hamiltonian functionals (these concepts will also be briefly introduced below). This fantastic fact indicates that not only the KdV equation is a Hamiltonian system, but also it possesses the so-called bi-Hamiltonian structure. This bi-Hamiltonian structure is in fact intimately associated with the infinitely many conservation laws mentioned just above, and the Liouville integrability of the KdV equation as a Hamiltonian system. We shall elucidate a bit more about the connections among them below.

1.3 Methodologies for solving the KdV equation

We shall begin with using a traditional method to obtain a solution of the KdV equation with a stable localized wave shape that travels to the right at a constant speed c (i.e., a simplest one-soliton solution). Such a solution can intuitively be conjectured to take the form u(x,t) = f(x - ct) = f(w), where w = x - ct. By substituting this into the KdV equation $u_t + 6uu_x + u_{xxx} = 0$, we are given an ordinary differential equation (ODE)

$$-c\frac{df}{dw} + 6f\frac{df}{dw} + \frac{d^3f}{dw^3} = 0,$$
(1.17)

which can be integrated directly to give

$$-cf + 3f^2 + \frac{d^2f}{dw^2} = C_1, \tag{1.18}$$

where C_1 is a constant of integration. Next we multiply (1.18) with $\frac{df}{dw}$ and integrate again to yield a first order ODE

$$-cf\frac{df}{dw} + 3f^{2}\frac{df}{dw} + \frac{d^{2}f}{dw^{2}}\frac{df}{dw} = C_{1}\frac{df}{dw} \implies -\frac{c}{2}f^{2} + f^{3} + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{df}{dw}\right)^{2} = C_{1}f + C_{2}$$

where C_2 involves as the second constant of integration. The condition that u(x,t) = f(w) is localized requires $f, \frac{df}{dw}, \frac{d^2f}{dw^2} \to 0$ as $x \to \pm \infty$, from which it follows apparently that $C_1 = C_2 = 0$.

It remains therefore to solve

$$-\frac{c}{2}f^2 + f^3 + \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{df}{dw}\right)^2 = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \left(\frac{df}{dw}\right)^2 = f^2(c-2f),\tag{1.19}$$

or equivalently, to integrate

$$\int_{f(0)}^{f} (w) \frac{dz}{z\sqrt{c-2z}} = \int_{0}^{w} d\eta.$$
(1.20)

For this purpose we introduce the change of variable $2z = c \operatorname{sech}^2 y$, such that one derives easily

$$c - 2z = c(1 - \operatorname{sech}^2 y) = c \operatorname{tanh}^2 y, \quad dz = -c \frac{\sinh y}{\cosh^3 y} dy \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{dz}{z\sqrt{c - 2z}} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{c}} dy$$

By this change of variable, the upper and lower limits of the integral on l.h.s of (1.20) must also be transformed to $\operatorname{sech}^{-1}\sqrt{2f/c}$ and $\operatorname{sech}^{-1}\sqrt{2f(0)/c}$, respectively. The integration therefore gives

$$-\frac{2}{\sqrt{c}}\left(\operatorname{sech}^{-1}\sqrt{\frac{2f}{c}} - \operatorname{sech}^{-1}\sqrt{\frac{2f(0)}{c}}\right) = w = x - ct,$$
(1.21)

from which it follows immediately that

$$f = \frac{c}{2}\operatorname{sech}^2\left(\frac{\sqrt{c}}{2}(x - ct) + a\right).$$
(1.22)

where the phase shift a can be easily determined by the value of f at w = 0, i.e., $a = \operatorname{sech}^{-1} \sqrt{\frac{2f(0)}{c}}$.

Below we shall introduce a few systematical methodologies which are pretty well-developed in solving the KdV equation as an integrable model.

1.3.1 Bäcklund transform

The study of Bäcklund transformations can be traced back to originate from the work of Albert Victor Bäcklund, a swedish geometrist. When he was investigating surfaces with negative constant curvatures, he discovered that one can build a transformation between the two existing solutions u_1 and u_2 to the sine-Gordon equation (to his knowledge at that time) $u_{xy} = \sin u$, which reads

$$u_{2,x} = u_{1,x} + 2a\sin(\frac{u_1 + u_2}{2}), \quad u_{2,y} = -u_{1,y} - \frac{2}{a}\sin(\frac{u_1 - u_2}{2}),$$

where *a* is an arbitrary constant. This is the well-known (auto) Bäcklund transformation for the sine-Gordon equation. Just like the KdV equation, Bäcklund transformations did not find quick applications and slept in a even longer silence, before it resurrected in 1960s.

The fundamental idea of Bäcklund transform in solving a nonlinear PDE is that, by starting from a "trivial" solution (i.e., a solution pretty obvious and easy to guess), the Bäcklund transform can map it to a new solution which is less trivial [15] (if the new solution solves the same PDE, this Bäcklund transform is said to be *Auto-Bäcklund*; but in general, Bäcklund transform can also map the original solution to something which solves another related PDE).

To show how Bäcklund transform works for the KdV equation, we begin by letting $u = v_x$ for some function v, and this leads to

$$u_t + 6uu_x + u_{xxx} = (v_x)_t + 6v_x v_{xx} + (v_x)_{xxx} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}(v_t + 3v_x^2 + v_{xxx}) = 0.$$
(1.23)

It follows then that $v_t + 3v_x^2 + v_{xxx}$ must be dependent of t only, i.e.,

$$v_t + 3v_x^2 + v_{xxx} = f(t). ag{1.24}$$

We now introduce

$$w = v - \int^t f(s)ds, \qquad (1.25)$$

such that w clearly satisfy

$$w_t + 3w_x^2 + w_{xxx} = 0. ag{1.26}$$

Next we introduce an Auto-Bäcklund transform given by

$$\tilde{v}_x = \beta - w_x - \frac{1}{2}(\tilde{v} - w)^2,$$
(1.27a)

$$\tilde{v}_t = -w_t + (\tilde{v} - w)(\tilde{v}_{xx} - w_{xx}) - 2(\tilde{v}_x^2 + \tilde{v}_x w_x + w_x^2),$$
(1.27b)

where the involved β is called the Bäcklund parameter. Through a routine computation one can derive that \tilde{v} satisfies also $\tilde{v}_t + 3\tilde{v}_x^2 + \tilde{v}_{xxx} = 0$, as w does.

At this point we'd like to trivially pick w = 0, such that (1.27a), (1.27b) now reduce to

$$\tilde{v}_x = \beta - \frac{1}{2}\tilde{v}^2, \tag{1.28a}$$

$$\tilde{v}_t = \tilde{v}\tilde{v}_{xx} - 2\tilde{v}_x^2. \tag{1.28b}$$

We can easily solve (1.28a) by integration and substitute the result into (1.28b) to find a solution \tilde{v} . One of the solutions we can have is

$$\tilde{v}(x,t) = \sqrt{2\beta} \tanh\left[\sqrt{\frac{\beta}{2}}(x-2\beta t) + a\right],\tag{1.29}$$

(where, just like in (1.22), the phase shift a arises as a constant of integration) from which it follows finally the one-soliton solution

$$u(x,t) = \tilde{v}_x = \beta \operatorname{sech}^2 \left[\sqrt{\frac{\beta}{2}} (x - 2\beta t) + a \right].$$
(1.30)

(1.30) is clearly equivalent to (1.22) since the latter is reproduced by setting $\beta = \frac{c}{2}$ in the former.

Bäcklund transform can also be used to compute multiple-soliton solutions of the KdV equation.

1.3.2 Inverse scattering transform

The inverse scattering transform (IST) is in all senses a very typical example of the so-called "inverse problems" in mathematics. In contrast to direct problems, in which we straightforwardly derive consequences (that we expect to observe) based on given causal factors, in an inverse problem we try to figure out from a set of observed consequences the causal factors that lead to these consequences (which in general, is more difficult). I.S.T. was developed originally because of its importance in exploring atomic and particle structures in physics, i.e., via an scattering experiment, the physicists expect to reconstruct the potential that causes plenty of atomic and subatomic phenomena from the phase shifts of the various scattered waves. Very famous, for example, is the Rutherford scattering experiment carried out in 1911, through which the existence of an atomic nucleus in an atom (a milestone in exploration of atomic structure) was demonstrated.

But mathematically, the inverse scattering transform method is usually called the "nonlinear version of Fourier analysis" in the following sense: For example, when we solve a PDE about a dependent variable u depending on a spatial independent variable x and a temporal independent variable t, i.e., u = u(x,t), with initial conditions u(x,0) = f(x) and $u_t(x,0) = g(x)$, we first perform a Fourier transform w.r.t x--this converts the original PDE into an ODE of a Fourier coefficient $U(k,t) = \mathcal{F}(u)(k)$ depending on time t (with k transformed from x now being the Fourier parameter); then by solving this ODE, we find the temporal evolution of the Fourier coefficient; finally through the inverse Fourier transform, we obtain the solution u(x,t) that describes the system for any later time t > 0.

Based on this understanding, the steps of running an inverse scattering transform can be sketched as follows (of course, solving specified Cauchy problems of the KdV equation also follow these steps; but since I.S.T. is in this thesis only an auxiliary tool for understanding part of the materials in Chapter 4, and since presentation for an specific model costs a bit lengthy text, we are going to present only its spirit instead of detailed computation, and the interested readers may refer to [8, 32, 14]):

- Step 1. Proceed with forward scattering (which is the "direct problem" counterpart of inverse scattering) to find the Lax pair of the nonlinear PDE that we are studying. The routine procedure is that of solving a matrix spectral problem, the readers will see how this works in Chapter 4;
- Step 2. Collect the so-called scattering data and compute its time evolution. Scattering data refers to a set of information that encloses the eigenfunctions associated with each eigenvalue λ, the normalizing constants and the reflection coefficient. In most cases, the information of scattering data is carried by a matrix (said to be the scattering matrix). Generally the time evolution of the scattering data is described by a system of linear ODEs that is solvable.
- Step 3. Finally, one performs the inverse scattering procedure through solving the so-called Gel'fand-Levitan-Marchenko equation, which is a linear integral equation, to obtain the final solution of the original nonlinear PDE. Generally all the scattering data will be called in this step, though the process could be simplified a lot if the reflection coefficient happens to be zero.

So to summarize, Fig. 1 gives a schematic diagram of the inverse scattering procedure. If one replaces in this figure "scattering" by "Fourier transform", as well as "Scattering data S" by $\mathcal{F}(k)(u)$, respectively, the figure reduces to a chart flow diagram for solving a linear PDE via the Fourier transform. Therefore one sees that scattering data for a nonlinear PDE plays the role similar to that of the Fourier transform of a solution in a linear PDE.

The inverse scattering procedure, in the case of a nonlinear PDE with only one space dimension, can always be reformulated as a Riemann-Hilbert problem. In higher space dimensions, one obtains instead a "nonlocal" Riemann-Hilbert problem or a $\bar{\partial}$ -problem [16, 17] (i.e., the problem of solving any differential equation involving the $\bar{\partial}$ derivative, e.g., $\bar{\partial}f(z,\bar{z}) = g(z,\bar{z}), z \in D$, where $\bar{\partial} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}}, g$ is a given function and D is a simply-connected domain of the complex plane).

1.3.3 Hirota bilinear method

There are a bunch of ways through which one can compute multi-soliton solutions of the KdV equation, such that the elastic interaction between distinct solitons can be investigated and interpreted in mathematical



Figure 1.: Schematic Diagram of the Inverse Scattering Transform

detail. The most effective one of them is probably the Hirota bilinear method [18].

Hirota first realized that a PDE's most popular "face" may not be the best one for its mathematical analysis, and for the KdV equation he insightfully saw the bilinear properties hidden behind, and proposed the bilinear differential operator based on this understanding:

Let f(x,t) and g(x,t) be sufficiently smooth functions of x and t. Let $m, n \ge 0$ be integers. The action of the **Hirota differential operators** D_x and D_t upon the product $f \cdot g$ is given by

$$D_x^n D_t^m f \cdot g = \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x'}\right)^n \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} - \frac{\partial}{\partial t'}\right)^m f(x, t)g(x', t')|_{x'=x,t'=t}$$
$$= \frac{\partial^n}{\partial \tilde{x}^n} \frac{\partial^m}{\partial \tilde{t}^m} f(x + \tilde{x}, t + \tilde{t})g(x - \tilde{x}, t - \tilde{t})|_{\tilde{x}=\tilde{t}=0},$$
(1.31)

in which the involved two ways of definition are obviously equivalent.

It would be straightforward to derive the following properties of the bilinear differential operators: (i) $D_x^n D_t^m f \cdot g = (-1)^{m+n} D_x^n D_t^m g \cdot f$ (from which $D_x^n D_t^m f \cdot f = 0$, when m + n is odd, is an immediate consequence); (ii) $D_x^n D_t^m f \cdot 1 = \partial_x^n \partial_t^m f$; (iii) Given that $\xi_1 = \omega_1 t + k_1 x + \varphi_1$ and $\xi_2 = \omega_2 t + k_2 x + \varphi_2$, where $\omega_1, \omega_2, k_1, k_2$ are constants, $D_x^n D_t^m e^{\xi_1} \cdot e^{\xi_2} = (\omega_1 - \omega_2)^m (k_1 - k_2)^n e^{\xi_1 + \xi_2}$ —in particular, $D_x^n D_t^m e^{\xi_1} \cdot e^{\xi_1} = 0$.

In order to apply this to the KdV equation, Hirota also introduced the transformation

$$u = 2\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} \ln f = 2(\ln f)_{xx} = \frac{2(f_{xx}f - f_x^2)}{f^2},$$
(1.32)

through which the KdV equation is converted into

$$u_t + 6uu_x + u_{xxx} = \left[\frac{(D_x^4 + D_x D_t)f \cdot f}{f^2}\right]_x,$$

where by definition of the bilinear differential operator,

$$(D_x^4 + D_x D_t)f \cdot f = 2(f_{xt}f - f_x f_t + f_{xxxx}f - 4f_{xxx}f_x + 3f_{xx}^2).$$
(1.33)

Therefore f solves the above bilinear version of Kdv equation $(D_x^4 + D_x D_t)f \cdot f = 0$ implies that $u = 2(\ln f)_{xx}$ will solve the original KdV equation (but not necessarily the converse). The bilinear property carried by (1.33) is indeed quite advantageous for constructing explicit exact solutions.

We shall work with this tool to compute multi-soliton solutions of the KdV equation. We suppose that f = f(x, t) can be expanded as a power series of ε , which is introduced here as a parameter:

$$f(x,t) = 1 + \varepsilon f^{(1)} + \varepsilon^2 f^{(2)} + \dots = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon^k f^{(k)},$$
(1.34)

By substituting this expansion of f into $(D_x^4 + D_x D_t) f \cdot f = 0$, and equating the coefficients of all powers of ε yields

$$f_{tx}^{(1)} + f_{xxxx}^{(1)} = 0, (1.35a)$$

$$2(f_{tx}^{(2)} + f_{xxxx}^{(2)}) = -(D_x D_t + D_x^4) f^{(1)} \cdot f^{(1)}, \qquad (1.35b)$$

$$f_{tx}^{(3)} + f_{xxxx}^{(3)} = -(D_x D_t + D_x^4) f^{(1)} \cdot f^{(2)}, \qquad (1.35c)$$

$$2(f_{tx}^{(4)} + f_{xxxx}^{(4)}) = -(D_x D_t + D_x^4)(2f^{(1)} \cdot f^{(3)} + f^{(2)} \cdot f^{(2)}),$$
(1.35d)

.

One can easily derive that a linear exponential function in the form of

$$f^{(1)} = \mathbf{e}^{\eta_1}, \quad \eta_1 = \omega_1 t + k_1 x + \phi_1, \quad \omega_1 = -k_1^3$$
 (1.36)

nontrivially solves (1.35a). By substituting now $f^{(1)}$ in (1.35b) by (1.36), one obtains from the properties of bilinear differential operators that

$$f_{tx}^{(2)} + f_{xxxx}^{(2)} = 0. (1.37)$$

If one takes at this point trivially that $f^{(2)} = 0$, it follows from (1.35c) that

$$f_{tx}^{(3)} + f_{xxxx}^{(3)} = 0. (1.38)$$

Again one can take $f^{(3)} = 0$. By always applying this logic trivially, it follows naturally that $f^{(4)} = f^{(5)} = \cdots = 0$. The power series is thus truncated to be finite, and when $\varepsilon = 1$ it gives

$$f(x,t) = 1 + e^{\eta_1} \quad \Rightarrow \quad u = 2(\ln f)_{xx} = \frac{k_1^2}{2} \operatorname{sech}^2 \frac{\omega_1 t + k_1 x + \phi_1}{2}.$$
 (1.39)

So far we obtain the simplest solution, one-soliton solution.

Since the equation (1.35a) is linear (i.e., principle of superposition is here applicable), one can naturally generalize the above one-soliton solution to a two-soliton solution by assuming

$$f^{(1)} = 1 + e^{\eta_1} + e^{\eta_2}, \tag{1.40}$$

where

$$\eta_1 = \omega_1 t + k_1 x + \phi_1, \quad \eta_1 = \omega_2 t + k_2 x + \varphi_2, \quad \omega_1 = -k_1^3, \quad \omega_2 = -k_2^3$$

By substituting (1.40) into (1.35b), one obtains (nontrivially, $\omega_1 k_2 - \omega_2 k_1 \neq 0$ is assumed)

$$f_{tx}^{(2)} + f_{xxxx}^{(2)} = 3k_1k_2(k_1 - k_2)^2 e^{\eta_1 + \eta_2}, \qquad (1.41)$$

from which one solves

$$f^{(2)} = C e^{\eta_1 + \eta_2}, \quad \text{with} \quad C = \left(\frac{k_1 - k_2}{k_1 + k_2}\right)^2.$$
 (1.42)

Now $f^{(1)}, f^{(2)}$ and (1.35c) together will imply

$$f_{tx}^{(3)} + f_{xxxx}^{(3)} = 0, (1.43)$$

for which we again can trivially take $f^{(3)} = 0$ (similar to what we did for the one-soliton solution). Likewise it follows then that $f^{(4)} = f^{(5)} = \cdots = 0$. Therefore by admitting $\varepsilon = 1$ we obtain that

$$f(x,t) = 1 + e^{\eta_1} + e^{\eta_2} + Ce^{\eta_1 + \eta_2} = 1 + e^{\eta_1} + e^{\eta_2} + e^{\eta_1 + \eta_2 + A_{12}},$$
(1.44)

where we have assumed $C = e^{A_{12}}$. Therefore the two-solitons' solution of the KdV equation reads

$$u = 2\left[\ln(1 + e^{\eta_1} + e^{\eta_2} + e^{\eta_1 + \eta_2 + A_{12}})\right]_{xx}.$$
(1.45)

Likewise one can compute the N-soliton solution with N > 2. Obviously the complexity of the involved computation as well as of the results increases with the growth of N. For example, the 3-soliton solution of the KdV equation is found to possess the general form

$$u = 2(\ln f)_{xx},$$

$$f = 1 + e^{\eta_1} + e^{\eta_2} + e^{\eta_3} + e^{\eta_1 + \eta_2 + A_{12}} + e^{\eta_1 + \eta_3 + A_{13}} + e^{\eta_2 + \eta_3 + A_{23}} + e^{\eta_1 + \eta_2 + \eta_3 + A_{12} + A_{13} + A_{23}},$$
(1.46)

where

$$\eta_j = \omega_j t + k_j x + \varphi_j, \quad e^{A_{jl}} = \left(\frac{k_j - k_l}{k_j + k_l}\right)^2, \quad \omega_j k_l - \omega_l k_j \neq 0, \quad 1 \le j < l \le 3.$$
(1.47)

Satsuma, Freeman and Nimmo ingeniously showed that the multi-soliton solutions to the KdV equation can be expressed in terms of the Wronskian determinant [19, 20]; Matveev then generalized the Wronskian determinant to verify the existence of another important class of exact solutions, the so-called positons, to the KdV equation [21, 22]. Ma and You also greatly enriched these work in 2005 [23].

1.3.4 Riemann-Hilbert problems

Riemann-Hilbert problems (RHP), named after the giant German mathematicians Bernhard Riemann and David Hilbert, are a class of models which can be used to solve certain differential equations with the assistance of complex analysis techniques such as analytical continuation. RHP can be presented in slightly different ways when treating different problems [24]. Here we introduce only the most typical representation that is widely used in integrable systems.

Let $\gamma \subset \mathbb{C}$ be an oriented contour in the complex λ -plane. The orientation defines traditionally the \mathbb{D}_+ and \mathbb{D}_- sides of γ as being on the left and right sides of the direction arrow, respectively. Let G be a map from γ into the set of $N \times N$ invertible matrices (with complex entries), which we shall denote by $GL_N(\mathbb{C})$. An RHP associated with the pair $(\gamma; G)$ consists in finding an $N \times N$ matrix-valued function $\Phi(\lambda)$ ($\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$) characterized by [26]:

- $\Phi(\lambda)$ is holomorphic in $\mathbb{C} \setminus \gamma$;
- $\Phi^+(\lambda) = \Phi^-(\lambda)G(\lambda)$ for all $\lambda \in \gamma$, where

$$\Phi^{+}(\lambda) = \lim_{\lambda' \to \lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbb{D}_{+}} \Phi(\lambda'), \quad \text{and} \quad \Phi^{-}(\lambda) = \lim_{\lambda' \to \lambda, \lambda' \in \mathbb{D}_{-}} \Phi(\lambda'); \tag{1.48}$$

 $G(\lambda)$ involved here is often called the **jump matrix** in this model; more generally, $\Phi^+(\lambda)$ and $\Phi^-(\lambda)$ can be defined as $\Phi(\lambda)$ restricted to $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}^+$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}^-$, respectively (hence $\Phi^+(\lambda)$ and $\Phi^-(\lambda)$ are holomorphic in \mathbb{D}^+ and \mathbb{D}^- , respectively);

• Both $\Phi^+(\lambda)$ and $\Phi^-(\lambda)$ approach the identity matrix as $\lambda \to \infty$ (canonical normalization condition).

To solve the simplest scalar case N = 1, one can rewrite the original multiplicative jump condition into an additive form with the help of the logarithmic function

$$\log \Phi_{+}(\lambda) = \log \Phi_{-}(\lambda) + \log G(\lambda), \tag{1.49}$$

which can always be solved by using the Cauchy-Plemelj-Sokhotskii formula [27, 28]

$$\log \Phi(\lambda) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} \frac{\log G(z)}{z - \lambda} dz.$$
(1.50)

RHPs with $N \ge 1$ can be solved also explicitly by (1.50), whenever the involved matrix multiplication for G is abelian, i.e., when $[G(\lambda_1), G(\lambda_2)] := G(\lambda_1)G(\lambda_2) - G(\lambda_2)G(\lambda_1) = 0$ for all $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \gamma$; that is

$$\Phi(\lambda) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma} \frac{\log G(z)}{z - \lambda} dz\right).$$
(1.51)

For a more general non-abelian matrix RHP, formula (1.50) or (1.51) unfortunately ceases to work–it is so far believed that in such cases the RHP cannot be solved in analytical form by means of contour integrals. However, reformulating the original problem into an RHP still makes much sense, since it can always be reduced to the study of a linear singular-integral equation. Indeed, nonabelian RHPs usually arise when the original problem is nonlinear, so the value of the Riemann-Hilbert reformulation lies in the fact that it linearizes a nonlinear system effectively.

The Riemann-Hilbert approach has acquired wide applications in integrable systems, orthogonal polynomials, random matrices, and asymptotic analysis. In particular for many integrable systems, the inverse spectral or inverse scattering problems associated particularly with the Cauchy problems for 1+1 dimensional (typically, space x and time t) PDEs, or the construction of soliton solutions for these systems, can be formulated as RHPs on the real line \mathbb{R} .

In many applications, the jump matrices $G(\lambda)$ in play often exhibit an oscillatory dependence on x (or t) as the latter approaches $\pm\infty$. The asymptotic estimate of the solution $\Phi(x, t; \lambda)$ of the RHP as $x, t \to \pm\infty$ will then involve evaluating the asymptotics of oscillatory contour integrals by using the classical method of steepest descent or stationary phase. Starting from the pioneering works in 1973 by Shabat, Manakov, Ablowitz and Newell [29, 30], the asymptotic analysis of integrable systems reached in around 20 years a new peak marked by the nonlinear steepest descent method for oscillatory RHPs, which was introduced in 1993 by Deift and Zhou [31].

In Chapter 4 we will use the Riemann-Hilbert approach to compute multi-soliton solutions of a generalized mKdV system, hence we'd like to postpone some further discussions till that chapter (with a targetoriented model, this more effectively helps the readers to see how a RHP works).

What have been so far elucidated or discussed above are based mainly on the KdV equation, since as an integrable system it is so perfect as well as simple enough for an introduction chapter. Certainly this does not mean the KdV equation is the only integrable system. Indeed, soliton-generating, possessing Hirota bilinear forms, infinitely many conservation laws or bi-Hamiltonian structures, as well as the mathematical tools preliminarily mentioned above, are (to more or less extents) the common characteristics of many other physically important systems in the frame of integrable systems; for example, the Ablowitz-Kaup-Newell-Segur equation [32], the Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equation [33] and the Davey-Stewartson equation [34], etc.

Today mathematicians are still working hard trying to find more such systems and study their behavior.

1.4 Mathematical framework

From now on we shall try to present the work in the language of mathematics. By this chance we set up also the major notations, concepts and definitions for all chapters in this dissertation.

Let *n* and *m* be positive integers. Let $t \in \mathbb{R}$, $x = (x^1, \ldots, x^n) \in X = \mathbb{R}^n$, and $\partial_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i}$. Let $u = (u^1, \ldots, u^m)^T \in U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$, where $u^i = u^i(x, t)$ $(1 \le i \le m)$ are functions of *x* and *t*. Let $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n)$ be a *n*-tuple multi-index that has $\alpha_i \ge 0$ for all $1 \le i \le n$. Define accordingly

$$u_{\alpha}^{i} = D^{\alpha} u^{i}, \qquad 1 \le i \le m, \quad \text{with} \quad D^{\alpha} = \partial_{1}^{\alpha_{1}} \dots \partial_{n}^{\alpha_{n}}.$$
 (1.52)

Let $M \subseteq X \times U$ be a connected open subset (can be sufficiently large for the description of the whole system). Assume that \mathcal{A} denotes the space of all smooth local functions $f(x, u^{(k)})$ ($k \ge 0$ is a finite integer), where $u^{(k)}$ stands for the k-th *prolongation* of u (w.r.t. to x), i.e. to be brief, the set of u and all its possible partial derivatives with respect to x up to order $k \ge 0$ evaluated at the point x (for example, if m = 1 and n = 2, then $u^{(2)} = (u; u_{x_1}, u_{x_2}; u_{x_1x_1}, u_{x_1x_2}, u_{x_2x_2})$). The locality here implies that the dependence of fon u, i.e. (f(u))(x), is completely determined by the values of u in an arbitrarily small neighborhood of x. In this dissertation, to make things concise as well as to remind the readers that $f(x, u^{(k)})$ is a function of x, u and the derivatives of u, very often we use also the abbreviated symbol $f[u] := f(x, u^{(k)})$.

1.4.1 Evolution equations

DEFINITION 1.4.1 A system of evolution equations is generally meant to be a system of PDEs of $u(x,t) = (u^1(x,t), \ldots, u^m(x,t))^T \in \mathbb{R}^m$ $(t \in \mathbb{R}, x \in \mathbb{R}^n)$ given specifically in the form

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = K[u] = K(x, u^{(k)}), \tag{1.53}$$

where $K(x, u^{(k)}) \in \mathcal{A}$ for some $k \ge 0$ (Note that K does not depend explicitly on t).

Certainly an evolution equation can also be an ODE. Even some second order equation, $u_{tt} = f(u)$ for instance, can be reformulated into a first order system by introducing an auxiliary variable v, such that the equivalent system

$$\begin{cases} u_t = v, \\ v_t = f(u) \end{cases}$$

can be viewed as evolutionary.

DEFINITION 1.4.2 A **Lax pair** consists of a spectral operator L and a Lax operator M that may depend on x, u and u_x, u_{xx}, \ldots , etc. (but not explicitly on t), such that the Lax's equation

$$L_t + [L, M] = 0,$$

where [L, M] = LM - ML is the commutator of L and M (being operators, obviously they could be non-commutative), represents a nonlinear system of evolution equations of u = u(x, t).

The Sturm-Liouville operator $L = \partial_x^2 + u$ and $M = -4\partial_x^3 - 6u\partial_x - 3u_x$ constitute the Lax pair of the KdV equation.

As a somewhat informal definition, a (matrix) **spectral problem** is usually meant in the domain of integrable systems to be a first-order differential eigenvalue problem in the form of

$$\phi_x = M(x, u^{(k)}, \lambda)\phi,$$

where M is a square matrix whose entries are functions of x, u and derivatives of u w.r.t. x (up to some order k), as well as of λ (λ serves as the spectral parameter).

Ablowitz, Kaup, Newell and Segur published in 1974 a matrix formalism for the Lax pair [25, 32]. They introduced a system that consists of a pair of matrix spectral problems with a potential function u and a spectral parameter λ :

$$\phi_x = U(t, x, u^{(k)}, \lambda)\phi, \qquad (1.54a)$$

$$\phi_t = V(t, x, u^{(k)}, \lambda)\phi, \tag{1.54b}$$

where ϕ is an *n*-dimensional vector, and *U* and *V* are $n \times n$ matrices. Through applying the isospectral $(\lambda_t = 0)$ compatibility condition $\phi_{xt} = \phi_{tx}$, one obtains $U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0$.

DEFINITION 1.4.3 The zero curvature equation $U_t - V_x + [U, V] = 0$, also known as the matrix's Lax equation, is given as the compatibility condition $\phi_{xt} = \phi_{tx}$ of the matrix spectral problems (1.54a) and (1.54b). It also represents a nonlinear system of evolution equations.

The matrices U, V are usually also called a Lax pair (of matrix form).

1.4.2 Variational calculus

DEFINITION 1.4.4 [38] Let $X = \mathbb{R}^n$. Let Ω be an open, connected subset of X with smooth boundary $\partial \Omega$. The goal of a **variational problem** is to address the extrema of a functional

$$\mathcal{L}[u] = \int_{\Omega} L(x, u^{(n)}) dx \tag{1.55}$$

for a certain class of functions u = u(x) (i.e., they commonly possess some specified properties) defined on Ω . The integrand $L(x, u^{(n)})$ in (1.55) is said to be the **Lagrangian** of the variational problem.

DEFINITION 1.4.5 [38] Let u = u(x), v = v(x) both be *m*-tuple smooth functions on Ω , and *v* has a compact support $K \subseteq \Omega$. Let $\mathcal{L}[u]$ be the functional of a variational problem. The **variational derivative** is meant to be the *m*-tuple function $\delta \mathcal{L}[u] = (\delta_1 \mathcal{L}[u], \dots, \delta_m \mathcal{L}[u])$, such that

$$\frac{d}{d\varepsilon}\Big|_{\varepsilon=0}\mathcal{L}[u+\varepsilon v] = \int_{\Omega} \delta\mathcal{L}[u(x)] \cdot v(x) dx = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \int_{\Omega} \delta_k \mathcal{L}[u] v^k(x) dx.$$
(1.56)

where $v = (v^1, \ldots, v^m)^T$. $\delta_k \mathcal{L}[u]$ is often written also as $\frac{\delta \mathcal{L}[u]}{\delta u^k}$ $(1 \le k \le m)$. (1.56) can be easily proved by using integration by parts and the fact that v has a compact support $K \subseteq \Omega$.

1.4.3 Conservation laws and symmetries

DEFINITION 1.4.6 Let $K, S \in \mathcal{A}^m$. The **Gateaux derivative** of K in the direction of S at the point u is defined by

$$K'[S] = K'(u)[S] = \frac{\partial}{\partial \epsilon} K(u + \epsilon S)|_{\epsilon=0}.$$
(1.57)

If the Gateaux derivative K'(u)[S] exists for every $S \in \mathcal{A}^m$, then one says K is Gateaux-differentiable at u.

DEFINITION 1.4.7 For a PDE

$$\triangle(x, t, u(x, t)) = 0, \tag{1.58}$$

where $t \in \mathbb{R}$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ are the spatial and temporal independent variables, respectively, u is the dependent variable, and \triangle is a smooth function of x, t, u and the partial derivatives of u with respect to x and t up to some order, a **conservation law** is meant to be an equation characterized as

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}T + \text{Div}X = 0, \tag{1.59}$$

(where Div stands for the spatial divergence) which holds for all u that solve (1.58); T = T(x, t, u) and X = X(x, t, u) are here functions of x, t and u, as well as the partial derivatives of u up to some order. Usually, T is said to be the **conserved density**, and X, the **conserved flow** [35].

The meaning of conservation law lies basically in the fact that if $u, X(x, t, u) \to 0$ sufficiently rapidly as $|x| \to \infty$, one derives in the case of one spatial dimension

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}Tdx = 0,$$
(1.60)

or in the case of n spatial dimensions

$$\frac{d}{dt}\int_{\Omega}Tdx = 0,$$
(1.61)

where $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$ is a domain in \mathbb{R}^n (it could be $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$), which implies that

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} T dx = \text{const}, \quad \text{or} \quad \int_{\Omega} T dx = \text{const}, \tag{1.62}$$

where the inetgral is therefore called a **conserved functional**. Hence a conserved functional yields a conservation law.

Below in this subsection we present the basic concepts related to symmetries according to the manner of [36].

DEFINITION 1.4.8 A function $S = S(x, u^{(k)}) \in \mathcal{A}^m$ is said to be a **symmetry** of the (1.53), provided S solves the linearized equation of (1.53), i.e.,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} (u + \varepsilon S)_t \bigg|_{\varepsilon = 0} = \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} K(u + \varepsilon S) \bigg|_{\varepsilon = 0} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{dS}{dt} = K'(u)[S], \tag{1.63}$$

where d/dt stands for the total derivative with respect to t, and K'(u)[S] is the Gateaux derivative defined above.

Obviously, the definition of symmetry can also be equivalently written as

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = \frac{\partial S}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial S}{\partial u}u_t = \frac{\partial S}{\partial t} + S'(u)[K] = K'(u)[S] \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{\partial S}{\partial t} = [K, S]. \tag{1.64}$$

where [K, S] := K'(u)[S] - S'(u)[K]. It is advantageous to use this commutator [K, S] $(K, S \in \mathcal{A}^m)$ in some cases, because \mathcal{A}^m is known to form a Lie algebra [38] with respect to this commutator.

Let $L(\mathcal{A}^m)$ be the set of linear operators that map \mathcal{A}^m into itself. Let \mathcal{U} be the set of differentiable operators $\Phi = \Phi(x, u)$ that map $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathcal{A}^m$ into $L(\mathcal{A}^m)$. Thus $\Phi K = \Phi(x, u)K$ for $\Phi \in \mathcal{U}$ and $K \in \mathcal{A}^m$ is meant to be the action of the operator Φ upon K.

DEFINITION 1.4.9 Let $\Phi \in \mathcal{U}$ and $K \in \mathcal{A}^m$. One defines the Lie derivative $L_K \Phi \in \mathcal{U}$ of Φ with respect to K as

$$(L_K \Phi)S = \Phi[K, S] - [K, \Phi S], \quad \forall S \in \mathcal{A}^m.$$
(1.65)

DEFINITION 1.4.10 An operator $\Phi \in \mathcal{U}$ is said to be a **hereditary symmetry**, if

$$\Phi^{2}[K,S] + [\Phi K,\Phi S] - \Phi[K,\Phi S] - \Phi[\Phi K,S] = 0, \quad \forall K,S \in \mathcal{A}^{m}.$$
(1.66)

Evidently, an operator $\Phi \in \mathcal{U}$ is a hereditary symmetry if and only if

$$L_{\Phi K}\Phi = \Phi L_K\Phi, \quad \forall K \in \mathcal{A}^m.$$
(1.67)

Proof. Since $\forall S \in \mathcal{A}^m$, $(L_{\Phi K} \Phi) S = (\Phi L_K \Phi) S \Rightarrow \Phi[\Phi K, S] - [\Phi K, \Phi S] = \Phi(\Phi[K, S] - [K, \Phi S])$, which is simply a rewriting of (1.66).

DEFINITION 1.4.11 If the action of an operator $\Phi \in \mathcal{U}$ upon one symmetry of (1.53) gives another symmetry of (1.53), then Φ is said to be a **strong symmetry** (or a recursion operator) of (1.53).

It is also easy to verify that an operator $\Phi \in U$ is a recursion operator of (1.53), if and only if

$$\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial t} + L_K \Phi = 0. \tag{1.68}$$

Moreover, one can also define

$$\Phi'[K]S = \frac{\partial}{\partial \varepsilon} \Phi(u + \varepsilon K)S\big|_{\varepsilon=0}, \quad \forall S \in \mathcal{A}^m,$$
(1.69)

based on which one can derive

$$L_K \Phi = \Phi'[K] - [K', \Phi] = \Phi'[K] - K' \Phi + \Phi K'.$$
(1.70)

The condition for Φ to be a hereditary symmetry, eqn. (1.66), can thus also be equivalently formulated as

$$\Phi'[\Phi K]S - \Phi'[\Phi S]K - \Phi(\Phi'[K]S - \Phi'[S]K) = 0, \quad \forall K, S \in \mathcal{A}^m.$$
(1.71)

1.4.4 Hamiltonian structures

DEFINITION 1.4.12 Suppose $P, Q \in A$. Define P to be **equivalent to** Q, denoted by $P \sim Q$, if there exists $R = (R_1, \ldots, R_n) \in A^n$, such that $Q - P = \operatorname{div} R = \sum_{k=1}^n \partial_k R_k$. Obviously \sim defines an **equivalence** relation on A. Denote $\tilde{P} = \int P dx$ as the equivalence class that $P \in A$ belongs to. One then defines the quotient space of A with respect to \sim , and denote it by \mathcal{F} , i.e. $\mathcal{F} := A/\sim$.

In particular, provided that the functions in \mathcal{A} that we are interested in are also all from the Schwartz space \mathcal{S} [37], and P is a conserved density, i.e., $\int Pdx$ is a conserved functional, then if $Q \sim P$, it follows directly that $\int (P-Q)dx = \int \operatorname{div} Rdx = 0$ (since $R \in \mathcal{S}^n$); that is, Q is also a conserved density, and $\int Qdx (= \int Pdx)$ is a conserved functional as well since it possesses the same constant of motion as $\int Pdx$ does. Thus we can define also the inner product

$$(P,Q) = \int P^T Q dx = \int \sum_{i=1}^r P_i Q_i dx,$$

for $P = (P_1, ..., P_r)^T$, $Q = (Q_1, ..., Q_r)^T \in \mathcal{A}^r$.

DEFINITION 1.4.13 [38] Let $\mathcal{J} : \mathcal{A}^m \to \mathcal{A}^m$ be a linear operator. Let $P, Q \in \mathcal{F}$. The **Poisson bracket** of P and Q with respect to \mathcal{J} is defined formally as

$$\{P,Q\}_{\mathcal{J}} = \int \delta P \cdot \mathcal{J} \delta Q dx.$$
(1.72)

The Poisson bracket defined above is indeed the infinite-dimensional generalization of the Poisson bracket applied in *N*-dimensional classical Hamiltonioan mechanics [38]:

$$\{f,g\} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial q_k} \frac{\partial g}{\partial p_k} - \frac{\partial f}{\partial p_k} \frac{\partial g}{\partial q_k} \right).$$
(1.73)

for two given functions $f(q_1, \ldots, q_N; p_1, \ldots, p_N; t)$ and $g(q_1, \ldots, q_N; p_1, \ldots, p_N; t)$. Obviously in both cases, the Poisson bracket is a binary operation; and its particular importance lies in the fact that mathematically, the time evolution of a Hamiltonian dynamical system is intimately related to the Poisson bracket.

DEFINITION 1.4.14 The **adjoint** \mathcal{D}^* of a linear operator $\mathcal{D}: \mathcal{A}^m \to \mathcal{A}^m$ is given by

$$\int P \cdot \mathcal{D}Qdx = \int (\mathcal{D}^*P) \cdot Qdx, \quad \forall P, Q \in \mathcal{A}^m.$$
(1.74)

DEFINITION 1.4.15 [38] Let $\mathcal{J} : \mathcal{A}^m \to \mathcal{A}^m$ be a linear operator. If for all $\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{R} \in \mathcal{F}$, the Poisson bracket with respect to \mathcal{J} satisfies always both

(i) the condition of skew-symmetry, i.e.,

$$\{\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}\}_{\mathcal{J}} = -\{\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{P}\}_{\mathcal{J}}; \tag{1.75}$$

and (ii) the Jacobi identity, i.e.,

$$\{\{\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}\}_{\mathcal{J}}, \mathcal{R}\}_{\mathcal{J}} + \{\{\mathcal{R}, \mathcal{P}\}_{\mathcal{J}}, \mathcal{Q}\}_{\mathcal{J}} + \{\{\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{R}\}_{\mathcal{J}}, \mathcal{P}\}_{\mathcal{J}} = \{\{\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}\}_{\mathcal{J}}, \mathcal{R}\}_{\mathcal{J}} + \text{cycle}(\mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{R}) = 0, (1.76)$$

then \mathcal{J} is said to be **Hamiltonian**.

It follows immediately from the above definitions that a Hamiltonian operator \mathcal{J} must be skew-adjoint, i.e., $\mathcal{J}^* = -J$. Moreover, it is easy to derive that a skew-adjoint operator \mathcal{J} is Hamiltonian if and only if for all $P, Q, R \in \mathcal{A}^m$,

$$\int P^T \mathcal{J}'(u)[\mathcal{J}Q]Rdx + \operatorname{cycle}(P,Q,R) = 0, \qquad (1.77)$$

where '(u)[.] denotes the Gateaux derivative defined above.

DEFINITION 1.4.16 A system of evolution equations is said to be **Hamiltonian**, provided it can be formulated in the form of

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = K[u] = \mathcal{J} \cdot \delta \mathcal{H}, \qquad (1.78)$$

where \mathcal{J} is a Hamiltonian operator and \mathcal{H} is a Hamiltonian functional, i.e., $\mathcal{H} = \int H dx \in \mathcal{F}$.

DEFINITION 1.4.17 [44] Let G be a differential function. Define its **one-form** to be

$$dG := \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{\partial G}{\partial x^{k}} dx^{k} + \frac{\partial G}{\partial t} dt + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{m} \sum_{\#I \ge 0} \frac{\partial G}{\partial u_{I}^{\alpha}} du_{I}^{\alpha}, \qquad (1.79)$$

where $u_I^{\alpha} = u^{\alpha}$ in case #I = 0 (i.e., cardinality of I is 0); if the cardinality $\#I = l \ge 1$, it is understood that $u_I^{\alpha} = \frac{\partial^l u^{\alpha}}{\partial x^{i_1} \dots \partial x^{i_l}}$ for $I = (i_1, \dots, i_l), 1 \le i_k \le m, 1 \le k \le l$.

Let J_{∞} be the so-called **infinite jet space**, which is the conceptual extension of $(x, u^{(k)})$ by admitting $k \to \infty$ in the k-th prolongation $u^{(k)}$.

DEFINITION 1.4.18 [44] Let K be a set consisting of integer elements and m > 0 be an integer. We define a set of m-tuples of differential functions

$$\{G_k = (G_k^1, \dots, G_k^m)^T | k \in K\}$$

to be independent, if all the *m*-tuples of one forms

$$\{dG_k = (dG_k^1, \dots, dG_k^m)^T | k \in K\},\$$

are linearly independent everywhere in the infinite jet space J_{∞} . A class of conserved functionals $\{\mathcal{H}_k\}_{k \in K}$ of a Hamiltonian system (1.78) is called independent, if all the characteristics $\{\mathcal{J}\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_k}{\delta u}\}_{k \in K}$ of the Hamiltonian vector fields associated with \mathcal{J} are independent.

Based on Definitions 1.4.17 and 1.4.18, one can now come up with:

DEFINITION 1.4.19 [38, 44] One claims that a Hamiltonian system (1.78) is **Liouville integrable**, if there is a sequence of conserved functionals $\{\mathcal{H}_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ that are in involution pairwise, i.e., the Poisson bracket of any pair of conserved functionals from $\{\mathcal{H}_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ associated with the Hamiltonian operator \mathcal{J} is identical to 0:

$$\{\mathcal{H}_{k_1}, \mathcal{H}_{k_2}\}_{\mathcal{J}} = \int \left(\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{k_1}}{\delta u}\right)^T \mathcal{J} \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{k_2}}{\delta u} = 0, \quad k_1, k_2 \ge 0;$$
(1.80)

and the characteristics of the Hamiltonian vector fields associated with ${\cal J}$

$$K_k := \mathcal{J}\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_k}{\delta u}, \quad k \ge 0, \tag{1.81}$$

are independent.

DEFINITION 1.4.20 [38] A pair of $m \times m$ matrix differential operators \mathcal{J} and \mathcal{M} is said to construct a **Hamiltonian pair** if $c_1\mathcal{J} + c_2\mathcal{M}$ is always a Hamiltonian for all $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$.

If a system of evolution equations can be formulated as

$$u_t = K[u] = \mathcal{J}\delta\mathcal{H}_1 = \mathcal{M}\delta\mathcal{H}_0, \tag{1.82}$$

where \mathcal{J}, \mathcal{M} forms a Hamiltonian pair, and both \mathcal{H}_1 and \mathcal{H}_0 are proper Hamiltonian functionals, then (1.82) is said to be a **bi-Hamiltonian system**.

F. Magri had first introduced the concepts of bi-Hamiltonian structures and systems [86], major conclusions about bi-Hamiltonian systems can be briefly summarized in the following theorem [38, 86]:

THEOREM 1.4.1 [38] Let \mathcal{J} and \mathcal{M} be a Hamiltonian pair, and \mathcal{J} is non-degenerate (i.e., if \mathcal{J} is $\mathcal{A}^r \to \mathcal{A}^s$, and \mathcal{D} is $\mathcal{A}^s \to \mathcal{A}$, then $\mathcal{D} \cdot \mathcal{J} = 0$ always implies $\mathcal{D} = 0$; the non-degeneracy guarantees the existence of \mathcal{J}^{-1}). Let

$$u_t = K_1[u] = \mathcal{J}\delta\mathcal{H}_1 = \mathcal{M}\delta\mathcal{H}_2 \tag{1.83}$$

be the corresponding bi-Hamiltonian system of evolution equations, which generates the corresponding recursion operator $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{M} \cdot \mathcal{J}^{-1}$. Let $K_0 = \mathcal{J}\delta\mathcal{H}_0$. With the aid of \mathcal{R} we can recursively generate the sequence

$$K_n = \mathcal{R}K_{n-1}, \quad n \ge 1, \tag{1.84}$$

where K_{n-1} lies in the image of \mathcal{R} for every $n \ge 1$ is assumed. Then there exists accordingly a sequence of functionals $\{\mathcal{H}_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$, such that

(i) the sequence

$$u_{t_n} = K_n[u] = \mathcal{J}\delta\mathcal{H}_n = \mathcal{M}\delta\mathcal{H}_{n-1} \tag{1.85}$$

 $(n \ge 1)$ engenders a hierarchy of bi-Hamiltonian systems of evolution equations;

(ii) the corresponding evolutionary vector fields $\mathbf{v}_n = \mathbf{v}_{K_n}$ are all pairwise commutative, i.e.,

$$[\mathbf{v}_m, \mathbf{v}_n] = 0, \quad m, n \ge 0; \tag{1.86}$$

(iii) the Hamiltonian functionals in the sequence $\{\mathcal{H}_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ are all pairwise in involution w.r.t. the Poisson brackets associated with both \mathcal{J} and \mathcal{M} :

$$\{\mathcal{H}_m, \mathcal{H}_n\}_{\mathcal{J}} = \{\mathcal{H}_m, \mathcal{H}_n\}_{\mathcal{M}} = 0, \quad m, n \ge 0.$$
(1.87)

The sequence of Hamiltonian functionals $\{\mathcal{H}_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ thus provides an infinite collection of conservation laws for each bi-Hamiltonian system $u_{t_k} = K_k (k \ge 1)$.

Chapter 2

Integrable Hamiltonian hierarchies with three potentials based on matrix spectral problems associated with $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ and $so(3, \mathbb{R})$

2.1 Matrix spectral problems

A pretty matured and powerful mathematical tool for generating integrable soliton hierarchies is to start from a well-selected matrix spectral problem, construct the corresponding zero curvature formulation and solve it. The Korteweg-de Vries hierarchy [9], the Ablowitz-Kaup-Newell-Segur hierarchy [32], the Kaup-Newell hierarchy [50], the Dirac hierarchy [49] and the Heisenberg hierarchy [51], etc., are known as celebrated examples of soliton hierarchies that are generated by using this technique. This technique is also equipped with a well-developed Analysis toolkit for Hamiltonian structures in terms of the trace identity[52, 74], or in more general sense the variational identity[47, 48], through which it has been shown that all the above-mentioned soliton hierarchies are characterized by Hamiltonian or bi-Hamiltonian (or even multiple-Hamiltonian) structures, and are Liouville integrable[14, 39, 40].

We recall that in Chapter 1, a matrix spectral problem is informally defined as a first-order differential eigenvalue problem in the form of

$$\varphi_x = M(x, u^{(k)}, \lambda)\varphi,$$

where M is a square matrix whose entries are functions of x, u and derivatives of u w.r.t. x (up to a certain order k), as well as of a spectral parameter λ that is also the eigenvalue of this problem.

In the frame of integrable systems, the major purpose of solving matrix spectral problems is to find the key element—Lax pair which has been mentioned in Chapter 1. To put it more exactly, once given an appropriate spectral matrix $U(u, \lambda)$, in order to engender a soliton hierarchy, one has to correspondingly find a sequence of Lax matrices $\{V^{[k]}(u, \lambda)\}$, each of which together with U, constitute a Lax pair $(U, V^{[k]})$ that satisfies the zero curvature equation

$$U_{t_k} - V_x^{[k]} + [U, V^{[k]}] = 0.$$

This sequence of zero curvature equations represents in turn a sequence of nonlinear evolutationary equations, which, by running through some subsequent analysis (e.g. computing Hamiltonian structures), very often can finally be demonstrated to be Liouville integrable or possess bi- or multi-Hamiltonian structures.

First of all, we shall review briefly the procedures for constructing soliton hierarchies by means of zero curvature equations [52, 74]. To begin with, we select an appropriate matrix loop algebra \tilde{g} associated usually with a semisimple matrix Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , with [P,Q] = PQ - QP ($\forall P, Q \in \mathfrak{g}$) being the commutator, and consider a spatial matrix spectral problem based on $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$:

$$\varphi_x = U\varphi, \quad U = U(u,\lambda) \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}},$$
(2.1)

where λ is the spectral parameter, and U represents a matrix whose entries involve the potential functions of x and t. Our goal is to look for a solution expressed in terms of a Laurent expansion in λ

$$W = W(u, \lambda) = \sum_{k \ge 0} W_{0,k} \lambda^{-k}, \quad W_{0,k} \in \mathfrak{g}, \quad i \ge 0,$$
(2.2)

to the stationary zero curvature equation (i.e., by assuming $U_t = 0$ in the zero curvature equation)

$$W_x = [U, W]. \tag{2.3}$$

The solution W is important not only in computing the soliton hierarchy, but also plays key roles in the subsequent Hamiltonian analysis by means of trace or variational identity. As long as W is determined, we shall attempt to construct a sequence of matrix spectral problems with respect to t, that is, we formulate for all $m \ge 0$ the Lax matrices

$$V^{[m]} = V^{[m]}(u,\lambda) = (\lambda^m W)_+ + \delta_m \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}},$$
(2.4)

with $(\lambda^m W)_+$ denoting the polynomial part of $\lambda^m W$ in λ , to construct

$$\varphi_{t_m} = V^{[m]} \varphi = V^{[m]}(u, \lambda) \varphi, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(2.5)

in terms of the Lax matrices

$$V^{[m]} = V^{[m]}(u,\lambda) = (\lambda^m W)_+ + \delta_m \in \tilde{\mathfrak{g}}, \quad m \ge 0.$$

$$(2.6)$$

The δ_m introduced above represents a modification term which is used to correct the Lax matrices in case of necessity, to make sure that the zero curvature equations (i.e., the compatibility conditions of (2.1) and (2.5))

$$U_{t_m} - V_x^{[m]} + [U, V^{[m]}] = 0, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(2.7)

will generate a soliton hierarchy

$$u_{t_m} = K_m(u), \quad m \ge 0.$$
 (2.8)

Such a soliton hierarchy, in general, is characterized by the following Hamiltonian structures

$$u_{t_m} = K_m(u) = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_m}{\delta u}, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(2.9)

where J is a Hamiltonian operator, and $\{\mathcal{H}_m\}_{m=0}^{\infty}$ is a sequence of Hamiltonian functionals that can in principle be determined using the trace identity [52, 74] if the associated matrix Lie algebras are semi-simple:

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda}\right) dx = \lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial u}\right), \quad \gamma = -\frac{\lambda}{2} \frac{d}{d\lambda} \ln|\operatorname{tr}(W^2)|, \quad (2.10)$$

or through the variational identity [47, 48] provided the involved matrix Lie algebras are non-semi-simple:

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int \langle \frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda}, W \rangle dx = \lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} \langle \frac{\partial U}{\partial u}, W \rangle, \quad \gamma = -\frac{\lambda}{2} \frac{d}{d\lambda} \ln|\langle W, W \rangle|.$$
(2.11)

Here, $\langle ., . \rangle$ is an ad-invariant, nondegenerate and symmetric bilinear form defined on the underlying matrix loop algebra $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$. The Hamiltonian structures of the whole hierarchy are regarded as well established, as long as J and $\{\mathcal{H}_m\}_{m=0}^{\infty}$ can be worked out in a recursive manner. In most cases, the recursion structure revealed by such an analysis will lead to Liouville integrability, rather often to bi-Hamiltonian structures as well (could be even multi-Hamiltonian structures).

When restricted to the real field, there are only two 3-dimensional Lie algebras, i.e., the real special linear Lie algebra $sl(2,\mathbb{R})$ and the real special orthogonal Lie algebra $so(3,\mathbb{R})$. They have derived Lie algebras exactly identical to themselves (hence are also three-dimensional). In particular, $so(3,\mathbb{R})$ offers us a different basis as well as a new starting point for constructing soliton hierarchies, and such works were therefore frequently reported in recent years [41, 42, 43, 45, 46]. This Lie algebra consists simply of all 3×3 antisymmetric real matrices, and is realized by simply using the following 3×3 matrices as the basis:

$$e_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad e_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad e_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.12)

This basis has a set of beautiful cyclic commutators (so many people start liking to use this Lie algebra):

$$[e_1, e_2] = e_3, \quad [e_2, e_3] = e_1, \quad [e_3, e_1] = e_2.$$
 (2.13)

In addition, the basis of $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ is (i.e. $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ Lie algebra consists of all 2×2 real matrices with a vanishing trace)

$$e_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad e_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad e_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (2.14)$$

with pairwise commutators being

$$[e_1, e_2] = 2e_2, \quad [e_1, e_3] = -2e_3, \quad [e_2, e_3] = e_1.$$
 (2.15)

The Lie algebra $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ and $so(3, \mathbb{R})$, when extended to be on the complex field \mathbb{C} , become $sl(2, \mathbb{C})$ and $so(3, \mathbb{C})$, respectively. The latter two can be proved to be isomorphic to one another, and are therefore the same Lie algebra. However, when restricted to the real field \mathbb{R} , $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ and $so(3, \mathbb{R})$ are still pretty different things.

It has already been many years since $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ was applied to construction of soliton hierarchies by starting from matrix spectral problems [9, 32, 49, 50, 51, 52].

We introduce now the corresponding matrix loop algebras of $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ and $so(3, \mathbb{R})$ as below, which will be called frequently in this chapter, i.e.:

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{sl}}(2,\mathbb{R}) = \left\{ \sum_{k\geq 0} L_k \lambda^{n-k} | L_k \in \mathrm{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}), k \geq 0, n \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}$$
(2.16)

and

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{so}}(3,\mathbb{R}) = \left\{ \sum_{k\geq 0} L_k \lambda^{n-k} | L_k \in \operatorname{so}(3,\mathbb{R}), k \geq 0, n \in \mathbb{Z} \right\},\tag{2.17}$$

It is obvious that these two matrix loop algebras contain the following linear combinations:

$$c_1 \lambda^{k_1} e_1 + c_2 \lambda^{k_2} e_2 + c_3 \lambda^{k_3} e_3, \tag{2.18}$$

where $k_1, k_2, k_3 \in \mathbb{Z}$, and c_1, c_2, c_3 are real constants, and e_1, e_2, e_3 can be chosen as either (2.12) or (2.14).

We shall organize this chapter in the following way: in Section 2.2, somewhat enlightened by the Dirac hierarchy, we shall introduce a new matrix spectral problem associated with $\widetilde{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$, and proceed with computing the corresponding soliton hierarchy by means of the zero curvature equation; in Section 2.3, then, computations are performed for a formally identical matrix spectral problem whose loop algebra is but substituted by $\widetilde{so}(3,\mathbb{R})$. Hamiltonian structures are computed by using the trace identity in these two sections to indicate that the two engendered soliton hierarchies are both Liouville integrable. Finally we make a few concluding remarks in Section 2.4.

2.2 A new soliton hierarchy based on the $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ Lie algebra

2.2.1 From spectral problem to soliton hierarchy

In this subsection we shall begin with a matrix spectral problem based on the $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ Lie algebra. That is, we bring forth a 2 × 2 matrix spectral problem

$$\varphi_x = U\varphi = U(u,\lambda)\varphi$$
, where $u = (p,q,r)^T$ and $\varphi = (\varphi_1,\varphi_2)^T$, (2.19)

for which the spectral matrix $U\in\widetilde{\mathfrak{sl}}(2,\mathbb{R})$ reads

$$U = U(u,\lambda) = pe_1 + (q+\lambda)e_2 + (r+\lambda)e_3 = \begin{bmatrix} p & q+\lambda \\ r+\lambda & -p \end{bmatrix},$$
 (2.20)

with the basis $(e_1, e_2 \text{ and } e_3)$ being given by (2.14). The mathematical profile U looks similar to the matrix spectral problem

$$U = U(u,\lambda) = pe_1 + (q+\lambda)e_2 + (q-\lambda)e_3 = \begin{bmatrix} p & q+\lambda \\ q-\lambda & -p \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.21)

of the Dirac hierarchy [49], of which a generalization for $so(3, \mathbb{R})$ has been reported [43]. There are yet two fundamental distinctions between (2.20) and (2.21). Firstly, in (2.20) we get same signs "+" leading λ , but in (2.21) these signs are different; Secondly, in (2.20) there are 3 dependent variables p, q and r, however (2.21) has merely 2 variables p and q.

We shall follow the procedures given in Section 2.1 by beginning with solving the stationary zero curvature equation

$$W_x - [U, W] = 0, \quad W \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{sl}}(2, \mathbb{R}).$$
(2.22)

We assume that W has the form

$$W = ae_1 + (b+c)e_2 + (b-c)e_3 = \begin{bmatrix} a & b+c \\ b-c & -a \end{bmatrix},$$
(2.23)

and so the stationary zero curvature equation (2.22) gives

$$\begin{cases} a_x = -2\lambda c - (r-q)b - (r+q)c, \\ b_x = (r-q)a + 2pc, \\ c_x = -2a\lambda + 2pb - a(r+q). \end{cases}$$
(2.24)

Next we assume that a, b and c can be expressed in terms of Laurent expansions

$$a = \sum_{i \ge 0} a_i \lambda^{-i}, \quad b = \sum_{i \ge 0} b_i \lambda^{-i}, \quad c = \sum_{i \ge 0} c_i \lambda^{-i}, \tag{2.25}$$

and apply the initial values

$$a_0 = c_0 = 0, \quad b_0 = 1, \tag{2.26}$$

through a comparison of the coefficients of all powers of λ in (2.24), we arrive at:

$$\begin{cases} a_{i+1} = -\frac{1}{2}c_{i,x} + pb_i - \frac{1}{2}(r+q)a_i, \\ c_{i+1} = -\frac{1}{2}a_{i,x} - \frac{1}{2}(r-q)b_i - \frac{1}{2}(r+q)c_i, \quad i \ge 0. \\ b_{i+1,x} = (r-q)a_{i+1} + 2pc_{i+1}, \end{cases}$$

$$(2.27)$$

We impose the following condition while proceeding with the above recursive calculation:

$$a_i|_{u=0} = b_i|_{u=0} = c_i|_{u=0} = 0, \quad i \ge 1,$$
(2.28)

such that the whole sequence of functions $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$ can be uniquely determined. By running (2.27), we list here the three members that are leading this sequence as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} a_1 &= p, \quad b_1 = 0, \quad c_1 = -\frac{1}{2}(r-q); \\ a_2 &= \frac{1}{4}(r_x - q_x) - \frac{1}{2}p(r+q), \quad b_2 = \frac{1}{8}(r-q)^2 - \frac{1}{2}p^2, \quad c_2 = -\frac{1}{2}p_x + \frac{1}{4}(r^2 - q^2); \\ a_3 &= \frac{1}{4}p_{xx} + \frac{1}{8}p(3r^2 + 3q^2 + 2rq) - \frac{1}{2}p^3 - \frac{3}{8}(rr_x - qq_x) + \frac{1}{8}(rq_x - qr_x), \\ b_3 &= \frac{1}{2}p^2(r+q) - \frac{1}{4}p(r_x - q_x) + \frac{1}{4}p_x(r-q) - \frac{1}{8}(r+q)(r-q)^2, \\ c_3 &= -\frac{1}{8}(r_{xx} - q_{xx}) + \frac{1}{4}p(r_x + q_x) + \frac{1}{2}p_x(r+q) + \frac{1}{4}p^2(r-q) \\ &- \frac{1}{16}(r-q)(3r^2 + 3q^2 + 2rq). \end{aligned}$$

These data indicate that $\{a_1, b_1, c_1; a_2, b_2, c_2; a_3, b_3, c_3\}$ are all local (since they are all differential polynomials whose values at a specified point x_0 are completely determined by $u = (p, q)^T$ and its derivatives with respect to x in an arbitrarily small neighborhood of x_0), and may naturally suggest that the entire sequence of $\{a_i, c_i, b_i\}_{i=1}^{\infty}$ could be all local. This is actually the truth that can be justified by applying the method of mathematical induction as follows: First by following (2.22), and observing that both U and W are from $\tilde{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$, we get (recalling that trace has the remarkable properties of tr(X + Y) = trX + trY, and tr(XY) = tr(YX))

$$[\operatorname{tr}(W^2)]_x = \operatorname{tr}[(W^2)_x] = \operatorname{tr}(WW_x + W_xW)$$
$$= 2\operatorname{tr}(WW_x) = 2\operatorname{tr}(W[U,W]) \equiv 0$$

Hence $tr(W^2)$ must be a constant. Noticing also that $tr(W^2) = 2(a^2 + b^2 - c^2)$, and recalling (2.26), it follows

$$a^{2} + b^{2} - c^{2} \equiv (a^{2} + b^{2} - c^{2})|_{u=0} = 1.$$
 (2.29)
Then we substitute a, b, c by their Laurent expressions, apply again the initial values (2.26), and through setting the coefficients of λ^{-i} in (2.29) to 0, we arrive at

$$b_i = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{m+n=i,m,n \ge 1} (a_m a_n + b_m b_n - c_m c_n), \quad i \ge 1.$$
(2.30)

By keeping (2.30) in mind and recalling the first two recursion relations in (2.27), and directly applying the mathematical induction, it follows that for all $i \ge 1$, a_i , b_i , c_i appear in the face of differential polynomials of u, and thus, they must be all local. The mathematical induction indicates also that the differential order of a_i reads i - 1, the differential order of b_i reads i - 2, and the differential order of c_i reads i - 1 ($i \ge 2$).

With the knowledge of $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$ in hand, let $(\lambda^m W)_+$ denote the polynomial part of $\lambda^m W$ in λ , we thus arrive at

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dx}(\lambda^{m}W)_{+} &- [U,(\lambda^{m}W)_{+}] \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{m} [a_{k,x}e_{1} + (b_{k,x} + c_{k,x})e_{2} + (b_{k,x} - c_{k,x})e_{3}]\lambda^{m-k} \\ &- \left[pe_{1} + (\lambda + q)e_{2} + (\lambda + r)e_{3}, \sum_{k=0}^{m} (a_{k}e_{1} + (b_{k} + c_{k})e_{2} + (b_{k} - c_{k})e_{3})\lambda^{m-k} \right] \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{m} [a_{k,x}e_{1} + (b_{k,x} + c_{k,x})e_{2} + (b_{k,x} - c_{k,x})e_{3}]\lambda^{m-k} \\ &- \sum_{k=0}^{m} 2p(b_{k} + c_{k})\lambda^{m-k}e_{2} + \sum_{k=0}^{m} 2p(b_{k} - c_{k})\lambda^{m-k}e_{3} + \sum_{k=0}^{m} 2(\lambda + q)a_{k}\lambda^{m-k}e_{2} \\ &- \sum_{k=0}^{m} (\lambda + q)(b_{k} - c_{k})\lambda^{m-k}e_{1} - \sum_{k=0}^{m} 2(\lambda + r)a_{k}\lambda^{m-k}e_{3} + \sum_{k=0}^{m} (\lambda + r)(b_{k} + c_{k})\lambda^{m-k}e_{1} \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{m} (a_{k,x} + 2\lambda c_{k} - (q - r)b_{k} + (q + r)c_{k})\lambda^{m-k}e_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{k=0}^{m} (b_{k,x} - c_{k,x} - 2\lambda a_{k} - 2ra_{k} + 2pb_{k} - 2pc_{k})\lambda^{m-k}e_{3} \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{m} (a_{k,x} + 2c_{k+1} - (q - r)b_{k} + (q + r)c_{k})\lambda^{m-k}e_{1} - 2c_{m+1}e_{1} + 2c_{0}\lambda^{m+1}e_{1} \\ &+ \sum_{k=0}^{m} (b_{k,x} - c_{k,x} - 2a_{k+1} + 2qa_{k} - 2pb_{k} - 2pc_{k})\lambda^{m-k}e_{2} - 2a_{m+1}e_{2} + 2a_{0}\lambda^{m+1}e_{2} \\ &+ \sum_{k=0}^{m} (b_{k,x} - c_{k,x} - 2a_{k+1} - 2ra_{k} + 2pb_{k} - 2pc_{k})\lambda^{m-k}e_{3} - 2a_{m+1}e_{3} + 2a_{0}\lambda^{m+1}e_{3} \end{split}$$

$$= -2c_{m+1}e_1 - 2a_{m+1}e_2 + 2a_{m+1}e_3$$

=
$$\begin{bmatrix} -2c_{m+1} & -2a_{m+1} \\ 2a_{m+1} & 2c_{m+1} \end{bmatrix}, \quad m \ge 0,$$
 (2.31)

where

$$a_{k,x} + 2c_{k+1} - (q-r)b_k + (q+r)c_k = 0,$$

$$b_{k,x} + c_{k,x} + 2a_{k+1} + 2qa_k - 2pb_k - 2pc_k = 0,$$

$$b_{k,x} - c_{k,x} - 2a_{k+1} - 2ra_k + 2pb_k - 2pc_k = 0,$$

for all $k \ge 0$, which can be concluded from (2.27), are applied in the last several steps of derivation. This computation also convinces us why the initial data (2.26) were chosen this way.

This expression, $-2c_{m+1}e_1 - 2a_{m+1}e_2 + 2a_{m+1}e_3$, does not generally agree with $U_{t_m} = p_{t_m}e_1 + q_{t_m}e_2 + r_{t_m}e_3$, hence one must amend modification terms to fix the imbalance. We observe that

$$[U, e_2] = -(r+\lambda)e_1 + 2pe_2, \qquad [U, e_3] = (q+\lambda)e_1 - 2pe_3,$$

we thus employ a sequence of Lax operators that are amended by modification terms

$$V^{[m]} = (\lambda^m W)_+ + \delta_m, \quad \text{with} \quad \delta_m = \beta b_{m+1} e_3 + \beta b_{m+1} e_2, \quad m \ge 0,$$

with β being an arbitrary constant. To this stage we obtain

$$V_x^{[m]} - [U, V^{[m]}] = \begin{bmatrix} -2c_{m+1} + \beta(r-q)b_{m+1} & -2a_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x} - 2\beta p b_{m+1} \\ 2a_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x} + 2\beta p b_{m+1} & 2c_{m+1} - \beta(r-q)b_{m+1} \end{bmatrix},$$

and then, the associated zero curvature equations

$$U_{t_m} - V_x^{[m]} + [U, V^{[m]}] = 0, \quad m \ge 0,$$

will generate a soliton hierarchy

$$u_{t_m} = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ r \end{bmatrix}_{t_m} = K_m = \begin{bmatrix} -2c_{m+1} - \beta(q-r)b_{m+1} \\ -2a_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x} - 2\beta pb_{m+1} \\ 2a_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x} + 2\beta pb_{m+1} \end{bmatrix}, \quad m \ge 0.$$
(2.32)

Since the sequence $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$ is known to be all local, as a consequence, it naturally follows that the entire hierarchy of soliton equations are all local. We list here only the first two nonlinear members:

$$u_{t_1} = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ r \end{bmatrix}_{t_1} = K_1 = \begin{bmatrix} K_{1,a} \\ K_{1,b} \\ K_{1,c} \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$K_{1,a} = p_x - \frac{1}{2}(r^2 - q^2) + \frac{1}{8}\beta(r - q)^3 - \frac{1}{2}\beta(r - q)p^2,$$

$$K_{1,b} = -\frac{1}{2}(r_x - q_x) + p(r + q) + \frac{1}{4}\beta(r - q)(r_x - q_x) - \beta pp_x - \frac{1}{4}\beta p(r - q)^2 + \beta p^3,$$

$$K_{1,c} = \frac{1}{2}(r_x - q_x) - p(r + q) + \frac{1}{4}\beta(r - q)(r_x - q_x) - \beta pp_x + \frac{1}{4}\beta p(r - q)^2 - \beta p^3,$$

and

$$u_{t_2} = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ r \end{bmatrix}_{t_2} = K_2 = \begin{bmatrix} K_{2,a} \\ K_{2,b} \\ K_{2,c} \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$K_{2,a} = \frac{1}{4}(r_{xx} - q_{xx}) - \frac{1}{2}p(r_x + q_x) - p_x(r+q) - \frac{1}{2}p^2(r-q) + \frac{1}{8}(r-q)(3r^2 + 3q^2 + 2rq) + \frac{1}{2}\beta p^2(r^2 - q^2) - \frac{1}{4}\beta p(r-q)(r_x - q_x) + \frac{1}{4}\beta p_x(r-q)^2 - \frac{1}{8}\beta(r+q)(r-q)^3,$$

$$\begin{split} K_{2,b} &= -\frac{1}{2} p_{xx} - \frac{1}{4} p(3r^2 + 3q^2 + 2rq) + p^3 + \frac{3}{4} (rr_x - qq_x) - \frac{1}{4} (rq_x - qr_x) \\ &- \beta p^3 (r+q) + \frac{1}{2} \beta p^2 (r_x - q_x) - \frac{1}{2} \beta p p_x (r-q) + \frac{1}{4} \beta p (r+q) (r-q)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \beta (r_x + q_x) p^2 + (r+q) \beta p p_x - \frac{1}{4} \beta p (r_{xx} - q_{xx}) + \frac{1}{4} \beta p_{xx} (r-q) \\ &- \frac{1}{8} \beta (r-q) (3rr_x - q_x r + qr_x - 3qq_x), \end{split}$$

$$K_{2,c} = \frac{1}{2}p_{xx} + \frac{1}{4}p(3r^2 + 3q^2 + 2rq) - p^3 - \frac{3}{4}(rr_x - qq_x) + \frac{1}{4}(rq_x - qr_x) + \beta p^3(r+q) - \frac{1}{2}\beta p^2(r_x - q_x) + \frac{1}{2}\beta pp_x(r-q) - \frac{1}{4}\beta p(r+q)(r-q)^2 + \frac{1}{2}\beta(r_x + q_x)p^2 + (r+q)\beta pp_x - \frac{1}{4}\beta p(r_{xx} - q_{xx}) + \frac{1}{4}\beta p_{xx}(r-q) - \frac{1}{8}\beta(r-q)(3rr_x + qr_x - q_xr - 3qq_x).$$

2.2.2 Analysis of Hamiltonian structures

The Hamiltonian structures of a soliton hierarchy typically has the following mathematical expression:

$$u_{t_k} = K_k(u) = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_k}{\delta u}, \quad k \ge 0,$$
(2.33)

where J is a Hamiltonian operator, and $\{\mathcal{H}_k\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$ is a sequence of Hamiltonian functionals that, in principle, can be determined through the trace identity (2.10), or in general by using the variational identity (2.11).

To this stage, because the involved Lie algebra $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$ is semisimple, for the soliton hierarchy (2.32) we shall employ the trace identity to produce Hamiltonian structures. As the first step, a quick differentiation directly gives

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \frac{\partial U}{\partial p} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \frac{\partial U}{\partial q} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \frac{\partial U}{\partial r} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

and

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial p}\right) = 2a, \quad \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial q}\right) = -(c-b),$$
$$\operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial r}\right) = c+b, \quad \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda}\right) = 2b.$$

Insert all the above into the trace identity, and thus the identity is indeed equivalent to

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int 2b \, dx = \lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} \begin{bmatrix} 2a \\ b-c \\ b+c \end{bmatrix}.$$

Balancing the coefficients that are leading all powers of λ , we have that for all $m \ge 0$,

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int 2b_{m+1} dx = (\gamma - m) \begin{bmatrix} 2a_m \\ b_m - c_m \\ b_m + c_m \end{bmatrix}.$$

Because γ is a constant, it can be determined by looking at a special case, for example, one picks m = 1and concludes that it must be $\gamma = 0$; the variational identity thus become

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int \left(-\frac{2b_{m+1}}{m}\right) dx = \begin{bmatrix} 2a_m \\ b_m - c_m \\ b_m + c_m \end{bmatrix}, \quad m \ge 1.$$

Naturally it follows that one can take the Hamiltonian functionals to be

$$\mathcal{H}_m = \int \left(-\frac{2b_{m+1}}{m}\right) dx, \quad m \ge 1.$$
(2.34)

Recalling (2.33) and particularly that $b_{m+1,x} = 2pc_{m+1} + (r-q)a_{m+1}$, we arrive at

$$K_{m} = J \begin{bmatrix} 2a_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} - c_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} + c_{m+1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -2c_{m+1} + (r-q)\beta b_{m+1} \\ -2a_{m+1} - 2p\beta b_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x} \\ 2a_{m+1} + 2p\beta b_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x} \end{bmatrix},$$
 (2.35)

where

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 + \frac{1}{2}(r-q)\beta & -1 + \frac{1}{2}(r-q)\beta \\ -1 - \frac{1}{2}(r-q)\beta & \beta\partial & \beta\partial - 2\betap \\ 1 - \frac{1}{2}(r-q)\beta & \beta\partial + 2\betap & \beta\partial \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.36)

A rather routine computation (could be performed with Maple) reveals that the Poisson bracket of J is anti-symmetric and satisfies the Jacobi identity, therefore the operator J is Hamiltonian. Therefore the Hamiltonian structures of the hierarchy (2.32) can thus be written down as:

$$u_{t_m} = K_m = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{m+1}}{\delta u}, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(2.37)

with the Hamiltonian operator J and the Hamiltonian functionals \mathcal{H}_m 's being explicitly given by (2.36) and (2.34), respectively.

According to Definitions 1.4.17–1.4.19 (whose statements effectively take advantages of the characteristics of the associated Hamiltonian vector fields), we must show two properties before we can claim that a soliton hierarchy is Liouville integrable: (i) the infinitely many conserved functionals are pairwise commutative; and (ii) these conserved functionals have characteristics that are functionally independent. For our soliton hierarchy (2.32), the fact that the conserved functionals are commutative is ensured by their zero curvature representations that actually form a Virasoro algebra which is commutative (refer to related literatures [53, 54, 55, 56]). We should emphasize that all these Hamiltonian functionals actually correspond to common conservation laws shared by every soliton equation in the soliton hierarchy (2.32).

Keeping in mind also the Hamiltonian structures from (2.37) and the distinct differential orders of the sequence $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$, the differential recursion structure of the hierarchy thus tells us (because clearly, a group of differential functions is said to be independent, provided that the differential orders of its members are all pairwise distinct), the corresponding characteristics of the conserved functionals are functionally independent. To summarize, the soliton hierarchy (2.32) is Liouville integrable in accordance with the Definition 1.4.19. To put it more accurately, all equations in the soliton hierarchy (2.32) have an infinite

number of independent conserved functionals that pairwise commute in the sense of (1.80), and an infinite number of generalized symmetries that pairwise commute in the sense of:

$$[K_n, K_l] := K'_n(u)[K_l] - K'_l(u)[K_n] = J \frac{\delta\{\mathcal{H}_n, \mathcal{H}_l\}_J}{\delta u} = 0, \qquad n, l \ge 0,$$
(2.38)

with K' standing for the Gateaux derivative of K.

2.3 An so $(3, \mathbb{R})$ -counterpart

2.3.1 From spectral problem to soliton hierarchy

We continue in this section to present an $so(3, \mathbb{R})$ -counterpart of the matrix spectral problem in Section 2.2. We again begin with a matrix spectral problem:

$$\varphi_x = U\varphi = U(u,\lambda)\varphi, \quad \text{where} \quad u = (p,q,r)^T \quad \text{and} \quad \varphi = (\varphi_1,\varphi_2,\varphi_3)^T, \quad (2.39)$$

(thus the wave function φ accordingly has 3 components) for which the spectral matrix U belonging to $\widetilde{so}(3,\mathbb{R})$ reads

$$U = U(u, \lambda) = pe_1 + (q + \lambda)e_2 + (r + \lambda)e_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -r - \lambda & -p \\ r + \lambda & 0 & -q - \lambda \\ p & q + \lambda & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
 (2.40)

it differs however from that in (2.20) because the basis is that of $so(3, \mathbb{R})$ given in (2.12). This matrix spectral problem has 3 dependent variables, too.

Just like what we have done in Section 2.2, we first work on the stationary zero curvature equation

$$W_x - [U, W] = 0, \qquad W \in \widetilde{so}(3, \mathbb{R}).$$
(2.41)

Similarly, by assuming W to be

$$W = ae_1 + (b+c)e_2 + (b-c)e_3 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -b+c & -a \\ b-c & 0 & -b-c \\ a & b+c & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
 (2.42)

the stationary zero curvature equation $[U, W] - W_x = 0$ yields

$$\begin{cases} a_x = -(r-q)b - (r+q+2\lambda)c, \\ b_x = \frac{1}{2}(r-q)a + pc, \\ c_x = \frac{1}{2}(r+q+2\lambda)a - pb. \end{cases}$$
(2.43)

Again by applying the assumption that a, b and c are Laurent expansions in λ

$$a = \sum_{i \ge 0} a_i \lambda^{-i}, \quad b = \sum_{i \ge 0} b_i \lambda^{-i}, \quad c = \sum_{i \ge 0} c_i \lambda^{-i}, \tag{2.44}$$

and employing the initial conditions

$$a_0 = c_0 = 0, \quad b_0 = 1, \tag{2.45}$$

we obtain through balancing the coefficients leading all powers of λ

$$\begin{cases}
 a_{i+1} = pb_i - \frac{1}{2}(r+q)a_i + c_{i,x}, \\
 c_{i+1} = -\frac{1}{2}(r-q)b_i - \frac{1}{2}(r+q)c_i - \frac{1}{2}a_{i,x}, & i \ge 0. \\
 b_{i+1,x} = +\frac{1}{2}(r-q)a_{i+1} + pc_{i+1},
 \end{cases}$$
(2.46)

Note that we still use the following condition while running the above recursive steps:

$$a_i|_{u=0} = b_i|_{u=0} = c_i|_{u=0} = 0, \quad i \ge 1,$$
(2.47)

such that the whole sequence $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$ is worked out in a unique manner. Upon running (2.46), the first three members of $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$ are computed and listed below:

$$\begin{aligned} a_1 &= p, \quad b_1 = 0, \quad c_1 = -\frac{1}{2}(r-q); \\ a_2 &= -\frac{1}{2}(r_x - q_x) - \frac{1}{2}p(r+q), \quad b_2 = -\frac{1}{8}(r-q)^2 - \frac{1}{4}p^2, \quad c_2 = -\frac{1}{2}p_x + \frac{1}{4}(r^2 - q^2); \\ a_3 &= -\frac{1}{2}p_{xx} + \frac{1}{8}p(r^2 + q^2 + 6rq) - \frac{1}{4}p^3 + \frac{3}{4}(rr_x - qq_x) - \frac{1}{4}(rq_x - qr_x), \\ b_3 &= \frac{1}{4}p^2(r+q) - \frac{1}{4}p_x(r-q) + \frac{1}{4}p(r_x - q_x) - \frac{1}{8}(r+q)(r-q)^2, \\ c_3 &= \frac{1}{4}(r_{xx} - q_{xx}) + \frac{1}{4}p(r_x + q_x) + \frac{1}{2}p_x(r+q) + \frac{1}{8}p^2(r-q) \\ &- \frac{1}{16}(r-q)(r^2 + q^2 + 6rq). \end{aligned}$$

Likewise, by running mathematical induction as what we have done in Section 2.2, we can again prove the localness of the sequence $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$, and that the differential order of a_i reads i - 1, the differential order of b_i reads i - 2, and the differential order of c_i reads i - 1 ($i \ge 2$).

Upon having the results of $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$ that are computed recursively, next we calculate (we omit here the lengthy intermediate steps that we have presented for sake of clarity in Sec 2.2)

$$\frac{d}{dx}(\lambda^{m}W)_{+} - [U, (\lambda^{m}W)_{+}] = -2c_{m+1}e_{1} + a_{m+1}e_{2} - a_{m+1}e_{3} \\
= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & a_{m+1} & 2c_{m+1} \\ -a_{m+1} & 0 & -a_{m+1} \\ -2c_{m+1} & a_{m+1} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad m \ge 0.$$
(2.48)

This however does not agree generally with the shape of $U_{t_m} = p_{t_m}e_1 + q_{t_m}e_2 + r_{t_m}e_3$, and hence modification terms again have be introduced to correct the Lax operators. Likewise by noticing

$$[U, e_2] = -(r + \lambda)e_1 + pe_3, \qquad [U, e_3] = (q + \lambda)e_1 - pe_2,$$

we choose a sequence of Lax operators corrected by modification terms

$$V^{[m]} = (\lambda^m W)_+ + \delta_m, \qquad \text{with } \delta_m = \beta b_{m+1} e_3 + \beta b_{m+1} e_2, \quad m \ge 0,$$

where β is an arbitrary constant. To this stage we obtain

$$V_x^{[m]} - [U, V^{[m]}] = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -Z_3 & -Z_1 \\ Z_3 & 0 & -Z_2 \\ Z_1 & Z_2 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$Z_{1} = -2c_{m+1} + \beta(r-q)b_{m+1},$$

$$Z_{2} = a_{m+1} + \beta pb_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x},$$

$$Z_{3} = -a_{m+1} - \beta pb_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x},$$

and then, the associated zero curvature equations

$$U_{t_m} - V_x^{[m]} + [U, V^{[m]}] = 0, \quad m \ge 0,$$

will generate a hierarchy of solition equations

$$u_{t_m} = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ r \end{bmatrix}_{t_m} = K_m = \begin{bmatrix} -2c_{m+1} + \beta(r-q)b_{m+1} \\ a_{m+1} + \beta pb_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x} \\ -a_{m+1} - \beta pb_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x} \end{bmatrix}, \quad m \ge 0.$$
(2.49)

Since the sequence of functions $\{a_i, b_i, c_i | i \ge 1\}$ is known to be all local, as a consequence, we can therefore claim with confidence that the whole hierarchy of soliton equations are local. Again we write down here the very first two nonlinear members from this hierarchy:

$$u_{t_1} = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ r \end{bmatrix}_{t_1} = K_1 = \begin{bmatrix} K_{1,a} \\ K_{1,b} \\ K_{1,c} \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$\begin{split} K_{1,a} &= p_x - \frac{1}{2}(r^2 - q^2) - \frac{1}{8}\beta(r - q)^3 - \frac{1}{4}\beta(r - q)p^2, \\ K_{1,b} &= -\frac{1}{2}(r_x - q_x) - \frac{1}{2}p(r + q) - \frac{1}{4}\beta(r - q)(r_x - q_x) - \frac{1}{2}\beta pp_x \\ &- \frac{1}{8}\beta p(r - q)^2 - \frac{1}{4}\beta p^3, \\ K_{1,c} &= \frac{1}{2}(r_x - q_x) + \frac{1}{2}p(r + q) - \frac{1}{4}\beta(r - q)(r_x - q_x) - \frac{1}{2}\beta pp_x \\ &+ \frac{1}{8}\beta p(r - q)^2 + \frac{1}{4}\beta p^3, \end{split}$$

and

$$u_{t_2} = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \\ r \end{bmatrix}_{t_2} = K_2 = \begin{bmatrix} K_{2,a} \\ K_{2,b} \\ K_{2,c} \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$K_{2,a} = -\frac{1}{2}(r_{xx} - q_{xx}) - \frac{1}{2}p(r_x + q_x) - p_x(r+q) - \frac{1}{4}p^2(r-q) + \frac{1}{8}(r-q)(r^2 + q^2 + 6rq) + \frac{1}{4}\beta p^2(r^2 - q^2) + \frac{1}{4}\beta p(r-q)(r_x - q_x) - \frac{1}{4}\beta p_x(r-q)^2 + \frac{1}{8}\beta(r-q)^3(r+q),$$

$$\begin{split} K_{2,b} &= -\frac{1}{2} p_{xx} + \frac{1}{8} p(r^2 + q^2 + 6rq) - \frac{1}{4} p^3 + \frac{3}{4} (rr_x - qq_x) - \frac{1}{4} (rq_x - qr_x) \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \beta p^3 (r+q) - \frac{1}{4} \beta p p_x (r-q) + \frac{1}{4} \beta p^2 (r_x - q_x) + \frac{1}{8} \beta p (r+q) (r-q)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \beta (r_x + q_x) p^2 + \frac{1}{2} \beta p p_x (r+q) + \frac{1}{4} \beta p (r_{xx} - q_{xx}) - \frac{1}{4} \beta p_{xx} (r-q) \\ &+ \frac{1}{8} \beta (r-q) (3rr_x - rq_x + r_x q - 3qq_x), \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} K_{2,c} &= \frac{1}{2} p_{xx} - \frac{1}{8} p(r^2 + q^2 + 6rq) + \frac{1}{4} p^3 - \frac{3}{4} (rr_x - qq_x) + \frac{1}{4} (rq_x - qr_x) \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \beta p^3 (r+q) + \frac{1}{4} \beta p p_x (r-q) - \frac{1}{4} \beta p^2 (r_x - q_x) - \frac{1}{8} \beta p (r+q) (r-q)^2 \\ &+ \frac{1}{4} \beta (r_x + q_x) p^2 + \frac{1}{2} \beta p p_x (r+q) + \frac{1}{4} \beta p (r_{xx} - q_{xx}) - \frac{1}{4} \beta p_{xx} (r-q) \\ &+ \frac{1}{8} \beta (r-q) (3rr_x - rq_x + r_x q - 3qq_x). \end{split}$$

2.3.2 Analysis of Hamiltonian structures

We shall follow the routine steps to perform Hamiltonian analysis as we did in subsection 2.2.2. First, it comes up straightforwardly with

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \frac{\partial U}{\partial p} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial q} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \frac{\partial U}{\partial r} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

and

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial p}\right) = -2a, \quad \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial q}\right) = -2(c+b),$$
$$\operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial r}\right) = 2(c-b), \quad \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda}\right) = -4b.$$

The trace identity then connects these results to give

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int 2b \, dx = \lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} \begin{bmatrix} a \\ b+c \\ b-c \end{bmatrix}.$$

Balancing now the coefficients leading all powers of λ , we arrive at

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int 2b_{m+1} dx = -(m-\gamma) \begin{bmatrix} a_m \\ b_m + c_m \\ b_m - c_m \end{bmatrix}, \quad m \ge 0.$$

Just like in section 2.2.2, γ can be determined by working on a special case, for example, one picks m = 1and works out $\gamma = 0$. The variational identity thus gives rise to

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int \left(-\frac{2b_{m+1}}{m}\right) dx = \begin{bmatrix} a_m \\ b_m + c_m \\ b_m - c_m \end{bmatrix}, \quad m \ge 1.$$

This indicates that we can choose the Hamiltonian functionals to be

$$\mathcal{H}_m = \int -\frac{2b_{m+1}}{m} dx, \quad m \ge 1.$$
(2.50)

Recalling that $b_{m+1,x} = pc_{m+1} + \frac{r-q}{2}a_{m+1}$, we can now present the Hamiltonian structures for (2.49)

$$K_{m} = J \begin{bmatrix} a_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} + c_{m+1} \\ b_{m+1} - c_{m+1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -2c_{m+1} + (r-q)\beta b_{m+1} \\ a_{m+1} + p\beta b_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x} \\ -a_{m+1} - p\beta b_{m+1} + \beta b_{m+1,x} \end{bmatrix},$$
 (2.51)

where

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -1 + \frac{1}{2}\beta(r-q) & 1 + \frac{1}{2}\beta(r-q) \\ 1 - \frac{1}{2}\beta(r-q) & \beta\partial & \beta\partial + p\beta \\ -1 - \frac{1}{2}\beta(r-q) & \beta\partial - \betap & \beta\partial \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.52)

is also a Hamiltonian operator since both the anti-symmetry and the Jacobi identity are satisfied. The Hamiltonian structures of the hierarchy (2.49) can therefore be formulated as:

$$u_{t_m} = K_m = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{m+1}}{\delta u}, \quad m \ge 0,$$
(2.53)

with J and the Hamiltonian functionals \mathcal{H}_m 's being given by (2.50) and (2.52), respectively. By following what we have argued at the end of Section 2.2.2, once again we arrive at the conclusion that the soliton hierarchy (2.49) is Liouville integrable.

2.4 Concluding remarks

In this chapter, by starting from two spectral problems associated with the matrix loop algebras $\widetilde{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ and $\widetilde{so}(3,\mathbb{R})$, we have engendered two soliton hierarchies that are known to be integrable. The analysis of Hamiltonian structures via the trace identity reveals that, all the members created recursively in the two hierarchies of soliton equations are Liouville integrable.

The systems reported in this chapter provide two new examples of soliton hierarchies carrying three potential variables. We expect to find more interesting and convincing examples of such soliton hierarchies which have three, or even four to five dependent variables. That certainly requires insightful understandings and smart applications of, for instance, computer algebras, trace identities as well as variational identities.

Using computer algebras (Maple, Mathematica, etc.) to automate the whole procedures of engendering a soliton hierachy by starting from a matrix spectral problem (hopefully including the computation of Hamiltonian structures as well) may greatly increase the efficiency of the mathematicians' work in this field. There are certainly many subtle details that can challenge the software's intelligence, such as judging whether a modification term is needed or not and how to determine it, or drawing the conclusion about the Liouville integrability, etc. Therefore it would be more wise to make the software into something that mathematicians can intervene (if absolutely necessary) at some critical steps.

Plenty of matrix spectral problems in higher-order were also reported to be able to yield soliton hierarchies [61, 62, 63, 64, 65, 66, 67]. At the end of this chapter, we'd also like to mention that integrable couplings associated with enlarged matrix loop algebras [68, 69, 70, 71] is a potential powerful tool that can help a lot in enriching specific examples of soliton hierarchies.

Chapter 3

A type of Hamiltonian operators with two potentials and their integrable hierarchies

3.1 Introduction

DEFINITION 3.1.1 Let $u = (u^1, \ldots, u^m)^T$ (m > 0 is an integer) be a vector potential. A *u*-dependent operator $A[u] = A[(u^1, \ldots, u^m)^T]$ is said to be *u*-linear, provided A[cu] = cA[u], where *c* is an arbitrary real constant, always holds.

Many matrix spectral problems can yield Hamiltonian operators that have one or several components which are *u*-linear and are very often themselves Hamiltonian, too, in their Hamiltonian structures. In particular when m = 2 and a simplified notation $u = (p, q)^T$ is frequently applied in this case, such *u*-linear Hamiltonian components can be encountered in many soliton hierarchies explored during recent decades, for example, the generalized WKI hierarchy [72], the coupled Burgers hierarchy [73], etc. Experienced mathematicians working in this field are always very careful about such a fact: that is, the original matrix spectral problems of some soliton hierarchies may have very different faces, but can be eventually verified to be mutually convertible in terms of Bäcklund type transformations [75, 76, 77, 78, 79]. As a part of this chapter, we shall discuss several *u*-linear Hamiltonian operators and argue via mathematical proofs that there exist Bäcklund type transformation among these operators, hence they can be viewed as Gauge equivalent. These Hamiltonian operators are frequently encountered in some integrable systems, but it seems the implications of the Gauge equivalence therein are still not sufficiently understood and realized by people.

Mathematicians of integrable theory are always also interested in constructing new Hamiltonian operators using those existing ones. A rather well-known and effective method is to couple some u-linear Hamiltonian operators with matrix differential operators with constant coefficients (we shall for brevity call the latter constant matrix differential operators in this chapter) to create new Hamiltonian operators [81]. People thought that such kind of couplings might be working at very high (perhaps infinite) differential orders, and in those cases the underlying mathematics is expected to extremely complicated. We shall explore this phenomenon in this chapter for a specific class of u-linear Hamiltonian operators, and will argue that these couplings could be effective only up to a finite k-th differential order, addressed to be k = 3 for this study. Recall now most of the notations given at the beginning of Sec. 1.4. Recall also that \mathcal{A} is defined to be the space of all smooth local functions $f(x, u^{(k)})$ (k is a nonnegative integer). We'd like to define furthermore \mathcal{B} as the space of smooth functions $f(x, u^{(k)})$, with the only distinction that we allow the functions in \mathcal{B} to be nonlocal. For example $\int_{-2}^{x^4} x'^4 \partial_3 u^1 dx'^4$ is acceptable in \mathcal{B} , however not in \mathcal{A} -notice but that the superscript 4 of x' and x here refers to the fourth component of x, not the power. The r-th power direct products of \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} can thus be defined as

$$\mathcal{A}^{r} = \{ (f_{1}, \dots, f_{r})^{T} | f_{i} \in \mathcal{A}, 1 \le i \le r \}, \quad \mathcal{B}^{r} = \{ (f_{1}, \dots, f_{r})^{T} | f_{i} \in \mathcal{B}, 1 \le i \le r \},$$
(3.1)

respectively.

Now the definitions of Gateaux derivative, equivalence and equivalence class of functions in \mathcal{A} , the action of linear operators and their adjoints upon \mathcal{A} , Hamiltonian operators and Hamiltonian pair can all be generalized to \mathcal{B} or \mathcal{B}^r without too much difficulties.

Though we have already some vague ideas about Bäcklund transformation in Chapter 1 (Sec. 1.3.1), we'd like to review it in a more strict mathematical language, by using (as we think more compatible for this chapter) the definition from Fuchssteiner and Fokas [77]:

DEFINITION 3.1.2 Let $B(u, \tilde{u})$ be a function of two sets of arguments $u \in M$ and $\tilde{u} \in \tilde{M}$ with function values in a vector space S', where M and \tilde{M} are two manifolds with their fibers of tangent bundles being Sand \tilde{S} , respectively (generally, S and \tilde{S} are different from S'). Let B_u and $B_{\tilde{u}}$ denote the partial derivatives of B w.r.t. u and \tilde{u} , respectively; B is said to be **admissible** provided the implicit function defined by $B(u, \tilde{u}) = 0$ establishes a one-to-one map between the corresponding tangent spaces; i.e., it is required that for B = 0 the linear maps B_u and $B_{\tilde{u}}$ from S to S' and \tilde{S} to S' are both invertible.

Let

$$u_t = K[u], \quad u \in M, \tag{3.2a}$$

$$\tilde{u}_t = G[\tilde{u}], \quad \tilde{u} \in \tilde{M}$$
(3.2b)

be two systems of evolution equations. We call an admissible function $B(u, \tilde{u})$ (or the implicit function relating u and \tilde{u} given by $B(u, \tilde{u}) = 0$) a **Bäcklund transformation** between the equations (3.2a) and (3.2b), if $B(u(t), \tilde{u}(t)) \equiv 0$ for all t, whenever $B(u(0), \tilde{u}(0)) = 0$.

The above definition implies that, Bäcklund transformations are connections between partial differential equations and their solutions. The two functions u and \tilde{u} solve (3.2a) and (3.2b), respectively, thus when $B(u, \tilde{u})$ is admissible, either u or \tilde{u} is said to be a Bäcklund transformation of the other.

A Bäcklund transformation may often relate a solution of a PDE (in which we are interested) to a solution of another PDE which we know better or which is easier to solve. In particular, a Bäcklund transformation that maps between solutions of the same PDE is said to be an **auto-Bäcklund transformation**. If an auto-Bäcklund transformation of a PDE can be found, then it could be effectively applied in mapping existing solutions of this PDE to some new solutions which are probably unknown. Therefore Bäcklund transformation is a powerful tool in searching for solutions to PDEs, especially those PDEs in soliton theory and integrable systems.

In general, Bäcklund transformations are viewed as a type of Gauge transformations [80]. Therefore two systems linked by a Bäcklund transformation are usually also considered in this sense to be Gauge equivalent to each other. So throughout this chapter, the terminology "Gauge equivalence" is used to indicate that two systems can be mapped into each other via a Gauge transformation in Bäcklund type.

To be as simple as possible, in this chapter unless otherwise stated, below we always set n = 1 and m = 2; i.e., we shall apply $u = u(x,t) = (p,q)^T$ (where p,q are functions of x and t). Also, we define $\partial = \frac{d}{dx}$, $\partial^{-1} = \int dx$, where in ∂^{-1} the involved constant of integration is properly selected to make sure that $\partial \partial^{-1} = \partial^{-1} \partial = 1$ always holds. Moreover, below in this chapter, we let $\partial^m g$ denote the m-th order derivative of g w.r.t. x, except sometimes when m = 1 or 2, for convenience we use g_x or g_{xx} instead.

Let g be a function of x, t and u which is smooth enough. Let $k, l \ge 0$ be integers. Based on a quick and direct computation via integration by parts one can conclude that,

$$x^{k} \partial^{l} g \sim \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } k < l, \\ (-1)^{l} k(k-1) \dots (k-l+1) x^{k-l} g, & \text{if } k \ge l; \end{cases}$$

where \sim means the equivalent relation in the sense of Definition 1.4.12. In particular, $x^k \partial^k g \sim (-1)^k k! g$. We shall call this conclusion from time to time in this chapter.

This chapter runs as follows: We investigate in Sec.3.2 a class of matrix differential Hamiltonian operators H and the Gauge equivalence among them. Then we study the coupling of H to constant matrix differential operators in Sec.3.3, where it got proved that this kind of coupling no longer takes effect at differential orders $k \ge 4$. Finally in Sec.3.4 several illustrative examples are presented so that the readers might catch the ideas how the Gauge equivalence elucidated in Sec.3.2 actually works. We end this chapter with a couple of concluding remarks.

3.2 The Gauge equivalence of a class of Hamiltonian matrix differential operators

Ma [81] proved that matrix u-linear differential operators in the profile of

$$H_1 = \begin{bmatrix} p\partial + \partial p & q\partial \\ \partial q & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \tag{3.3}$$

where $u = (p, q)^T$ is a column vector that contains two potentials, are Hamiltonian. Generalizing this result a bit, matrix differential operators carrying the form

$$H_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \partial p \\ p\partial & q\partial + \partial q \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.4)

can also be proved to be Hamiltonian in a similar way.

What's more, people can claim that matrix differential operators that can be expressed as linear combinations of H_1 and H_2 via real constants c_1 , c_2 , that is,

$$H = c_1 H_1 + c_2 H_2 = \begin{bmatrix} c_1 (p\partial + \partial p) & c_2 \partial p + c_1 q\partial \\ c_2 p\partial + c_1 \partial q & c_2 (q\partial + \partial q) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.5)

are Hamiltonian, too. To prove this, certainly people can apply the conventional method reported in the original paper. There is however another approach that takes advantage of the of the Gauge transformation of Bäcklund type among Hamiltonian operators, which could be more concise as well as more enlightening, since it reveals the fact that the three types of matrix differential operators H_1 , H_2 and H are Gauge equivalent.

THEOREM 3.2.1 Suppose H_1 , H_2 and H are given by Eqs. (3.3), (3.4) and (3.5), respectively. Suppose that $c_1^2 + c_2^2 \neq 0$. Then H_1 , H_2 and H are pairwise Gauge equivalent. Furthermore, H is both u-linear and Hamiltonian.

Proof. Let H be given by (3.5). It is apparently u-linear. First let

$$D = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -c_2 & c_1 \end{bmatrix} \quad \text{which suggests} \quad \begin{cases} \tilde{p} = p, \\ \tilde{q} = (-c_2p + c_1q). \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

If $c_1 \neq 0$, the following computations immediately guide us to

$$\tilde{H} = DHD^*$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} c_1p\partial + c_1\partial p & c_1(-c_2p + c_1q)\partial \\ c_1\partial(-c_2p + c_1q) & 0 \end{bmatrix} = c_1 \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{p}\partial + \partial\tilde{p} & \tilde{q}\partial \\ \partial\tilde{q} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (3.7)$$

where D^* stands for the Hermitian conjugate of D (D^* reduces to D's transpose whenever $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$), is a Hamiltonian operator of H_1 -type with a scaler c_1 (therefore still of H_1 -type). According to Fuchssteiner and Fokas [76], H is Gauge equivalent to H_1 . On the other hand, in case of $c_2 \neq 0$, one again finds that His Gauge equivalent to the H_2 -type Hamiltonian operator with a scaler c_2

$$\tilde{H}' = c_2 \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \partial \tilde{p}' \\ \tilde{p}'\partial & \tilde{q}'\partial + \partial \tilde{q}' \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.8)

via

$$D' = \begin{bmatrix} c_2 & -c_1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \quad \text{that suggests} \quad \begin{cases} \tilde{p}' = c_2 p - c_1 q, \\ \tilde{q}' = q. \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

The transitivity of an equivalence relation implies that H_1 and H_2 are Gauge equivalent as well. This Gauge-equivalence among H_1 , H_2 and H is therefore pairwise, and thus guarantees that H is Hamiltonian.

The above theorem gives us insights that: the three classes of Hamiltonian operators H, H_1 and H_2 defined by Eqs. (3.5), (3.3) and (3.4) respectively, are actually Gauge equivalent in such a sense that any two of them can be mapped into each other via Gauge transformations in Bäcklund type. Not many people however looked into this fact so far, though proving it just comes out to be rather brief and concise.

3.3 The coupling between H and constant matrix differential operators

Mathematicians already knew the way of generating new Hamiltonian operators through coupling matrix differential operators of H_1 , H_2 or H types to constant matrix differential operators with low orders [81, 82, 83, 84, 85]. Let

$$K = \sum_{k=0}^{m} B_k \partial^k, \quad B_k = (b_{ijk})_{2 \times 2}$$
 (3.10)

be a matrix differential operator summed up to the *m*-th order which has constant parameters b_{ijk} (where $1 \le i, j \le 2$ and $0 \le k \le m$). It can be easily verified that when and only when

$$b_{ijk} = (-1)^{k+1} b_{jik} \tag{3.11}$$

holds, K comes out to be skew-symmetric. This condition also automatically guarantees K Hamiltonian. To generalize the work from [81], We now state and prove the following theorem:

THEOREM 3.3.1 Suppose that H and K are defined by Eqs. (3.5) and (3.10), respectively, where the parameters b_{ijk} in K satisfy Eq. (3.11). Suppose that $c_1^2 + c_2^2 \neq 0$. Then the if-and-only-if conditions for the

matrix differential operator

$$\mathcal{J} = K + H \tag{3.12}$$

to be a Hamiltonian operator read as follows:

$$K = \begin{bmatrix} b_{111} & b_{121} \\ b_{121} & b_{221} \end{bmatrix} \partial + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & b_{122} \\ -b_{122} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \partial^2 + \begin{bmatrix} b_{113} & b_{123} \\ b_{123} & b_{223} \end{bmatrix} \partial^3,$$
(3.13)

where b_{111} , b_{121} , b_{221} and b_{122} are arbitrary real constants; and b_{113} , b_{123} and b_{223} are real constants satisfying

$$b_{113}c_2 - b_{123}c_1 = 0$$
 and $b_{223}c_1 - b_{123}c_2 = 0.$ (3.14)

Proof. It is rather straightforward to show the skew-symmetry required by being Hamiltonian. Hence in this proof we concentrate on verifying the Jacobi Identity.

First of all, we already know from Sec. 3.2 that the *H*-part of \mathcal{J} is Hamiltonian. The computation thus reduces directly to (for example, for $\{X, Y, Z\}$ in the Jacobi identity)

$$\{X, Y, Z\} = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \int [f_k(X, Y, Z) + g_k(X, Y, Z) + h_k(X, Y, Z) + j_k(X, Y, Z)] dx,$$

where (since all the matrix operators involved are 2×2 , it is obvious that X, Y, Z are arbitrarily picked from \mathcal{A}^2 (or \mathcal{B}^2), i.e., $X = (X_1, X_2)^T$, $Y = (Y_1, Y_2)^T$, $Z = (Z_1, Z_2)^T$)

$$f_k(X, Y, Z) = c_1(X_1 Z_{1,x} - X_{1,x} Z_1) b_{11k} \partial^k Y_1,$$
(3.15a)

$$g_k(X,Y,Z) = c_1(X_1Z_{1,x} - X_{1,x}Z_1)b_{12k}\partial^k Y_2 + c_2(X_2Z_{1,x} - X_{1,x}Z_2)b_{11k}\partial^k Y_1 + c_1(X_1Z_{2,x} - X_{2,x}Z_1)b_{21k}\partial^k Y_1,$$
(3.15b)

$$h_k(X, Y, Z) = c_2(X_2 Z_{1,x} - X_{1,x} Z_2) b_{12k} \partial^k Y_2 + c_1(X_1 Z_{2,x} - X_{2,x} Z_1) b_{22k} \partial^k Y_2$$

$$+ c_2(X_2 Z_{2,x} - X_{2,x} Z_2) b_{21k} \partial^k Y_1,$$
(3.15c)

$$j_k(X, Y, Z) = c_2(X_2 Z_{2,x} - X_{2,x} Z_2) b_{22k} \partial^k Y_2,$$
(3.15d)

for all $0 \le k \le m$. Considering the subscripts and the differential orders of P_i , Q_i , R_i , one can tell that for H + K, the Jacobi identity is satisfied if and only if

$$\bar{f}_k(X, Y, Z) = f_k(X, Y, Z) + \text{cycle}(X, Y, Z) \sim 0,$$
 (3.16a)

$$\bar{g}_k(P,Q,R) = g_k(X,Y,Z) + \text{cycle}(X,Y,Z) \sim 0,$$
 (3.16b)

$$\bar{h}_k(X, Y, Z) = h_k(X, Y, Z) + \text{cycle}(X, Y, Z) \sim 0,$$
 (3.16c)

$$\bar{j}_k(X,Y,Z) = j_k(X,Y,Z) + \text{cycle}(X,Y,Z) \sim 0,$$
(3.16d)

where $0 \le k \le m$.

First we look into the case of k = 0. Considering that $b_{110} = b_{220} = 0$ and $b_{210} = -b_{120}$, a particular choice of (3.16b) with $X_1 = r$, $Y_1 = 0$, $Z_1 = x$ and $Y_2 = 1$, and a special choice of (3.16c) with $X_1 = 1$, $X_2 = 0$, $Y_2 = s$ and $Z_2 = x$ (one can choose s and r to be any smooth functions of x), give rise to

$$\bar{g}_0(X, Y, Z) = c_1 b_{120}(r - xr_x) \sim 2c_1 b_{120}r,$$

$$\bar{h}_0(X, Y, Z) = c_2 b_{120}(s - xs_x) \sim 2c_2 b_{120}s,$$

respectively. One concludes quickly from the "arbitrariness" of r and s that $b_{120} = 0$. Hence when k = 0, (3.16a)-(3.16d) automatically holds if and only if $B_0 = 0$.

As the second step, we check when happens when k = 1. Automatically we already have $\bar{f}_1(X, Y, Z) = \bar{j}_1(X, Y, Z) = 0$. Furthermore the condition $b_{211} = b_{121}$ ensures that $\bar{g}(X, Y, Z) = \bar{h}_1(X, Y, Z) = 0$. So in case of k = 1 nothing more than $B_1^T = B_1$ is required.

Next we look into the case of k = 2. The prerequisites $b_{112} = b_{222} = 0$ and $b_{212} = -b_{122}$ ensure that $\bar{f}_2(X, Y, Z) = \bar{j}_2(X, Y, Z) = 0$ and

$$\bar{g}_2(X,Y,Z) = \frac{d}{dx} [c_1 b_{122} (X_1 Z_{1,x} - X_{1,x} Z_1) Y_{2,x} + \operatorname{cycle}(X,Y,Z)] \sim 0,$$

$$\bar{h}_2(X,Y,Z) = \frac{d}{dx} [c_2 b_{122} (X_2 Y_{2,x} - X_{2,x} Y_2) Z_{1,x} + \operatorname{cycle}(X,Y,Z)] \sim 0.$$

Hence for k = 2 it is only required that $B_2^T = -B_2$.

For the case of k = 3 we need a slightly longer discussion. On the one hand, we have

$$\bar{f}_3(X,Y,Z) = \frac{d}{dx} [c_1 b_{113} X_1(Z_{1,x} Y_{1,xx} - Y_{1,x} Z_{1,xx}) + \operatorname{cycle}(X,Y,Z)] \sim 0,$$

$$\bar{j}_3(X,Y,Z) = \frac{d}{dx} [c_2 b_{223} X_2(Z_{2,x} Y_{2,xx} - Y_{2,x} Z_{2,xx}) + \operatorname{cycle}(X,Y,Z)] \sim 0.$$

By again making use of the "arbitrariness" of r and s, a particular choice of (3.16b) with $X_1 = r$, $Z_1 = x$, $Y_2 = \frac{x^3}{3!}$ and $Y_1 = X_2 = Z_2 = 0$ gives

$$\bar{g}_3(X,Y,Z) = c_1 b_{123} (r - xr_x + \frac{1}{2}x^3 \partial^3 r) - \frac{1}{6} c_2 b_{113} x^3 \partial^3 r \sim (-c_1 b_{123} + c_2 b_{113})r,$$

based on which, (3.16b) would thus require

$$c_1 b_{123} - c_2 b_{113} = 0. (3.17)$$

Likewise, a particular choice of (3.16c) with $X_2 = s$, $Y_1 = \frac{x^3}{3!}$, $Z_2 = x$ and $X_1 = Z_1 = Y_2 = 0$ leads to

$$c_1 b_{223} - c_2 b_{123} = 0. (3.18)$$

Whereas on the other hand, if (3.17) and (3.18) are satisfied, we arrive at

$$\bar{g}_{3}(X,Y,Z) = \gamma_{1} \frac{d}{dx} [(X_{1}Z_{1,x} - X_{1,x}Z_{1})Y_{2,xx} + (Y_{2,x}Z_{1} - Y_{2}Z_{1,x})X_{1,xx} + (X_{1,x}Y_{2} - X_{1}Y_{2,x})Z_{1,xx} + \text{cycle}(X,Y,Z)] \sim 0,$$

where $\gamma_1 = c_2 b_{113} = c_1 b_{123}$, and

$$\begin{split} \bar{h}_3(X,Y,Z) &= \gamma_2 \frac{d}{dx} [(X_1 Z_{2,x} - X_{1,x} Z_2) Y_{2,xx} + (Y_{2,x} Z_2 - Y_2 Z_{2,x}) X_{1,xx} \\ &+ (X_{1,x} Y_2 - X_1 Y_{2,x}) Z_{2,xx} + \operatorname{cycle}(X,Y,Z)] \sim 0, \end{split}$$

where $\gamma_2 = c_2 b_{123} = c_1 b_{223}$. Thus, (3.17) and (3.18) combine to guarantee that (3.16a)-(3.16d) hold in the case of k = 3.

We discuss now the very last case of $m \ge k \ge 4$. A particular choice of (3.16a) with $X_1 = r$, $Y_1 = \frac{x^k}{k!}$ and $Z_1 = x$, and a particular choice of (3.16d) with $X_2 = s$, $Y_2 = \frac{x^k}{k!}$ and $Z_2 = x$, will produce

$$\bar{f}_{k} = c_{1}b_{11k}[r - r_{x}x - (1-k)\frac{x^{k}}{k!}\partial^{k}r] \sim c_{1}b_{11k}[2 - (-1)^{k}(1-k)]r,$$

$$\bar{j}_{k} = c_{2}b_{22k}[s - xs_{x} - (1-k)\frac{x^{k}}{k!}\partial^{k}s] \sim c_{2}b_{22k}[2 - (-1)^{k}(1-k)]s,$$
(3.19)

respectively. The condition $k\geq 4$ indicates that both

$$c_1 b_{11k} = 0, \quad \text{and} \quad c_2 b_{22k} = 0$$
(3.20)

are needed to make sure that $\bar{f}_k \sim 0$ and $\bar{j}_k \sim 0$ will hold. Then, by using (3.20), two special choices of (3.16b) with $X_1 = r$, $Y_1 = 0$, $Z_1 = x$ and $Y_2 = \frac{x^k}{k!}$, and of (3.16c) with $X_1 = 0$, $Y_1 = \frac{x^k}{k!}$, $Z_2 = x$ and $X_2 = s$, will yield

$$\bar{g}_{k}(X,Y,Z) = c_{1}b_{12k}(r - xr_{x}) - \frac{1}{k!}c_{2}b_{11k}x^{k}\partial^{k}r + \frac{1}{(k-1)!}c_{1}b_{21k}x^{k}\partial^{k}r$$

$$\sim c_{1}b_{12k}(2-k)r - (-1)^{k}c_{2}b_{11k}r,$$

$$\bar{h}_{k}(X,Y,Z) = c_{2}b_{21k}(s - xs_{x}) - \frac{1}{k!}c_{1}b_{22k}x^{k}\partial^{k}s + \frac{1}{(k-1)!}c_{2}b_{12k}x^{k}\partial^{k}s$$
(3.21)

$$\sim c_2 b_{21k} (2-k)s - (-1)^k c_1 b_{22k} s.$$
 (3.22)

Since $c_1^2 + c_2^2 \neq 0$, first we assume $c_1 \neq 0$ without loss of generality. Then, (3.20) implies $b_{11k} = 0$, from which (3.21) will lead to $b_{12k} = 0$. It follows $b_{21k} = 0$ as a consequence of (3.11), from which $b_{22k} = 0$ is finally again concluded from (3.22). We will similarly arrive at $b_{11k} = b_{12k} = b_{21k} = b_{22k} = 0$ if $c_2 \neq 0$ is assumed at first. Thus in brief, the conditions in (3.20), (3.21) and (3.22) together give rise to the only possibility: that is, $B_k = 0$ for $m \geq k \geq 4$.

Hence to summarize, that (3.13) and (3.14) being satisfied by the coefficients in K is the sufficient and necessary condition for H + K to be Hamiltonian. The proof is completed.

Based on early Hamiltonian theory [86], Fokas and Fuchssteiner proved in [87] that if two differential operators J and M constitute a Hamiltonian pair, where J is invertible, then one can construct a hereditary symmetry $\Phi = MJ^{-1}$. Following this remarkable result, for M = H + K (which is Hamiltonian) with H, K being defined by (3.5), (3.13), respectively (and of course all the coefficients in K satisfy the conditions given by (3.14)), we let

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} d_1 & d_2 \\ d_2 & d_3 \end{bmatrix} \partial + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & a \\ -a & 0 \end{bmatrix} \partial^2 + \begin{bmatrix} d_4 & d_5 \\ d_5 & d_6 \end{bmatrix} \partial^3,$$
(3.23)

where $\frac{d_4}{b_{113}} = \frac{d_5}{b_{123}} = \frac{d_6}{b_{223}}$ if they are all nonzero, or $b_{113} = 0$ if and only if $d_4 = 0$, and likewise for b_{123} and d_5 , b_{223} and d_6 (this condition shows up here to guarantee that an arbitrary linear combination of J and M will always yield a Hamiltonian operator, which is the if-and-only-if condition that J and M will make a Hamiltonian pair). What's more, a and d_1 , d_2 , d_3 must be properly chosen to make sure that J is invertible. Thus the linear combination of J and M always gives Hamiltonian operators, and (J, M) therefore gives rise to a Hamiltonian pair. Two typical examples of such J given by (3.23) could be, say, presented by

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} d_1 & d_2 \\ d_2 & d_3 \end{bmatrix} \partial \quad \Rightarrow \quad J^{-1} = \frac{1}{\bigtriangleup} \begin{bmatrix} d_3 & -d_2 \\ -d_2 & d_1 \end{bmatrix} \partial^{-1}, \tag{3.24}$$

with $\triangle = d_1 d_3 - d_2^2 \neq 0$; or another one which is less frequently used,

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & a \\ -a & 0 \end{bmatrix} \partial^2 + \begin{bmatrix} d_4 & d_5 \\ d_5 & d_6 \end{bmatrix} \partial^3 \Rightarrow$$
$$J^{-1} = \frac{1}{a^2} \begin{bmatrix} d_6 \partial^{-1} & -d_5 \partial^{-1} - a \partial^{-2} \\ -d_5 \partial^{-1} + a \partial^{-2} & d_4 \partial^{-1} \end{bmatrix},$$

with $a \neq 0$ and $d_4d_6 - d_5^2 = 0$. One can illustrate more examples of such Hamiltonian operators. Therefore it comes up immediately with

THEOREM 3.3.2 Let H, K and J be given by (3.5), (3.13), and (3.23), respectively. Let M = H + K. Then $\Phi = MJ^{-1}$ gives rise to a hereditary symmetry.

The hereditary symmetries Φ given by Theorem 3.3.2 depends only implicitly on x, and is thus translational invariant w.r.t. x. Therefore $\forall S \in \mathcal{B}^2$, we always have a Lie derivative which is identical to 0 [88], i.e.,

$$(L_{u_x}\Phi)S = \Phi[u_x, S] - [u_x, \Phi S] = 0.$$
(3.25)

Therefore by Corollary 1 in [89], we can conclude

$$[\Phi^m u_x, \Phi^n u_x] = 0, \quad \forall m, n \ge 0,$$

and it follows naturally also that

THEOREM 3.3.3 Suppose that H, K and J are defined by (3.5), (3.13) and (3.23), respectively. Let M = H + K and $\Phi = MJ^{-1}$. Then the hierarchy of evolution equations

$$u_t = \Phi^m u_x, \quad m \ge 0 \tag{3.26}$$

constitutes a sequence of infinitely many common symmetries $\{K_m = \Phi^m u_x\}$ $(m \ge 0)$, with Φ being a common hereditary strong symmetry.

The hierarchy (3.26) generally is integrable in the sense that each member of this hierarchy has infinitely many *K*-symmetries [87, 89].

3.4 Examples

We present in this section a couple of illustrative examples, aiming at indicating the implications behind the discussed Gauge equivalence.

3.4.1 Example #.1

As the first example, it was reported in [74] the following matrix spectral problem:

$$\phi_x = U\phi = U(u,\lambda)\phi$$
, where $u = [p,q]^T$ and $\phi = [\phi_1,\phi_2]^T$,

for which the spectral matrix $U \in \widetilde{\mathfrak{sl}}(2,\mathbb{R})$ possesses the form

$$U = (-q - \lambda)e_1 + pe_2 + \gamma e_3 = \begin{bmatrix} -q - \lambda & p \\ \gamma & q + \lambda \end{bmatrix},$$
(3.27)

with $\gamma \neq 0$ being a constant, and

$$e_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad e_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad e_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.28)

are the three elements that form the basis of $sl(2, \mathbb{R})$. The soliton hierarchy engendered by this matrix spectral problem is Liouville integrable and possesses the bi-Hamiltonian structure

$$u_{t_k} = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_k}{\delta u} = M \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{k-1}}{\delta u}, \quad \text{for all } k \ge 1,$$
(3.29)

where \mathcal{H}_k $(k \ge 0)$ are the involved Hamiltonian functionals, and J, M together form the Hamiltonian pair:

$$J = -\frac{1}{\gamma} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \partial \\ \partial & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad M = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\gamma} (p\partial + \partial p) & \frac{1}{2\gamma} \partial^2 + \frac{1}{\gamma} q\partial \\ -\frac{1}{2\gamma} \partial^2 + \frac{1}{\gamma} \partial q & -\frac{1}{2} \partial \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.30)

J is obviously invertible, and *M* clearly has the shape of the \mathcal{J} operator presented in Theorem 3.3.1 with $\alpha = 0$ (i.e., the *H*-component of \mathcal{J} reduces to H_1 given in (3.3)). If one specifically sets $\gamma = 1/\beta$, and modifies the matrix spectral problem (3.27) into

$$\tilde{\phi}_x = \tilde{U}\tilde{\phi} = \tilde{U}(u,\lambda)\tilde{\phi}, \qquad \tilde{U} = \begin{bmatrix} -\lambda - \alpha\tilde{p} - \beta\tilde{q} & \tilde{p} \\ \frac{1}{\beta} & \lambda + \alpha\tilde{p} + \beta\tilde{q} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.31)

via the transformation through the matrix D

$$\begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix} = D \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{p} \\ \tilde{q} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \text{with} \quad D = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \alpha & \beta \end{bmatrix}, \quad (3.32)$$

this will give rise to the Hamiltonian operator

$$\tilde{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \beta(\tilde{p}\partial + \partial\tilde{p}) & \frac{1}{2}\partial^2 - \alpha\partial\tilde{p} + \beta\tilde{q}\partial \\ -\frac{1}{2}\partial^2 - \alpha\tilde{p}\partial + \beta\partial\tilde{q} & -\frac{1}{2\beta^2}\partial - \alpha(\tilde{q}\partial + \partial\tilde{q}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.33)

which apparently has again the shape of the \mathcal{J} operator presented in Theorem 3.3.1. Also by Theorem 3.3.1, \tilde{M} is connected with M in (3.30) through

$$\tilde{M} = D^{-1} M D^{-1^*}.$$
(3.34)

Especially, the K-component in M, while undergoing the same Bäcklund type transformation, is observed to remain as a (Hamiltonian) K-component in \tilde{M} . The above facts justify our statements in Theorem 3.3.1.

3.4.2 Example #.2

The Wadati-Konno-Ichikawa (WKI) hierarchy was generalized in 2002 by Xu [72, 90] through computing the following matrix spectral problem (for simplicity of computation, the matrix problem is presented here in a slightly different form from the original work; but they are in no doubt exactly equivalent):

$$\phi_x = U\phi = U(u,\lambda)\phi, \quad \text{with} \quad u = [p,q]^T \quad \text{and} \quad \phi = [\phi_1,\phi_2]^T,$$

where $U \in \widetilde{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$ is given by

$$U = (\lambda - \frac{\alpha}{2}p)e_1 + \lambda p e_2 + \lambda q e_3 = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda - \frac{\alpha}{2}p & \lambda p \\ \lambda q & -\lambda + \frac{\alpha}{2}p \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.35)

By routinely solving the stationary zero-curvature equation $W_x = [U, W]$, also with $W \in \widetilde{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$ chosen to be

$$W = \begin{bmatrix} (\lambda - \frac{\alpha}{2}p)a - \frac{\alpha b_x}{2\lambda} & \lambda pa + b_x \\ \lambda qa + c_x & -(\lambda - \frac{\alpha}{2}p)a + \frac{\alpha b_x}{2\lambda} \end{bmatrix},$$
(3.36)

where a, b and c are functions of λ , x and t expressed in terms of Laurent expansions of λ :

$$a = \sum_{i \ge 0} a_i \lambda^{-i}, \quad b = \sum_{i \ge 0} b_i \lambda^{-i}, \quad c = \sum_{i \ge 0} c_i \lambda^{-i}, \tag{3.37}$$

it was demonstrated that this generalized WKI soliton hierarchy possesses a bi-Hamiltonian structure $u_{t_m} = M \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_m}{\delta u} = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{m-1}}{\delta u}$ ($m \ge 1$), where \mathcal{H}_m , \mathcal{H}_{m-1} are the corresponding Hamiltonian functionals, with J and M being the Hamiltonian pair. In particular here M reads

$$M = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \partial^2 + \alpha \partial p \\ -\partial^2 + \alpha p \partial & \alpha (q \partial + \partial q) \end{bmatrix},$$
(3.38)

which has the characteristics of the \mathcal{J} operator presented in Theorem 3.3.1 when $\beta = 0$ (or in another word, the *H*-component of \mathcal{J} reduces to H_2 given in (3.4)). Interestingly, this soliton hierarchy is also Liouville integrable, though *J* in the Hamiltonian pair does not have the form as that of (3.23). This matrix spectral problem (3.35) of the generalized WKI hierarchy, if modified to

$$\tilde{\phi}_x = \tilde{U}\tilde{\phi} = \tilde{U}(u,\lambda)\tilde{\phi}, \qquad \tilde{U} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda - \frac{\alpha}{2}(\alpha\tilde{p} - \beta\tilde{q}) & \alpha\lambda\tilde{p} - \beta\lambda\tilde{q} \\ \lambda\tilde{q} & -\lambda + \frac{\alpha}{2}(\alpha\tilde{p} - \beta\tilde{q}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.39)

by using the transformation

$$\begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix} = T \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{p} \\ \tilde{q} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \text{with} \quad T = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha & -\beta \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (3.40)$$

will convert the the Hamiltonian operator M into

$$\tilde{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \beta(\tilde{p}\partial + \partial\tilde{p}) & \frac{1}{\alpha}\partial^2 + \alpha\partial\tilde{p} + \beta\tilde{q}\partial \\ -\frac{1}{\alpha}\partial^2 + \alpha\tilde{p}\partial + \beta\partial\tilde{q} & \alpha(\tilde{q}\partial + \partial\tilde{q}) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.41)

Here \tilde{M} apparently carries also the characteristics of the \mathcal{J} operator presented in Theorem 3.3.1, and is associated with M in (3.38) through

$$\tilde{M} = T^{-1}MT^{-1^*}. (3.42)$$

Once again, the K-component in M, while undergoing the same Bäcklund type transformation, is observed to remain as a (Hamiltonian) K-component in \tilde{M} . The above facts again justify our statements in Theorem 3.3.1.

It was also reported in [91] an alternative form of the generalized WKI hierarchy, for which rather similar arguments about a Gauge transformation of Bäcklund type can be made.

3.4.3 Example #.3

In 2015 Zhang et al. published the coupled Burgers hierarchy based on the matrix spectral problem [73]

$$\phi_x = U\phi = U(u,\lambda)\phi$$
, where $u = (p,q)^T$ and $\phi = (\phi_1,\phi_2)^T$,

in which the spectral matrix U belonging to $\widetilde{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ possesses the mathematical profile

$$U = (-\lambda + \alpha p + \beta q)e_1 + pe_2 + qe_3 = \begin{bmatrix} -\lambda + \alpha p + \beta q & p \\ q & \lambda - \alpha p - \beta q \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.43)

One thing that needs to be emphasized here is, in this model the constants α , β are subjected to the constraint $\alpha\beta = -1/4$. The soliton hierarchy engendered by this matrix spectral problem is also Liouville integrable and has a bi-Hamiltonian structure $u_{tm} = J \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_m}{\delta u} = M \frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{m-1}}{\delta u}$ ($m \ge 1$), for which the Hamiltonian pair is

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \partial \\ \partial & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad M = \begin{bmatrix} \beta(p\partial + \partial p) & -\frac{1}{2}\partial^2 + \alpha\partial p + \beta q\partial \\ \frac{1}{2}\partial^2 + \alpha p\partial + \beta\partial q & \alpha(q\partial + \partial q) \end{bmatrix},$$
(3.44)

where J is definitely invertible, and M has the characteristics of the \mathcal{J} operator presented in Theorem 3.3.1 (note that $\alpha\beta = -1/4$). This matrix spectral problem (3.43), if modified into

$$\tilde{\phi}_x = \tilde{U}\tilde{\phi} = \tilde{U}(u,\lambda)\tilde{\phi}, \qquad \tilde{U} = \begin{bmatrix} -\lambda + 2\alpha\tilde{p} + \tilde{q} & \tilde{p} \\ \frac{\alpha}{\beta}\tilde{p} + \frac{1}{\beta}\tilde{q} & \lambda - 2\alpha\tilde{p} - \tilde{q} \end{bmatrix},$$
(3.45)

by using the Gauge transformation

$$\begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix} = D \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{p} \\ \tilde{q} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \text{with} \quad D = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \frac{\alpha}{\beta} & \frac{1}{\beta} \end{bmatrix}, \quad (3.46)$$

will convert M into

$$\tilde{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \beta(\tilde{p}\partial + \partial\tilde{p}) & -\frac{1}{2}\beta\partial^2 + \beta\tilde{q}\partial \\ \frac{1}{2}\beta\partial^2 + \beta\partial\tilde{q} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.47)

 \tilde{M} again has the characteristics of the \mathcal{J} operator, with its *H*-component reducing to that of H_1 's form in (3.3), presented in Theorem 3.3.1. The matrix spectral problem can also be modified into

$$\hat{\phi}_x = \hat{U}\hat{\phi} = \hat{U}(u,\lambda)\hat{\phi}, \qquad \hat{U} = \begin{bmatrix} -\lambda - \hat{p} + 2\beta\hat{q} & -\frac{1}{\alpha}\hat{p} + \frac{\alpha}{\beta}\hat{q} \\ \hat{q} & \lambda + \hat{p} - 2\beta\hat{q} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.48)

via the transformation

$$\begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix} = D \begin{bmatrix} \hat{p} \\ \hat{q} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \text{with} \quad D = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{1}{\alpha} & \frac{\beta}{\alpha} \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (3.49)$$

to yield the Hamiltonian operator

$$\hat{M} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{2}\alpha\partial^2 + \alpha\partial\hat{p} \\ -\frac{1}{2}\alpha\partial^2 + \alpha\hat{p}\partial & \alpha(\hat{q}\partial + \partial\hat{q}) \end{bmatrix},$$
(3.50)

which has also the characteristics of the \mathcal{J} operator, with its *H*-component reducing to the shape of H_2 in (3.4), presented in Theorem 3.3.1. Both \tilde{M} given by (3.47) and \hat{M} given by (3.50) in this example can be obtained from M in (3.44) by using $\tilde{M}(\text{or } \hat{M}) = D^{-1}MD^{-1^*}$.

3.4.4 Example #.4

As a somehow different final example, we consider now the Hamiltonian operator that carries such a shape:

$$J = B_1 \partial + B_2 \partial^2 + B_3 \partial^3 = \begin{bmatrix} d_1 & d_2 \\ d_2 & d_3 \end{bmatrix} \partial + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & a \\ -a & 0 \end{bmatrix} \partial^2 + \begin{bmatrix} d_4 & d_5 \\ d_5 & d_6 \end{bmatrix} \partial^3, \quad (3.51)$$

where a is nonzero, and det $B_3 = d_4 d_6 - d_5^2 = 0$. J of (3.51) has a formal inverse which be presented as

$$J^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} d_3 + d_6\partial^2 & d_2 + a\partial + d_5\partial^2 \\ d_2 - a\partial + d_5\partial^2 & d_1 + d_4\partial^2 \end{bmatrix} \triangle^{-1} \partial^{-1},$$
(3.52)

where

$$\Delta = d_1 d_3 - d_2^2 + (d_1 d_6 + d_3 d_4 + a^2 - 2d_2 d_5)\partial^2.$$
(3.53)

Let M = H (i.e., M has merely the H-component of $\mathcal{J} = H + K$ in Theorem 3.3.1) satisfy the conditions in Theorems 3.3.2 and 3.3.3, one arrives thus at the conclusion that $\Phi = MJ^{-1}$ (the recursion operator) gives rise to a hereditary strong symmetry, and the hierarchy of evolution equations $u_t = \Phi^m u_x$ ($m \ge 0$) therefore possesses a sequence of infinitely many common symmetries $\{K_m = \Phi^m u_x\}_{m=0}^{\infty}$. The Hamiltonian operator J given by (3.51) involved in this example has a third order differential component, and therefore carries some characteristics of a Camassa-Holm type hierarchy [92], due to the presence of \triangle in (3.53).

By introducing another two implicit variables r, s (when dealing with Camassa-Holm type systems, this is a typical recipe) that are related to p, q in terms of

$$\begin{cases} p = C_1 r + C_2 r_{xx}, \\ q = C_1 s + C_2 s_{xx}, \end{cases}$$
(3.54)

where $C_1 = d_1 d_3 - d_2^2$, and $C_2 = d_1 d_6 + d_5 d_2 + a^2 - 2d_3 d_4$. The first nonlinear member of this hierarchy, $u_t = (p_t, q_t)^T = \Phi u_x \ (\Phi = MJ^{-1})$ can be presented in a bit complicated form:

$$\begin{cases} p_{t} = 2\beta p(d_{3}r_{x} - d_{2}s_{x}) + \beta p_{x}(d_{3}r - d_{2}s) - \beta q(d_{2}r_{x} - d_{1}s_{x}) \\ -\beta q(d_{5}r_{xxx} - d_{4}s_{xxx}) + 2\beta p(d_{6}r_{xxx} - d_{5}s_{xxx}) \\ +\beta p_{x}(d_{6}r_{xx} - d_{5}s_{xx}) - \beta a(p_{x}s_{x} + 2ps_{xx} - qr_{xx}) \\ +\alpha [p(d_{1}s - d_{2}r)]_{x} + \alpha [p(d_{4}s_{xx} - d_{5}r_{xx})]_{x} + \alpha a(pr_{x})_{x}, \end{cases}$$

$$(3.55)$$

$$q_{t} = \beta [q(d_{3}r - d_{2}s)]_{x} + \beta [q(d_{6}r_{xx} - d_{5}s_{xx})]_{x} - \beta a(qs_{x})_{x} \\ -2\alpha q(d_{2}r_{x} - d_{1}s_{x}) - \alpha q_{x}(d_{2}r - d_{1}s) + \alpha p(d_{3}r_{x} - d_{2}s_{x}) \\ +\alpha p(d_{6}r_{xxx} - d_{5}s_{xxx}) - 2\alpha q(d_{5}r_{xxx} - d_{4}s_{xxx}) \\ -\alpha q_{x}(d_{5}r_{xx} - d_{4}s_{xx}) + \alpha a(q_{x}r_{x} + 2qr_{xx} - ps_{x}x). \end{cases}$$

If alternatively, one imposes in (3.51) $B_2 = 0$ (i.e. a = 0), and admits but det $B_1 < 0$, or to put it more precisely,

$$\det B_1 = d_1 d_3 - d_2^2 = -\frac{d_1^2}{d_4^2} \left(d_5 - \frac{d_2 d_4}{d_1} \right)^2, \tag{3.56}$$

which is an alternative equivalent version of $d_1d_6 + d_4d_3 - 2d_2d_5 = 0$, and J has an explicit inverse guaranteed by these assumptions:

$$J^{-1} = \frac{1}{\det B_1} \begin{bmatrix} d_6 \partial + d_3 \partial^{-1} & -d_5 \partial - d_2 \partial^{-1} \\ -d_5 \partial - d_2 \partial^{-1} & d_4 \partial + d_1 \partial^{-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.57)

Rather similarly, the Hamiltonian operator J in (3.51) satisfying (3.56), and a second Hamiltonian operator M = H + K, will together produce a hereditary strong symmetry $\Phi = MJ^{-1}$. The hierarchy of evolution equations $u_t = \Phi^m u_x$ ($m \ge 0$) indeed corresponds to a sequence of infinitely many common symmetries $\{K_m = \Phi^m u_x\}_{m=0}^{\infty}$.

3.5 Concluding remarks

We have shown in this chapter that matrix differential operators carrying the profiles of H_1 , H_2 or H defined by (3.3), or (3.4) and (3.5), respectively, are *u*-linear Hamiltonian operators that are also pairwise gauge equivalent. The local transformations among them can be performed by means of constant 2×2 matrices. Hopefully, such gauge equivalence among H_1 , H_2 and H can be accordingly generalized to more Hamiltonian operators, and may help to shed light on the classification of Hamiltonian operators.

Further it is proved that new Hamiltonian operators can be generated by coupling these matrix differential operators to constant differential operators. The corresponding sufficient and necessary conditions (3.13)

and (3.14) were derived as well. The shining point in Theorem 3.3.1 is that this kind of coupling takes effect up to a finite order only (for the operators studied in this chapter, it has been determined to be the 3rd order) of the constant differential operators. This piece of remarkably succinct result (conciser and simpler than we used to expect) would encourage us to explore further what might be the interesting mathematics behind those Hamiltonian structures.

Chapter 4

Computation of soliton solutions of a generalized eight-component mKdV system based on Riemann-Hilbert problems

The inverse scattering transform (IST) is a powerful tool for addressing the Cauchy problems of many nonlinear evolution PDEs associated with integrable models, as mentioned in Chapter 1, in modern soliton theory [39, 93]. Such problems of I.S.T., preferably for those nonlinear PDEs involving only one spatial dimension, can always be formulated into a Riemann-Hilbert problem (RHP) [39] characterized by a jump on the real line \mathbb{R} (subjected typically to canonical normalization condition), with bounded eigenfunctions that are analytically continuable to

$$\mathbb{D}^{+} := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} | \mathrm{Im}\lambda > 0\} \quad \text{or} \quad \mathbb{D}^{-} := \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} | \mathrm{Im}\lambda < 0\}, \tag{4.1}$$

and continuous in their closures $\overline{\mathbb{D}}^+$ or $\overline{\mathbb{D}}^-$, through which the involved nonlinear elements can be effectively linearized.

In particular, soliton solutions can be obtained by reducing such an RHP to reflectionless scattering problem (mathematically performed by admitting an identity jumping matrix in the RHP) [39, 104]. By taking special limits of these soliton solutions, one may obtain periodic solutions, lump solutions [94], or even complexiton solutions [95].

The standard procedure of formulating an RHP associated with a scattering problem on the real axis \mathbb{R} runs as follows:

Step 1. One starts from a pair of matrix spectral problems that can be written in the shape of

$$-i\phi_x = U(u,\lambda)\phi, \quad -i\phi_t = V(u,\lambda)\phi,$$
(4.2)

where λ is the spectral parameter, ϕ is an $m \times m$ matrix eigenfunction, u is a (column) vector of potentials, and

$$U(u,\lambda) = U_0(\lambda) + P(u,\lambda), \quad V(u,\lambda) = V_0(\lambda) + P(u,\lambda),$$

with U_0, V_0 being constant commuting (usually diagonal) $m \times m$ matrices, and P, Q being traceless (i.e., trP = trQ = 0). The complex unit *-i* here is introduced to greet the appetite of the direct scattering

method—since this method prefers the solution to the matrix spectral problem has "planar wave" behavior at infinity (on the real line), which is guaranteed by the presence of this -i (could be *i*, too) as well as the fast decreasing of the entries in *p* and *q* described below. The zero curvature equation (if admitted by the system) for this pair of matrix spectral problems (4.2) apparently is

$$U_t - V_x + i[U, V] = 0. (4.3)$$

Step 2. By introducing

$$\phi = \psi E_g, \quad \text{with} \quad E_g = e^{i[U_0(\lambda)x + V_0(\lambda)t]}, \tag{4.4}$$

we can formulate the equivalent matrix spectral problems with respect to another $m \times m$ matrix eigenfunction ψ :

$$\psi_x = i[U_0(\lambda), \psi] + \tilde{P}\psi, \quad \psi_t = i[V_0(\lambda), \psi] + \tilde{Q}\psi, \tag{4.5}$$

where $\tilde{P} = iP$, $\tilde{Q} = iQ$. Such an equivalence is guaranteed by the commutativity of U_0 and V_0 . One of the major advantages of having this equivalent form of a zero curvature equation is that: since $\phi \to E_g$ as $x \to \pm \infty$ (generally, the potential vector u, and so $P(u, \lambda)$ and $Q(u, \lambda)$, are assumed to be rapidly decreasing to 0 as $x \to \pm \infty$; see (4.38) below), the eigenfunction ψ possesses now the more preferable constant asymptotic behavior

$$\psi \to I_m, \quad \text{as} \quad x, t \to \pm \infty,$$

$$(4.6)$$

where I_m is the $m \times m$ identity matrix.

Step 3. From the ψ^{\pm} obtained in Step 2, one then tries to construct two matrix function $Y^{\pm}(x, t, \lambda)$ that are analytical in \mathbb{D}^+ and \mathbb{D}^- , as well as continuous in $\overline{\mathbb{D}}^+$ and $\overline{\mathbb{D}}^-$ (as defined in (4.1)), respectively, to formulate an RHP on the real axis:

$$G^{+}(x,t,\lambda) = G^{-}(x,t,\lambda)G(x,t,\lambda), \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{R},$$
(4.7)

where

$$G^+(x,t,\lambda) = \lim_{\mu \in \mathbb{D}^+, \mu \to \lambda} Y^+(x,t,\mu), \quad (G^-)^{-1}(x,t,\lambda) = \lim_{\mu \in \mathbb{D}^-, \mu \to \lambda} Y^-(x,t,\mu).$$

Step 4. The RHP, when reduced to reflectionless scattering problem (by taking $J = I_m$), can usually be solved to yield soliton solutions by computing the asymptotics of the matrix functions Y^{\pm} (subjected to canonical normalization condition) at $|\lambda| \to \infty$.

Study of solutions to nonlinear evolution equations using the Riemann-Hilbert approach have been reported on a few integrable equations, for instance the multiple wave interaction equations [39], the Harry-Dym equations [96], the general coupled nonlinear Schrödinger equations [97, 98], the generalized SasaSatsuma equation [99], and the coupled multiple nonlinear Schrödinger equations and the coupled mKdV equations [100, 101, 102], etc.

We shall present in this chapter a new class of generalized modified Korteweg-de Vries (mKdV) system and compute *N*-soliton solutions for one special case using the Riemann-Hilbert approach formulated from the inverse scattering transform, by following the steps in Chapter 2 (when solving the matrix spectral problem in zero curvature formulation) and the Steps 1-4 mentioned just above (when formulating and solving the related RHP).

4.1 Matrix spectral problems of a class of generalized modified KdV systems

Let m, n > 0 be arbitrary integers. We shall investigate the following matrix spectral problem

$$-i\phi_x = U(u,\lambda)\phi, \quad U = [U_{ij}]_{(m+n)\times(m+n)} = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_1\lambda I_m & p \\ q & \alpha_2\lambda I_n \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.8)

where λ stands for the spectral parameter, α_1, α_2 are real constants, $p = (p_{ij})_{m \times n}, q = (q_{ij})_{n \times m}$ are submatrices whose entries denote scalar potential components, and u is a column potential vector constructed by arranging all the 2mn entries of p, q in the shape of

$$u = (p_{11}, \dots, p_{1n}, p_{21}, \dots, p_{2n}, \dots, p_{m1}, \dots, p_{mn};$$

$$q_{11}, \dots, q_{n1}, q_{12}, \dots, q_{n2}, \dots, q_{1m}, \dots, q_{nm})^{T}.$$
(4.9)

By following the routine procedures of solving matrix spectral problems to engender the associated integrable hierarchy, we accordingly look for a solution W in the form

$$W = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.10)

to the stationary zero curvature equation $W_x = i[U, W]$, with the submatrices

$$a = (a_{ij})_{m \times m}, \quad b = (b_{ij})_{m \times n}, \quad c = (c_{ij})_{n \times m}, \quad d = (d_{ij})_{n \times n}$$
 (4.11)

being arranged correspondingly. Upon letting $\alpha = \alpha_1 - \alpha_2$, the stationary zero curvature equation is thus equivalently formulated as

$$\begin{cases}
a_x = i(pc - qb), \\
b_x = i(\alpha\lambda b + pd - ap), \\
c_x = i(-\alpha\lambda c + qa - dq), \\
d_x = i(qb - cp).
\end{cases}$$
(4.12)

Then, upon writing W formally as a Laurent series of λ :

$$W = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} W_k \lambda^{-k}, \quad W_k = W_k(u) = \begin{bmatrix} a^{(k)} & b^{(k)} \\ c^{(k)} & d^{(k)} \end{bmatrix}, \quad k \ge 0,$$
(4.13)

one derives immediately the equivalent recursive form of the stationary zero curvature equation:

$$\begin{aligned}
b^{(k+1)} &= \frac{1}{\alpha} [-ib_x^{(k)} - (pd^{(k)} - a^{(k)}p)], \\
c^{(k+1)} &= \frac{1}{\alpha} [ic_x^{(k)} + (qa^{(k)} - d^{(k)}q)], \\
a^{(k+1)}_x &= i(pc^{(k+1)} - b^{(k+1)}q), \\
d^{(k+1)}_x &= i(qb^{(k+1)} - c^{(k+1)}p),
\end{aligned}$$
(4.14)

Upon running Eqn. (4.14), one derives recursively the sequences of submatrices $\{a^{(k)}, b^{(k)}, c^{(k)}, d^{(k)}\}_{k=0}^{\infty}$. Thus by admitting

$$a^{(0)} = \beta_1 I_m, \quad d^{(0)} = \beta_2 I_n, \quad b^{(0)} = c^{(0)T} = (0)_{m \times n},$$
(4.15)

and introducing Lax matrices in size of $(m + n) \times (m + n)$ as follows:

$$V^{(r)} = V^{(r)}(u,\lambda) = (\lambda^{r}W)_{+} = \sum_{k=0}^{r} W_{k}\lambda^{r-k}, \qquad \forall r \ge 1$$
(4.16)

the compatibility conditions, i.e., the zero curvature equations, will straightforwardly yield:

$$U_{t_k} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & p_{t_k} \\ q_{t_k} & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & i\alpha b^{(k+1)} \\ -i\alpha c^{(k+1)} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad k \ge 0.$$
(4.17)

Due to the redundancy of U_{t_k} , as well as the a bit complicated recursion relations (4.14) since b and c are here matrices, we shall use u_{t_k} with u given by (4.9). Through a subtle computation we obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} \bar{c}^{(k+1)} \\ \bar{b}^{(k+1)} \end{pmatrix} = \Psi \begin{pmatrix} \bar{c}^{(k)} \\ \bar{b}^{(k)} \end{pmatrix}, \quad k \ge 0,$$
(4.18)

where

$$\bar{b} = (b_{11}, \dots, b_{1n}, b_{21}, \dots, b_{2n}, \dots, b_{m1}, \dots, b_{mn})^T$$
$$\bar{c} = (c_{11}, \dots, c_{n1}, c_{12}, \dots, c_{n2}, \dots, c_{1m}, \dots, c_{nm})^T$$

and

$$\Psi = \begin{bmatrix} \Psi_{11} & \Psi_{12} \\ \Psi_{21} & \Psi_{22} \end{bmatrix}, \tag{4.19}$$

with $\Psi_{11}, \Psi_{12}, \Psi_{21}$ and Ψ_{22} being $mn \times mn$ submatrices that read

$$\Psi_{11} = \frac{i}{\alpha} \left((\partial + p^T \partial^{-1} q^T) I_n \delta_{jl} + (p_j \partial^{-1} q_l)_{n \times n} \right)_{m \times m},$$

$$\Psi_{12} = -\frac{i}{\alpha} \left(p_l^T \partial^{-1} p_j + [p_l^T \partial^{-1} p_j]^T \right)_{m \times m},$$

$$\Psi_{21} = \frac{i}{\alpha} \left(q_l \partial^{-1} q_j^T + [q_l \partial^{-1} q_j^T]^T \right)_{m \times m},$$

$$\Psi_{22} = -\frac{i}{\alpha} \left((\partial + q \partial^{-1} p) I_n \delta_{jl} + (q_j^T \partial^{-1} p_l^T)_{n \times n} \right)_{m \times m}.$$
(4.20)

It is obvious that here $\Psi_{11}, \Psi_{12}, \Psi_{21}, \Psi_{22}$ are all arranged in terms of $m \times m$ structure, with each entry being an $n \times n$ submatrix. Thus the involved indices $1 \le j, l \le m$ are used to denote that the referred $n \times n$ block is locating on the position of the (j, l)-entry. In addition, for example, p_j and q_l are used to denote the *j*-th row of p and *l*-th column of q, respectively.

We now show that the generalized multicomponent AKNS integrable hierarchy (4.18) possesses a bi-Hamiltonian structure that can be engendered through the trace identity, or in general, the variational identity. Indeed, one can compute for all $1 \le j \le m$ and $1 \le k \le n$ that

$$\frac{\partial U}{\partial \lambda} = \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_1 I_m & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha_2 I_n \end{bmatrix}, \quad \frac{\partial U}{\partial p_{jk}} = \begin{bmatrix} (0)_{m \times m} & (1_{jk})_{m \times n} \\ (0)_{n \times m} & (0)_{n \times n} \end{bmatrix}, \\
\frac{\partial U}{\partial q_{kj}} = \begin{bmatrix} (0)_{m \times m} & (0)_{m \times n} \\ (1_{kj})_{n \times m} & (0)_{n \times n} \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.21)

where (1_{jk}) denotes a matrix with all entries being 0 except only that the (j, k)-entry is 1, and also

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial\lambda}\right) = \alpha_1\operatorname{tr}(a) + \alpha_2\operatorname{tr}(d), \quad \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial p_{jk}}\right) = c_{kj}, \quad \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial q_{kj}}\right) = b_{jk}.$$
 (4.22)

These results are now connected by the trace identity as follows:

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int [\alpha_1 \operatorname{tr}(a) + \alpha_2 \operatorname{tr}(d)] dx = \lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial \bar{p}}\right) \\ \operatorname{tr}\left(W\frac{\partial U}{\partial \bar{q}}\right) \end{pmatrix} = \lambda^{-\gamma} \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda} \lambda^{\gamma} \begin{pmatrix} \bar{c} \\ \bar{b} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (4.23)$$

Through balancing the leading coefficients of all powers of λ , we have

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int [\alpha_1 \sum_{j=1}^m a_{jj}^{(k+1)} + \alpha_2 \sum_{j=1}^n d_{jj}^{(k+1)}] dx = (\gamma - k) \begin{bmatrix} \bar{c}^{(k)} \\ \bar{b}^{(k)} \end{bmatrix}, \quad k \ge 0.$$
(4.24)

The constant γ , since it does not vary with respect to k, can be computed by checking a particular case, say, k = 2; and this gives $\gamma = 0$ (so far $\gamma = 0$ is verified for all $m, n \le 4$; we believe it is 0 for all $m, n \ge 1$, but this requires a proof), thus the above variational identity becomes

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta u} \int \left(-\frac{\alpha_1 \sum_{j=1}^m a_{jj}^{(k+1)} + \alpha_2 \sum_{j=1}^n d_{jj}^{(k+1)}}{k} \right) dx = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{c}^{(k)} \\ \bar{b}^{(k)} \end{bmatrix}, \quad k \ge 1,$$
(4.25)

As an immediate consequence, one can choose the Hamiltonian functionals to be

$$\mathcal{H}_{k} = \int \left(-\frac{\alpha_{1} \sum_{j=1}^{m} a_{jj}^{(k+1)} + \alpha_{2} \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{jj}^{(k+1)}}{k} \right) dx, \quad k \ge 1,$$
(4.26)

and (4.25) can now be reformulated as

$$\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_k}{\delta u} = G_{k-1}, \quad \text{with} \quad G_{k-1} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{c}^{(k)} \\ \bar{b}^{(k)} \end{bmatrix}, \quad k \ge 1.$$
(4.27)

This suggests as a consequence the following bi-Hamiltonian structure for the multi-component AKNS system which was computed above:

$$u_t = K_k = JG_k = J\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_{k+1}}{\delta u} = M\frac{\delta \mathcal{H}_k}{\delta u}, \quad k \ge 1,$$
(4.28)

where the Hamiltonian pair thus reads

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \alpha I_{mn} \\ -\alpha I_{mn} & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.29)

and

$$M = J\Psi = \begin{bmatrix} M_{11} & M_{12} \\ M_{21} & M_{22} \end{bmatrix},$$
 (4.30)

where Ψ is given by (4.20) and thus

$$\begin{cases}
M_{11} = i \left(p_l^T \partial^{-1} p_j + [p_l^T \partial^{-1} p_j]^T \right)_{m \times m}, \\
M_{12} = -i \left((\partial + p^T \partial^{-1} q^T) I_n \delta_{jl} + (p_j \partial^{-1} q_l)_{n \times n} \right)_{m \times m}, \\
M_{21} = -i \left((\partial + q \partial^{-1} p) I_n \delta_{jl} + (q_j^T \partial^{-1} p_l^T)_{n \times n} \right)_{m \times m}, \\
M_{22} = i \left(q_l \partial^{-1} q_j^T + [q_l \partial^{-1} q_j^T]^T \right)_{m \times m}.
\end{cases}$$
(4.31)

where the indices j, l are interpreted in a similar manner as that in (4.20). Thus, we know that the operator $\Phi = \Psi^{\dagger} = MJ^{-1}$ is a recursion operator for the entire hierarchy (4.28).

4.2 Riemann-Hilbert problems

We shall work on in this section a special case of the integrable hierarchy discussed above, i.e., we shall choose m = n = 2, which corresponds to a special generalized modified KdV system with 8 potentials (since m = n in this case, the determinants det p and det q, as well as the cofactors of the entries of the submatrices p and q, will make sense). By letting $\beta = \beta_1 - \beta_2$, and

$$\bar{p} = (p_{11}, p_{12}, p_{21}, p_{22})^T, \quad \bar{q} = (q_{11}, q_{21}, q_{12}, q_{22})^T,$$
(4.32)

the first two nonlinear integrable systems of this hierarchy (4.18) can be written down for all $1 \le r, j \le 2$ as:

$$p_{rj,t} = \frac{-i\beta}{\alpha^2} [p_{rj,xx} + 2(\bar{p}^T \bar{q}) p_{rj} - 2C_{rj}(q) \det p],$$
(4.33a)

$$q_{rj,t} = \frac{i\beta}{\alpha^2} [q_{rj,xx} + 2(\bar{p}^T \bar{q})q_{rj} - 2C_{rj}(p)\det q],$$
(4.33b)

and

$$p_{rj,t} = -\frac{\beta}{\alpha^3} [p_{rj,xxx} + 3(\bar{p}^T \bar{q}) p_{rj,x} + 3(\bar{p}_x^T \bar{q}) p_{rj} - 3C_{rj}(q) (\det p)_x],$$
(4.34a)

$$q_{rj,t} = -\frac{\beta}{\alpha^3} [q_{rj,xxx} + 3(\bar{p}^T \bar{q})q_{rj,x} + 3(\bar{p}^T \bar{q}_x)q_{rj} - 3C_{rj}(p)(\det q)_x].$$
(4.34b)

where $C_{ij}(p)$, $C_{ij}(q)$ are the (i, j)-cofactors of p, q, respectively.

Based on the results obtained in the previous section, the matrix spectral problems of the 8-component mKdV system (4.34a), (4.34b) is indeed

$$-i\phi_x = U\phi = U(u,\lambda)\phi, \quad -i\phi_t = V^{[3]}\phi = V^{[3]}(u,\lambda)\phi,$$
 (4.35)

where the Lax pair reads

$$U = \lambda \Lambda + P, \quad V^{[3]} = \lambda^3 \Omega + Q, \tag{4.36}$$

with $\Lambda = \operatorname{diag}(\alpha_1 I_m, \alpha_2 I_n)$, $\Omega = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1 I_m, \beta_2 I_n)$, and

$$P = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & p \\ q & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad Q = \begin{bmatrix} a^{(1)}\lambda^2 + a^{(2)}\lambda + a^{(3)} & b^{(1)}\lambda^2 + b^{(2)}\lambda + b^{(3)} \\ c^{(1)}\lambda^2 + c^{(2)}\lambda + c^{(3)} & d^{(1)}\lambda^2 + d^{(2)}\lambda + d^{(3)} \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.37)

where $a^{(k)}, b^{(k)}, c^{(k)}, d^{(k)}$ $(1 \le k \le 3)$ are determined recursively from (4.14).

From now on throughout the context below in the chapter we shall concentrate our attention on this 8-component mKdV system (4.34a) & (4.34b); and in this section, we shall study the direct and inverse scatterings for this system using the Riemann-Hilbert approach. The yielded results will be called in the following section for computing soliton solutions. To make issues consistent, without loss of generality we apply the assumptions $\alpha = \alpha_1 - \alpha_2 > 0$ and $\beta = \beta_1 - \beta_2 > 0$ for sake of convenience. Also we assume that

all the potentials (i.e., all the entries in the submatrices p and q) are rapidly decreasing functions in Schwartz space, i.e., for all $1 \le k \le m$ and $1 \le l \le n$,

$$\sup_{0 \le t < \infty, x \in \mathbb{R}} |x|^{m_1} |t|^{m_2} \left(\left| \frac{\partial^{n_1}}{\partial x^{n_1}} \frac{\partial^{n_2}}{\partial t^{n_2}} p_{kl} \right| + \left| \frac{\partial^{n_1}}{\partial x^{n_1}} \frac{\partial^{n_2}}{\partial t^{n_2}} q_{lk} \right| \right) < \infty, \quad m_1, m_2, n_1, n_2 \ge 0.$$

$$(4.38)$$

By the above rapidly-decreasing assumption, from the matrix problems (4.35) we obtain the asymptotic behavior of $\phi \sim e^{i\lambda\Lambda x + i\lambda^3\Omega t}$ as $x, t \to \pm \infty$. Thus, through the variable transformation

$$\phi = \psi E_g, \quad E_g = e^{i\lambda\Lambda x + i\lambda^3\Omega t}$$

we achieve to have the canonical normalization $\psi \to I_4$, when $x, t \to \pm \infty$. By introducing $\tilde{P} = iP$ and $\tilde{Q} = iQ$, the matrix spectral problem (4.35) is converted equivalently into

$$\psi_x = i\lambda[\Lambda, \psi] + \tilde{P}\psi, \tag{4.39a}$$

$$\psi_t = i\lambda^3[\Omega, \psi] + \tilde{Q}\psi. \tag{4.39b}$$

Let us now formulate the corresponding RHP with respect to x. In the direct scattering problem, we first introduce the two matrix solutions ψ^+ and ψ^- of (4.39a) characterized by the asymptotic behavior

$$\psi^{\pm} \to I_4, \quad \text{as } x \to \pm \infty,$$
 (4.40)

respectively. The above superscripts indicates to which end of the x-axis these boundary conditions are imposed. By the Liouville's formula in ODE theory, it follows then from (4.39a) and (4.39b) (in particular because \tilde{P} and \tilde{Q} are both traceless) that det $\psi^+ = \det \psi^- \equiv 1$ everywhere on the real line. Since

$$\phi^{\pm} = \psi^{\pm} E, \quad E = e^{i\lambda\Lambda x},\tag{4.41}$$

are both solutions of (4.35) (which is of first order), they are linearly dependent, i.e. $\psi^- E$ and $\psi^+ E$ can be associated with each other in terms of

$$\psi^{-}E = \psi^{+}ES(\lambda), \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{R},$$
(4.42)

via the so-called scattering matrix $S(\lambda) = (s_{jk})_{4 \times 4}$. It follows immediately at this moment that det $\psi^{\pm} \equiv 1$ implies det $S(\lambda) \equiv 1$.

One derives based on (4.39a) that

$$\begin{split} \psi_x - i\lambda[\Lambda, \psi] &= \tilde{P}\psi \\ \Rightarrow \mathrm{e}^{-i\lambda\Lambda x}(\psi_x - i\lambda[\Lambda, \psi])\mathrm{e}^{i\lambda\Lambda x} = \mathrm{e}^{-i\lambda\Lambda x}\tilde{P}\psi\mathrm{e}^{i\lambda\Lambda x} \\ \Rightarrow \frac{d}{dx} \big(\mathrm{e}^{-i\lambda\Lambda x}\psi\mathrm{e}^{i\lambda\Lambda x}\big) = \mathrm{e}^{-i\lambda\Lambda x}\tilde{P}\psi\mathrm{e}^{i\lambda\Lambda x}, \end{split}$$
from which we naturally realize that we can convert the spatial part of the matrix spectral problem (4.39a) into the Volterra integral equations for ψ^+ and ψ^- :

$$\psi^{-}(\lambda, x) = I_4 + \int_{-\infty}^{x} e^{i\lambda\Lambda(x-x')} \tilde{P}(x')\psi^{-}(\lambda, x')e^{i\lambda\Lambda(x'-x)}dx', \qquad (4.43a)$$

$$\psi^{+}(\lambda, x) = I_4 - \int_x^{\infty} e^{i\lambda\Lambda(x-x')} \tilde{P}(x')\psi^{+}(\lambda, x')e^{i\lambda\Lambda(x'-x)}dx', \qquad (4.43b)$$

where the boundary condition (4.40) here takes effect. In order to extend ψ^+ and ψ^- analytically off the real axis, one necessarily has to perform a spectral analysis for (4.43a) and (4.43b) w.r.t. λ , i.e., to study the behavior of convergence of the integrals on the right hand sides. Recalling that $\alpha > 0$ and Λ is diagonal, we can directly find that the integrands of the integral equations for the third and fourth columns of ψ^- contain only the exponential factor $e^{-\alpha\lambda_2(x-x')}$, which attenuates as long as $\lambda = \lambda_1 + i\lambda_2 \in \mathbb{D}^+$, since $x' \leq x$ in the integral of (4.43a). So do the first and second columns of ψ^+ because the involved integrands contain only the factor $e^{\alpha\lambda_2(x-x')}$ and $x' \geq x$ in the integral of (4.43b). This implies that the columns mentioned above are analytically continuable to \mathbb{D}^+ . Likewise, we conclude that the first two columns of ψ^- and the last two columns of ψ^+ are analytically continuable to \mathbb{D}^- .

Or to put it more exactly, the idea involved in the spectral analysis is to classify the columns or rows in ψ^+ and ψ^- , and rearrange them according to their behavior of convergence in \mathbb{D}^+ and \mathbb{D}^- . If we denote

$$\psi^{+} = (\psi_{1}^{+}, \psi_{2}^{+}, \psi_{3}^{+}, \psi_{4}^{+}), \quad \psi^{-} = (\psi_{1}^{-}, \psi_{2}^{-}, \psi_{3}^{-}, \psi_{4}^{-})$$
(4.44)

with ψ_j^{\pm} standing for the *j*th column of ψ^{\pm} ($1 \le j \le 4$), then the re-assembled matrix solution

$$Y^{+} = Y^{+}(x,\lambda) = (\psi_{1}^{+},\psi_{2}^{+},\psi_{3}^{-},\psi_{4}^{-}) = \psi^{+}H_{1} + \psi^{-}H_{2}$$
(4.45)

is analytic for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}^+$, whereas the other re-assembled matrix solution

$$(\psi_1^-, \psi_2^-, \psi_3^+, \psi_4^+) = \psi^- H_1 + \psi^+ H_2$$
(4.46)

is analytic for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}^-$, where

$$H_1 = \text{diag}(1, 1, 0, 0), \quad H_2 = \text{diag}(0, 0, 1, 1).$$
 (4.47)

Moreover, from the Volterra integral equation (4.43a), (4.43b), we see that

$$Y^+(x,\lambda) \to I_4$$
, when $|\lambda| \to \infty$ in \mathbb{D}^+ , (4.48)

and

$$(\psi_1^-, \psi_2^-, \psi_3^+, \psi_4^+) \to I_4, \quad \text{when } |\lambda| \to \infty \text{ in } \mathbb{D}^-.$$

$$(4.49)$$

We still have to construct the analytic counterpart of Y^+ in \mathbb{D}^- from the adjoint counterparts of the matrix spectral problems. Considering that for a matrix A depending on x,

$$(AA^{-1})_x = A_x A^{-1} + AA_x^{-1} = 0, \quad \Rightarrow \quad A_x^{-1} = -A^{-1}A_x A^{-1},$$

let now $\tilde{\phi}^{\pm} = (\phi^{\pm})^{-1}$ and $\tilde{\psi}^{\pm} = (\psi^{\pm})^{-1}$, the adjoint equation of the *x*-part of (4.35) and the adjoint equation of (4.39a) can be derived to be

$$i\tilde{\phi}_x = i(-\tilde{\phi}\phi_x\tilde{\phi}) = i(-\tilde{\phi}iU\phi\tilde{\phi}) = \tilde{\phi}U, \qquad (4.50)$$

and

$$\begin{split} i\tilde{\psi}_x &= -i\tilde{\psi}\psi_x\tilde{\psi} = -i\tilde{\psi}(i\lambda[\Lambda,\psi] + \tilde{P}\psi)\tilde{\psi} \\ &= \lambda\tilde{\psi}(\Lambda\psi - \psi\Lambda)\tilde{\psi} - i\tilde{\psi}\tilde{P} \\ &= \lambda(\tilde{\psi}\Lambda - \Lambda\psi) + \tilde{\psi}P \\ &= \lambda[\tilde{\psi},\Lambda] + +\tilde{\psi}P, \end{split}$$
(4.51)

respectively.

Note that $\tilde{\phi}^{\pm}$ and $\tilde{\psi^{\pm}}$ solve (4.50) and (4.51), respectively. Upon expressing $\tilde{\psi^{\pm}}$ as

$$\tilde{\psi^{\pm}} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\psi^{\pm,1}} \\ \tilde{\psi^{\pm,2}} \\ \tilde{\psi^{\pm,3}}, \\ \tilde{\psi^{\pm,4}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (4.52)$$

with $\psi^{\tilde{\pm},j}$ standing for the *j*th row of $\psi^{\tilde{\pm}}$ $(1 \leq j \leq 4)$, we can verify by similar arguments that the adjoint matrix solution

$$Y^{-} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\psi}^{+,1} \\ \tilde{\psi}^{+,2} \\ \tilde{\psi}^{-,3} \\ \tilde{\psi}^{-,4} \end{pmatrix} = H_1 \tilde{\psi}^+ + H_2 \tilde{\psi}^- = H_1 (\psi^+)^{-1} + H_2 (\psi^-)^{-1}$$
(4.53)

is analytic for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}^-$, and the matrix solution

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\psi}^{-,1} \\ \tilde{\psi}^{-,2} \\ \tilde{\psi}^{+,3}, \\ \tilde{\psi}^{+,4} \end{pmatrix} = H_1 \tilde{\psi}^- + H_2 \tilde{\psi}^+ = H_1 (\psi^-)^{-1} + H_2 (\psi^+)^{-1}$$
(4.54)

is analytic for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}^+$. Pretty similarly, it applies also that

$$Y^{-}(x,\lambda) \to I_4, \quad \text{as } |\lambda| \to \infty \text{ in } \mathbb{D}^-,$$
(4.55)

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\psi}^{-,1} \\ \tilde{\psi}^{-,2} \\ \tilde{\psi}^{+,3}, \\ \tilde{\psi}^{+,4} \end{pmatrix} \to I_4, , \quad \text{as } |\lambda| \to \infty \text{ in } \mathbb{D}^+.$$

$$(4.56)$$

We have so far constructed the two matrix functions, Y^+ and Y^- , which are analytic in \mathbb{D}^+ and \mathbb{D}^- , respectively. Now define for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$

$$G^{+}(x,\lambda) = \lim_{\mu \in \mathbb{D}^{+}, \mu \to \lambda} Y^{+}(x,\mu), \quad G^{-}(x,\lambda) = \lim_{\nu \in \mathbb{D}^{-}, \nu \to \lambda} Y^{-}(x,\nu),$$
(4.57)

we can directly show that the two matrix functions G^+ and G^- are related on the real line \mathbb{R} by

$$G^{-}(x,\lambda)G^{+}(x,\lambda) = G(x,\lambda), \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{R},$$
(4.58)

where by (4.42), it follows that for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$G(x,\lambda) = G^{-}(x,\lambda)G^{+}(x,\lambda)$$

$$= \lim_{\nu \in \mathbb{D}^{-}, \nu \to \lambda} Y^{-}(x,\nu) \cdot \lim_{\mu \in \mathbb{D}^{+}, \mu \to \lambda} Y^{+}(x,\mu)$$

$$= \lim_{\nu \in \mathbb{D}^{-}, \nu \to \lambda} (H_{1}(\psi^{+})^{-1} + H_{2}(\psi^{-})^{-1}) \cdot \lim_{\mu \in \mathbb{D}^{+}, \mu \to \lambda} (\psi^{+}H_{1} + \psi^{-}H_{2})$$

$$= E(H_{1} + H_{2}S^{-1}(\lambda))(H_{1} + S(\lambda)H_{2})E^{-1}$$

$$= E\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & s_{13} & s_{14} \\ 0 & 1 & s_{23} & s_{24} \\ \hat{s}_{31} & \hat{s}_{32} & 1 & 0 \\ \hat{s}_{41} & \hat{s}_{42} & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} E^{-1}.$$
(4.59)

Note that $S^{-1}(\lambda) = (S(\lambda))^{-1} = (\hat{s}_{jk})_{4 \times 4}$. The equations (4.58) and (4.59) are precisely the associated matrix Riemann-Hilbert problems one would like to build for the 8-component mKdV system (4.34a), (4.34b). The asymptotic behavior

$$Y^{\pm}(x,\lambda) \to I_4, \quad \text{when } |\lambda| \to \infty \text{ in } \mathbb{D}^{\pm}$$
 (4.60)

is certainly consistent with the canonical normalization conditions

$$G^{\pm}(x,\lambda), G(x,\lambda) \to I_4, \quad \text{when } \lambda \in \mathbb{R}, |\lambda| \to \infty,$$
(4.61)

for the Riemann-Hilbert problems constructed above.

The direct scattering transform achieves it mission by obtaining the temporal evolution of the scattering matrix. So let's work out the derivative of (4.42) with respect to t and apply to it the condition that the potentials vanish at infinity of t. It can be thus derived that the time evolution of the scattering matrix S is governed by (observing that in this system, the matrices E and Ω are commutative):

$$(\psi^{-}E)_{t} = (\psi^{+}ES)_{t}, \quad \text{i.e.} \quad \psi_{t}^{-}E = \psi_{t}^{+}ES + \psi^{+}ES_{t},$$

$$\Rightarrow (i\lambda^{3}[\Omega,\psi^{-}] + \tilde{Q}\psi^{-})E = (i\lambda^{3}[\Omega,\psi^{+}] + \tilde{Q}\psi^{+})ES + \psi^{+}ES_{t},$$

$$\Rightarrow i\lambda^{3}(\Omega\psi^{-} - \psi^{-}\Omega)E = i\lambda^{3}(\Omega\psi^{+} - \psi^{+}\Omega)ES + \psi^{+}ES_{t},$$

$$\Rightarrow -i\lambda^{3}\psi^{-}E\Omega = -i\lambda^{3}\psi^{+}E\Omega S + \psi^{+}ES_{t},$$

$$\Rightarrow -i\lambda^{3}\psi^{+}ES\Omega = -i\lambda^{3}\psi^{+}E\Omega S + \psi^{+}ES_{t},$$

$$\Rightarrow S_{t} = i\lambda^{3}[\Omega, S]. \qquad (4.62)$$

From this first-order linear matrix differential equation all the individual scattering coefficients of S can be solved as:

$$s_{13} = s_{13}(\lambda, 0)e^{i\beta\lambda^{3}t}, \quad s_{14} = s_{14}(\lambda, 0)e^{i\beta\lambda^{3}t},$$

$$s_{23} = s_{23}(\lambda, 0)e^{i\beta\lambda^{3}t}, \quad s_{24} = s_{24}(\lambda, 0)e^{i\beta\lambda^{3}t},$$

$$s_{31} = s_{31}(\lambda, 0)e^{-i\beta\lambda^{3}t}, \quad s_{41} = s_{41}(\lambda, 0)e^{-i\beta\lambda^{3}t},$$

$$s_{32} = s_{32}(\lambda, 0)e^{-i\beta\lambda^{3}t}, \quad s_{42} = s_{42}(\lambda, 0)e^{-i\beta\lambda^{3}t},$$
(4.63)

whereas all other scattering coefficients do not vary with t and hence are functions of λ only.

4.3 Soliton solutions

It is inevitable that we often encounter Riemann-Hilbert problems in which det Y^+ and det Y^- have zeros. The most effective way of handling such RHPs is to transform them into the ones without zeros. However, if the numbers of zeros of det Y^+ and det Y^- are not the same, the canonical normalization conditions are no longer guaranteed in such an transformation—which implies that this RHP is not solvable. Only when det Y^+ and det Y^- have the same numebrs of simple zeros which are all specified, we can confidently say that this RHP can be uniquely solved [105, 106, 107].

Based on det $\psi^{\pm} = 1$, it follows from the definitions of Y^{\pm} and det S = 1 that

$$\det Y^{+} = s_{44}(\lambda)s_{33}(\lambda) - s_{34}(\lambda)s_{43}(\lambda) = \hat{s}_{11}(\lambda)\hat{s}_{22}(\lambda) - \hat{s}_{12}(\lambda)\hat{s}_{21}(\lambda),$$
$$\det Y^{-} = \hat{s}_{44}(\lambda)\hat{s}_{33}(\lambda) - \hat{s}_{34}(\lambda)\hat{s}_{43}(\lambda) = s_{11}(\lambda)s_{22}(\lambda) - s_{12}(\lambda)s_{21}(\lambda).$$

Let N > 0 be another integer and assume that det Y^+ has N roots $\lambda_k \in \mathbb{D}^+$, and det Y^- has N roots $\hat{\lambda}_k \in \mathbb{D}^-, 1 \le k \le N$. To generate simple soliton solutions, we assume also that all the zeros, λ_k and $\hat{\lambda}_k$ $(1 \le k \le N)$, are simple. Therefore, every ker $Y^+(\lambda_k)$ $(1 \le k \le N)$ contains merely a single basis column vector, denoted by w_k ; for the same reason there is merely a single basis row vector, \hat{w}_k $(1 \le k \le N)$, contained in every ker $Y^-(\hat{\lambda}_k)$:

$$Y^{+}(\lambda_{k})w_{k} = 0, \quad \hat{w}_{k}Y^{-}(\hat{\lambda}_{k}) = 0, \qquad 1 \le k \le N.$$
 (4.64)

The RHPs formulated by (4.58) and (4.59), with the canonical normalization conditions in (4.61) and the zero structures in (4.64) can be explicitly solved so as to work out the potential matrix P. Note that Y^+ solves the matrix spectral problem (4.39a). Hence, by expanding Y^+ at large λ as [39, 105]

$$Y^+(x,\lambda) = I_4 + \lambda^{-1} Y_1^+(x) + \mathbf{O}(\lambda^{-2}), \quad \lambda \to \infty,$$

and substituting this series expansion into (4.39a), the comparison of the O(1) terms will give

$$\ddot{P} = -i[\Lambda, Y_1^+].$$
 (4.65)

This is equivalent to retrieving the potential matrix as:

$$P = -[\Lambda, Y_1^+] = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & -\alpha(Y_1^+)_{13} & -\alpha(Y_1^+)_{14} \\ 0 & 0 & -\alpha(Y_1^+)_{23} & -\alpha(Y_1^+)_{24} \\ \alpha(Y_1^+)_{31} & \alpha(Y_1^+)_{32} & 0 & 0 \\ \alpha(Y_1^+)_{41} & \alpha(Y_1^+)_{42} & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (4.66)

Alternatively, the matrix P can also be retrieved by expanding $Y^{-}(x, \lambda)$ as

$$Y^{-}(x,\lambda) = I_4 + \lambda^{-1} Y_1^{-}(x) + \mathbf{O}(\lambda^{-2}), \quad \lambda \to \infty,$$

and then substituting it into the adjoint equation (4.51), to yield

$$P = [\Lambda, Y_1^-]. \tag{4.67}$$

That is to say, the 8 potentials in submatrices p and q can be retrieved from Y^+ or Y^- as follows:

$$p_{11} = -\alpha(Y_1^+)_{13} = \alpha(Y_1^-)_{13}, \quad p_{12} = -\alpha(Y_1^+)_{14} = \alpha(Y_1^-)_{14},$$

$$p_{21} = -\alpha(Y_1^+)_{23} = \alpha(Y_1^-)_{23}, \quad p_{22} = -\alpha(Y_1^+)_{24} = \alpha(Y_1^-)_{24},$$

$$q_{11} = \alpha(Y_1^+)_{31} = -\alpha(Y_1^-)_{31}, \quad q_{12} = \alpha(Y_1^+)_{32} = -\alpha(Y_1^-)_{32},$$

$$q_{21} = \alpha(Y_1^+)_{41} = -\alpha(Y_1^-)_{41}, \quad q_{22} = \alpha(Y_1^+)_{42} = -\alpha(Y_1^-)_{42}.$$
(4.68)

We make a short pause here to elucidate briefly about how an RHP is solved. First of all, if det Y^{\pm} do not have zeros in \mathbb{D}^+ and \mathbb{D}^- , the RHP is said to be **regular** (it is worthwhile to mention that in case of a regular RHP, $G^-(x,\lambda)G^+(x,\lambda) = G(x,\lambda)$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ can be equivalently reformulated as $\hat{G}^+(x,\lambda) =$ $\hat{G}^-(x,\lambda)G(x,\lambda)$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, where $\hat{G}^+(x,\lambda) = G^+(x,\lambda)$ and $\hat{G}^-(x,\lambda) = (G^-)^{-1}(x,\lambda)$ —since G^- is invertible due to the regularity). A regular RHP subjected to the canonical normalization condition is proved [104] to be uniquely solvable in the light of complex analysis (in particular the Liouville's theorem, or its alternative—the so-called **Vanishing Lemma** [24]), and the solution can be formally expressed in terms of the Plemelj formula.

If however as indicated above, in case $N \ge 1$, such an RHP is said to be **nonregular**. The idea of solving nonregular RHPs is simply to convert them into regular ones. We introduce now the matrix

$$\Gamma(\lambda) = \Gamma_N(\lambda)\Gamma_{N-1}(\lambda)\dots\Gamma_1, \qquad (4.69)$$

where

$$\Gamma_k(\lambda) = I - \frac{\lambda_k - \hat{\lambda}_k}{\lambda - \hat{\lambda}_k} P_k, \quad 1 \le k \le N.$$
(4.70)

Here $P_k = \frac{|w_k\rangle \langle \hat{w}_k|}{\langle \hat{w}_k | w_k \rangle}$ is a projection operator, where to distinguish between the column vector w_k and the row vector \hat{w}_k , we have used the Dirac bra-ket notation $|w_k\rangle$ and $\langle \hat{w}_k|$. It is easy to check that $P_k^2 = P_k$. It is also direct to show that

$$\Gamma^{-1}(\lambda) = \Gamma_1^{-1}(\lambda)\Gamma_2^{-1}(\lambda)\dots\Gamma_N^{-1}(\lambda), \qquad (4.71)$$

where

$$\Gamma_k^{-1}(\lambda) = I - \frac{\hat{\lambda}_k - \lambda_k}{\lambda - \lambda_k} P_k, \quad 1 \le k \le N.$$
(4.72)

Let now $\tilde{Y}^+(\lambda) = Y^+(\lambda)\Gamma^{-1}(\lambda)$ and $\tilde{Y}^-(\lambda) = \Gamma(\lambda)Y^-(\lambda)$. Using complex analysis (e.g., residue thereoem) one straightforwardly proves that $\tilde{Y}^+(\lambda)$ and $\tilde{Y}^-(\lambda)$ are analytic in \mathbb{D}^+ and \mathbb{D}^- , respectively; and det $\tilde{Y}^+(\lambda)$ and det $\tilde{Y}^-(\lambda)$ no longer vanish at their original zeros—since, say, the zero λ_k in $Y^+(\lambda)$ is canceled out by $\lambda - \lambda_k$ living on the denominator in $\Gamma_k^{-1}(\lambda)$; the situation is likewise for $Y^-(\lambda)$ and $\Gamma(\lambda)$.

At this moment one can readily show that the original RHP can now be reformulated into

$$\tilde{G}^{-}(x,\lambda)\tilde{G}^{+}(x,\lambda) = \tilde{G}(x,\lambda), \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{R},$$
(4.73)

where for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\tilde{G}^{+}(x,\lambda) = \lim_{\mu \in \mathbb{D}^{+}, \mu \to \lambda} \tilde{Y}^{+}(x,\mu), \quad \tilde{G}^{-}(x,\lambda) = \lim_{\nu \in \mathbb{D}^{-}, \nu \to \lambda} \tilde{Y}^{-}(x,\nu),$$
(4.74)

and

$$\tilde{G}(x,\lambda) = \Gamma^{-1}(\lambda)G(x,\lambda)\Gamma(\lambda).$$
(4.75)

Based on the arguments above, $\tilde{G}^+(x,\lambda)$ and $\tilde{G}^-(x,\lambda)$ do not have zeros in \mathbb{D}^+ and \mathbb{D}^- , respectively. Therefore the original nonregular RHP is thus reduced to a regular one.

We admit now $G = I_4$ in the Riemann-Hilbert problem (4.58) in order to calculate soliton solutions. One accomplishes this by setting $s_{13} = \hat{s}_{31} = s_{14} = \hat{s}_{41} = s_{23} = \hat{s}_{32} = s_{24} = \hat{s}_{42} = 0$, which corresponds to a reflectioless scattering problem. Following the above spirits, it is already verified that the solutions to the reduced Riemann-Hilbert problem can be explicitly written down as [39, 105, 104]

$$Y^{+}(\lambda) = I_{4} - \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \frac{w_{k}(M^{-1})_{kl}\hat{w}_{l}}{\lambda - \hat{\lambda}_{l}}, \quad Y^{-}(\lambda) = I_{4} + \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \frac{w_{k}(M^{-1})_{kl}\hat{w}_{l}}{\lambda - \lambda_{l}}, \quad (4.76)$$

where the entries of the square matrix $M = (m_{kl})_{N \times N}$ are computed through

$$m_{kl} = \frac{\hat{w}_k w_l}{\lambda_l - \hat{\lambda}_k}, \quad 1 \le k, l \le N.$$
(4.77)

The fact that the zeros λ_k and $\hat{\lambda}_k$ are space and time independent helps us to work out the evolutions with respect to space and time for the kernel vectors $w_k(x,t)$ and $\hat{w}_k(x,t)$ $(1 \le k \le N)$ routinely. Let's take, say, the first set of equations in (4.64), and compute its x-derivative. Recalling (4.39a) and (4.64), we obtain

$$Y^{+}(\lambda_{k}, x)\left(\frac{dw_{k}}{dx} - i\lambda_{k}\Lambda w_{k}\right) = 0, \quad 1 \le k \le N.$$
(4.78)

It thus implies that for each $1 \le k \le N$, $\frac{dw_k}{dx} - i\lambda_k\Lambda w_k$ lives in the kernel of $Y^+(\lambda_k, x)$ and hence must be a constant multiple of w_k , i.e., in general,

$$\frac{dw_k}{dx} - i\lambda_k\Lambda w_k = \alpha_k(x)w_k, \quad 1 \le k \le N,$$
(4.79)

where $\alpha_k(x)$ is a scalar function depending on x only, from which one obtains the solution

$$w_k(x) = e^{i\lambda_k\Lambda(x-x_0)} w_{k_0} e^{\int_{x_0}^x \alpha_k(s)ds}, \quad v_{k_0} = v_k|_{x=x_0}$$

One finds that once the above $w_k(x)$ goes back into the formulae (4.76) and (4.77), the term $e^{\int_{x_0}^x \alpha_k(s)ds}$ cancels out and becomes immaterial. Hence, without loss of generality we are happy to use here the simplest case, i.e.,

$$\frac{dw_k}{dx} = i\lambda_k\Lambda w_k, \quad 1 \le k \le N.$$
(4.80)

Pretty similarly, one obtains the time dependence of w_k

$$\frac{dw_k}{dt} = i\lambda_k^3 \Omega w_k, \quad 1 \le k \le N, \tag{4.81}$$

by playing the same trick upon the t-part of the matrix spectral problem. We obtain therefore

$$w_k(x,t) = e^{i\lambda_k\Lambda x + i\lambda_k^3\Omega t} w_{k,0}, \quad 1 \le k \le N,$$
(4.82a)

$$\hat{w}_k(x,t) = \hat{w}_{k,0} \mathbf{e}^{i\lambda_k \Lambda x + i\lambda_k^3 \Omega t}, \quad 1 \le k \le N,$$
(4.82b)

where $w_{k,0}$ and $\hat{w}_{k,0}$ are constant column and row vectors, respectively.

Eventually, through (4.68) we conclude

$$Y_1^+ = -\sum_{k,l=1}^N w_k (M^{-1})_{kl} \hat{w}_l.$$
(4.83)

And in turn through the results we obtained above in (4.76), the N-soliton solution to our 8-component mKdV system can be represented by

$$p_{rj} = \alpha \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} w_{k,r} (M^{-1})_{kl} \hat{w}_{l,j+2}, \quad q_{rj} = -\alpha \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} w_{k,r+2} (M^{-1})_{kl} \hat{w}_{l,j}, \quad (4.84)$$

where $1 \le r, j \le 2, w_k = (w_{k,1}, w_{k,2}, w_{k,3}, w_{k,4})^T$ and $\hat{w}_k = (\hat{w}_{k,1}, \hat{w}_{k,2}, \hat{w}_{k,3}, \hat{w}_{k,4})$ $(1 \le k \le N)$ are given by (4.82a) and (4.82b), respectively.

4.4 Reductions

We make a specific reduction by applying the following constraints to the potential matrix P:

$$P^{\dagger} = CPC^{-1}, \quad C = \begin{bmatrix} \Sigma_1 & 0\\ 0 & \Sigma_2 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (4.85)$$

where the application of \dagger produces the Hermitian transpose of a matrix and $\Sigma_{1,2}$ are 2×2 constant Hermitian symmetric matrices: $\Sigma_{1,2}^{\dagger} = \Sigma_{1,2}$. Below we shall denote the complex conjugate of a complex number z by \bar{z} ; and for a matrix B depending on the spectral parameter λ , we denote the Hermitian transpose of $B(\lambda)$ by $B^{\dagger}(\bar{\lambda})$, the inverse of $B(\bar{\lambda})$ by $B^{-1}(\bar{\lambda})$, respectively; i.e., $B^{\dagger}(\bar{\lambda}) = (B(\lambda))^{\dagger}$ and $B^{-1}(\bar{\lambda}) = (B(\bar{\lambda}))^{-1}$.

Let $\psi(\lambda)$ be a matrix eigenfunction of (4.39a). One can easily prove that both matrix adjoint eigenfunctions $C\psi^{-1}(\bar{\lambda})$ and $\psi^{\dagger}(\bar{\lambda})C$ solve the adjoint equation (4.51) associated with the eigenvalue $\bar{\lambda}$. Upon noticing the asymptotic behavior of ψ^{\pm} as $\lambda \to \infty$, the uniqueness of solution therefore guarantees that for either $\psi = \psi^+$ or $\psi = \psi^-$,

$$C\psi^{-1}(\bar{\lambda}) = \psi^{\dagger}(\bar{\lambda})C \quad \Rightarrow \quad \psi^{\dagger}(\bar{\lambda}) = C\psi^{-1}(\bar{\lambda})C^{-1}.$$
(4.86)

Moreover, one derives also from the definitions of Y^{\pm} that the so-called involution relation can be constructed between Y^+ and Y^- :

$$(Y^+)^{\dagger}(\bar{\lambda}) = CY^-(\bar{\lambda})C^{-1},$$
(4.87)

as well as between the scattering matrix $S(\lambda)$ and its inverse (likewise by definition):

$$S^{\dagger}(\bar{\lambda}) = CS^{-1}(\bar{\lambda})C^{-1}.$$
(4.88)

For the zeros of det Y^{\pm} , starting from (4.87) one can show that

$$det(Y^+)^{\dagger}(\bar{\lambda}) = det \, CY^-(\bar{\lambda})C^{-1}, \quad \Rightarrow det(Y^+(\lambda))^{\dagger} = det \, Y^-(\bar{\lambda}),$$
$$\Rightarrow \overline{det \, Y^+(\lambda)} = det \, Y^-(\bar{\lambda}),$$

from which it follows immediately that under the reduction given by (4.85), det $Y^+(\lambda) = 0$ if and only if det $Y^-(\bar{\lambda}) = 0$; or in another word under this reduction one fabulously associates λ_k and $\bar{\lambda}_k$ in terms of

$$\hat{\lambda}_k = \bar{\lambda}_k, \quad 1 \le k \le N. \tag{4.89}$$

We now compute the Hermitian transpose of the first equation in (4.64) in order to obtain the involution eigenvectors v_k and \hat{v}_k with the existence of (4.87) and (4.89):

$$Y^{+}(\lambda_{k})w_{k} = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad 0 = w_{k}^{\dagger}(Y^{+}(\lambda_{k}))^{\dagger} = w_{k}^{\dagger}CY^{-}(\bar{\lambda}_{k})C^{-1}, \quad 1 \le k \le N.$$
(4.90)

It is implied in the above result that the involution eigenvectors can be written for all $1 \le k \le N$ as:

$$w_k(x,t) = e^{i\lambda_k\Lambda x + i\lambda_k^3\Omega t} w_{k,0}, \quad \hat{w}_k(x,t) = w_k^{\dagger}C = w_{k,0}^{\dagger} e^{-i\bar{\lambda}_k\Lambda x - i\bar{\lambda}_k^3\Omega t}C,$$
(4.91)

where $v_{k,0}$ are constant column vectors.

We take now

$$\Sigma_1 = \frac{1}{\sigma_1} I_2, \quad \Sigma_2 = \frac{1}{\sigma_2} I_2, \quad \sigma_1, \sigma_2 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\},$$
(4.92)

from which (and (4.85)) it follows immediately that

$$q = \frac{\sigma_2}{\sigma_1} p^{\dagger}. \tag{4.93}$$

If one admits simultaneously the matrix function c in (4.12) to be

$$c = \frac{\sigma_2}{\sigma_1} b^{\dagger}, \tag{4.94}$$

it can be derived easily that all these will guarantee

$$a^{\dagger} = a, \quad d^{\dagger} = d, \tag{4.95}$$

where a and d are given by (4.12). In turn this will lead to (by consideration of (4.36) and (4.37))

$$(V^{[3]})^{\dagger}(\bar{\lambda}) = CV^{[3]}(\bar{\lambda})C^{-1}, \quad Q^{\dagger}(\bar{\lambda}) = CQ(\bar{\lambda})C^{-1}.$$
 (4.96)

The reduction depicted by (4.92) therefore takes effect reasonably for the *x*-part and *t*-part of the matrix spectral problems (4.35). The 8-component mKdV system (4.34a), (4.34b) is thus reduced to

$$p_{rj,t} = -\frac{\beta}{\alpha^3} p_{rj,xxx} - 3\frac{\beta\sigma_2}{\alpha^3\sigma_1} \Big(\sum_{k,l=1}^2 |p_{kl}|^2\Big) p_{rj,x} - 3\frac{\beta\sigma_2}{\alpha^3\sigma_1} \Big(\sum_{k,l=1}^2 p_{kl,x}\bar{p}_{kl}\Big) p_{rj} + 3\frac{\beta\sigma_2}{\alpha^3\sigma_1} C_{rj}(p^{\dagger})(\det p)_x, \qquad 1 \le r, j \le 2.$$
(4.97)

One sees that in such a reduction only the ratio σ_2/σ_1 , other than the exact values of $\sigma_{1,2}$, is fundamental.

4.5 Concluding remarks

In this chapter, by starting from a generalized mKdV matrix spectral problem that has been properly treated to guarantee analytical continuation of eigenfunctions into \mathbb{D}^+ and \mathbb{D}^- , respectively, we have first computed its soliton hierarchy. We have then developed an inverse scattering transform in terms of Riemann-Hilbert formulation for one of the equations in this hierarchy. Based on this, the computation of soliton solutions has been successfully performed by reducing the Riemann-Hilbert problems to those with an identity jump matrix, i.e., those correspond to a reflectionless inverse scattering problems. Both the Riemann-Hilbert approach and the inverse scattering transform demonstrate their power in linearizing a problem which is originally nonlinear in essence.

The Riemann-Hilbert problems formulated from inverse scattering transforms has become, apart from the Hirota bilinear method, the Wronskian technique, the Bäcklund and Darboux transformations [108], another very effective tool in computing soliton solutions [104, 109, 103]. At the moment, various attempts are also being made to apply this tool in generating lump solutions [94, 110], positon and complexiton solutions [95, 111], as well as algebro-geometric solutions [112, 113]. Also recently, generalizations of this method were applied in solving some specific Cauchy problems of nonlinear integrable equations on the half real line [114], as well as on some finite intervals [115].

References

- [1] J. Scott Russell, "Report on waves," Fourteenth meeting of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, (1844).
- [2] M. J. Boussinesq, "Th'eorie de l'intumescence appelée onde solitaire ou de translation se propageant dans un canal rectangulaire," C.R. Acad. Sc. Paris 72, 755 (1871).
- [3] M. J. Boussinesq, "Th'eorie des ondes et des remous qui se propagent le long d'un canal rectangulaire horizontal, en communiquant au liquide contenu dans ce canal des vitesses sensiblemant parielles de la surface au fond," J. Math. Pures Appl. Ser. (2) 17, 55 (1872).
- [4] L. Rayleigh, "On waves," Philos. Mag. Ser. (5) 1, 257 (1876).
- [5] D. J. Korteweg and G. de Vries, "On the change of form of long waves advancing in a rectangular canal and on a new type of long stationary waves," Philos. Mag. 39, 422 (1895).
- [6] N. J. Zabusky and M. D. Kruskal, "Interaction of 'solitons' in a collisionless plasma and the recurrence of initial states". Phys. Rev. Lett. 15, 240 (1965).
- [7] E. Fermi, J. Pasta and S. Ulam, "Studies of nonlinear problems," Document LA-1940. Los Alamos National Laboratory (1955).
- [8] C. S. Gardner, J. M. Greene, M. D. Kruskal and R. M. Miura, "Method for solving the Korteweg-de Vries Equation," Phys. Rev. Lett. 19, 1095 (1967).
- [9] P. D. Lax, "Integrals of nonlinear equations of evolution and solitary waves," Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 21, 467 (1968).
- [10] D. Y. Tang, H. Zhang, L. M. Zhao and X. Wu, "Observation of high-order polarization-locked vector solitons in a fiber laser," Phys. Rev. Lett. 101, 153904 (2008).
- [11] A. M. Kosevich, V. V. Gann, A. I. Zhukov and V. P. Voronov, "Magnetic soliton motion in a nonuniform magnetic field," J. Exp. Theor. Phys. 87, 401 (1998).

- [12] L. V. Yakushevich, Nonlinear Physics of DNA 2nd revised ed., Wiley-VCH (2004).
- [13] W. X. Ma, "Integrability," in: *Encyclopedia of Nonlinear Science*, ed. A. Scott, Taylor & Francis, 250 (2005).
- [14] M. J. Ablowitz and P. A. Clarkson, *Solitons, Nonlinear Evolution Equations and Inverse Scattering*, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 149, Cambridge University Press (1991).
- [15] P. G. Drazin, *Solitons*, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 85, Cambridge University Press (1983).
- [16] R. Beals and R. R. Coifman, "Scattering, transformations spectrales et equations d'evolution nonlineare I," presented at Seminaire Goulaouic-Meyer-Schwartz 1980-1981, exp. 22, Ecole Polytechnique, Palaiseau.
- [17] R. Beals and R. R. Coifman, "Scattering, transformations spectrales et equations d'evolution nonlineare II," presented at Seminaire Goulaouic-Meyer-Schwartz 1981-1982, exp. 21, Ecole Polytechnique, Palaiseau.
- [18] R. Hirota, "Exact solution of the Kortewegde Vries Equation for multiple collisions of solitons," Phys. Rev. Lett. 27, 1192 (1971).
- [19] J. Satsuma, "A Wronskian representation of N-soliton solutions of nonlinear evolution equations," J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 46, 359 (1979).
- [20] N. C. Freeman and J. J. C. Nimmo, "Soliton solutions of the Korteweg-de Vries and Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equations: the Wronskian technique," Phys. Lett. A 95, 1 (1983).
- [21] V. B. Matveev, "Generalized Wronskian formula for solutions of the KdV equations: first applications," Phys. Lett. A 166, 205 (1992).
- [22] V. B. Matveev, "Positon-positon and soliton-positon collisions: KdV case," Phys. Lett. A 166, 209 (1992).
- [23] W.X. Ma and Y. You, "Solving the Korteweg-de Vries equation by its bilinear form: Wronskian solutions," Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 357, 1753 (2005).
- [24] M. J. Ablowitz and A. S. Fokas, *Complex Variables: Introduction and Applications*, 2nd edition, Cambridge University Press (2003).

- [25] M. J. Ablowitz, D. J. Kaup, A. C. Newell and H. Segur, "Nonlinear evolution equations of physical significance," Phys. Rev. Lett. 31, 125 (1973).
- [26] A. R. Its, "The Riemann-Hilbert problem and integrable systems," Notices of the AMS 50, 1389 (2003).
- [27] Y. W. Sokhotskii, "On definite integrals and functions used in series expansions," Dissertation, St. Petersburg (1873).
- [28] V. S. Vladimirov, Equations of Mathematical Physics, New York: Dekker (1971).
- [29] A. B. Shabat, "On the Korteweg de Vries equation," Soy. Math. Dokl. 14, 1266 (1973).
- [30] S. V. Manakov, "Nonlinear Fraunhofer diffraction," Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 65, 1392 (1973) (in Russian);
 Sov. Phys. -JETP 38 (4), 693 (1974) (in English).
- [31] P. Deift and X. Zhou, "A steepest descent method for oscillatory RiemannHilbert Problems: Asymptotics for the MKdV equation," Ann. of Math. 2nd Series **137**, 295 (1993).
- [32] M. J. Ablowitz, D. J. Kaup, A. C. Newell and H. Segur, "The inverse scattering transform—Fourier analysis for nonlinear problems," Stud. Appl. Math. 53, 249 (1974).
- [33] B. B. Kadomtsev and V. I. Petviashvili, "On the stability of solitary waves in weakly dispersing media," Sov. Phys. Dokl. 15, 539 (1970).
- [34] A. Davey and K. Stewarton, "On three-dimensional packets of surface waves," Proc. R. Soc. A 338, 101 (1974).
- [35] W. X. Ma, "Conservation laws by symmetries and adjoint symmetries," Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. S 11, 707 (2018).
- [36] W. X. Ma, "*K*-symmetries and τ -symmetries of evolution equations and their Lie algebras," J. Phys. A **23**, 2707 (1990).
- [37] L. Hörmander, The Analysis of Linear Partial Differential Operators I: Distribution theory and Fourier Analysis, 2nd ed., Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1990).
- [38] P. J. Olver, *Applications of Lie groups to differential equations*, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Vol. 107. Springer-Verlag, New York (1986).

- [39] S. P. Novikov, S. V. Manakov, L. P. Pitaevskii and V. E. Zakharov, *Theory of Solitons: the Inverse Scattering Method*, Consultants Bureau, New York (1984).
- [40] V. G. Drinfeld and V. V. Sokolov, "Equations of Korteweg-de Vries type, and simple Lie algebras," Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 258, 11 (1981).
- [41] W. X. Ma, "A soliton hierarchy associated with so $(3, \mathbb{R})$," Appl. Math. Comput. **220**, 117 (2013).
- [42] W. X. Ma, "A spectral problem based on $so(3, \mathbb{R})$ and its associated commuting soliton equations," J. Math. Phys. **54**, 103509 (2013).
- [43] W. Y. Zhang and W. X. Ma, "An so(3, ℝ) counterpart of the Dirac soliton hierarchy and its bi-integrable couplings," Int. J. Theor. Phys. 53, 4211 (2014).
- [44] W. X. Ma, "An integrable counterpart of the D-AKNS soliton hierarchy from so(3, ℝ)," Phys. Lett. A 378, 1717 (2014).
- [45] W. X. Ma, S. F. Shen, S. M. Yu, H. Q. Zhang and W. Y. Zhang, "An integrable so(3, ℝ)-counterpart of the Heisenberg soliton hierarchy," Rep. Math. Phys. 74, 283 (2014).
- [46] S. F. Shen, L. Y. Jiang, Y. Y. Jin and W. X. Ma, "New soliton hierarchies associated with the Lie algebra $so(3, \mathbb{R})$ and their bi-Hamiltonian structures," Rep. Math. Phys. **75**, 113 (2015).
- [47] W. X. Ma and M. Chen, "Hamiltonian and quasi-Hamiltonian structures associated with semi-direct sums of Lie algebras," J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 39, 10787 (2006).
- [48] W. X. Ma, "Integrable couplings and matrix loop algebra," In *Proceedings of the 2nd International Workshop on Nonlinear and Modern Mathematical Physics* (eds. W. X. Ma and D. Kaup), AIP Conference Proceedings, vol.1562, pp.105–122 American Institute of Physics, Melville, NY (2013).
- [49] H. Grosse. "New solitons connected to the Dirac equation," Phys. Rep. 134, 297 (1986).
- [50] D. J. Kaup and A. C. Newell, "An exact solution for a derivative nonlinear Schrödinger equation," J. Math Phys. 19, 798 (1978).
- [51] M. Wadati, K. Konno and Y. H. Ichikawa, "New integrable nonlinear evolution equations," J. Phys. Soc. Jpn 47, 1698 (1979).
- [52] G. Z. Tu, "On Liouville integrability of zero-curvaure equations and the Yang hierarchy," J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 22, 2375 (1989).

- [53] W. X. Ma, "The algebraic structures of isospectral Lax operators and applications to integrable equations," J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 25, 5329 (1992).
- [54] W. X. Ma, "The algebraic structure of zero curvature representations and application to coupled KdV systems," J. Phys. A. Math. Gen. 26, 2573 (1993).
- [55] W. X. Ma, "Lax representations and Lax operator algebras of isospectral and nonisospectral hierarchies of evolution equations," J. Math. Phys. 33, 2464 (1992).
- [56] W. X. Ma, "Lie algebra structures associated with zero curvature equations and generalized zero curvature equations," British J. Appl. Sci. Tech. **3**, 1336 (2013).
- [57] W. Hereman, P. J. Adams, H. L. Eklund, M. S. Hickman and B. M. Herbst, "Direct methods and symbolic software for conservation laws of nonlinear equations," In *Advances in Nonlinear Waves and Symbolic Computation*, loose errata, pp. 19–78, New York, Nova Sci. Publ. (2009).
- [58] R. M. Miura, C. S. Gardner and M. D. Kruskal, "Korteweg-de Vries equation and generalizations II. Existence of conservation laws and constants of motion," J. Math. Phys. 9, 1204 (1968).
- [59] G. Falqui, F. Magri and M. Pedroni, "Bi-Hamiltonian geometry, Darboux coverings, and linearization of the KP hierarchy," Comm. Math. Phys. 197, 303 (1998).
- [60] P. Casati, A. D. Vedova and G. Ortenzi, "The soliton equations associated with the affine Kac-Moody Lie algebra $G_2^{(1)}$," J. Geom. Phys. **58**, 377 (2008).
- [61] A. P. Fordy, "Derivative nonlinear Schrödinger equations and Hermitian symmetric spaces," J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 17 1235, (1984).
- [62] X. B. Hu, "A powerful approach to generate new integrable systems," J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 27, 2497 (1994).
- [63] W. X. Ma, "Binary Bargmann symmetry constraints of soliton equations," Nonlinear Anal. 47, 5199 (2001).
- [64] W. X. Ma and R. G. Zhou, "Adjoint symmetry constraints of multicomponent AKNS equations," Chinese Ann. Math. Ser. B 23, 373 (2002).
- [65] W. X. Ma and Z. X. Zhou, "Coupled integrable systems associated with a polynomial spectral problem and their Virasoro symmetry algebras," Prog. Theoret. Phys. **96**, 449 (1996).

- [66] X. G. Geng and D. L. Du, "Two hierarchies of new nonlinear evolution equations associated with 3×3 matrix spectral problems," Chaos Solitons Fractals **29**, 1165 (2006).
- [67] X. Y. Zhu and D. J. Zhang, "Lie algebras and Hamiltonian structures of multi-component Ablowitz-Kaup-Newell-Segur hierarchy," J. Math. Phys. 54, 053508 (2013).
- [68] W. X. Ma and B. Fuchssteiner, "Integrable theory of the perturbation equations," Chaos, Solitons Fractals **7**, 1227 (1996).
- [69] W. X. Ma, X. X. Xu and Y. F. Zhang, "Semi-direct sums of Lie algebras and continuous integrable couplings," Phys. Lett. A 351, 125 (2006).
- [70] W. X. Ma and L. Gao, "Coupling integrable couplings," Mod. Phys. Lett. B 23, 1847 (2009).
- [71] X. X. Xu, "An integrable coupling hierarchy of the MKdV-integrable systems, its Hamiltonian structure and corresponding nonisospectral integrable hierarchy," Appl. Math. Comput. **216**, 344 (2010).
- [72] X. X. Xu, "A generalized Wadati-Konno-Ichikawa hierarchy and new finite-dimensional integrable systems," Phys. Lett. A 301, 250 (2002).
- [73] W. Y. Zhang, D. J. Zhang et al., "On a generalization of AKNS hierarchy and related tri-Hamiltonian duality," Commun. Appl. Math. Comput. 29, 404 (2015).
- [74] W. X. Ma, "A new hierarchy of Liouville integrable generalized Hamiltonian equations and its reduction," Chinese Ann. Math. Ser. A **13**, 115 (1992).
- [75] A. S. Fokas and B. Fuchssteiner, "On the structure of symplectic operators and hereditary symmetries," Lett. Nuovo Cimento 28, 299 (1980).
- [76] A. S. Fokas and B. Fuchssteiner, "Bäcklund transformations for hereditary symmetries," Nonlinear Anal. TMA 5, 423 (1981).
- [77] B. Fuchssteiner and A. S. Fokas, "Symplectic structures, their Bäcklund transformations and hereditary symmetries," Physica 4D, 47 (1981).
- [78] A. S. Fokas and R. L. Anderson, "Group theoretical nature of Bäcklund transformations," Lett. Math. Phys. 3, 117 (1979).
- [79] F. A. E. Pirani, D. C. Robinson and W. F. Shadwick, *Local Jet Bundle Formulation of Bäcklund transformations*, Mathematical Physics Studies 1, D. Reidel Publishing Co., Dordrecht (1979).

- [80] D.Y. Chen, Introduction to Solitons, Science Press, Beijing (2006) (in Chinese).
- [81] W.X. Ma, "Hereditary symmetries and integrable systems for a class of Hamiltonian operators," Appl. Math.–A Journal of Chinese Universities 8, 28 (1993) (in Chinese).
- [82] W. X. Ma, "Some Hamiltonian operators in the infinite-dimensional Hamiltonian systems," Acta Math. Appl. Sin. 13, 484 (1990) (in Chinese).
- [83] W. X. Ma, "On two sorts of Hamiltonian operators," J. of Graduate School of Univ. of Science and Technology of China and Academia Sinica 3, 37 (1986) (in Chinese).
- [84] W. X. Ma, "A class of coupled KdV systems and their bi-Hamiltonian formulation," J. Phys. A: Math Gen. 31, 7585 (1998).
- [85] W. X. Ma and M. Pavlov, "Extending Hamiltonian operators to get bi-Hamiltonian coupled KdV systems," Phys. Lett. A 246, 511 (1998).
- [86] F. Magri, "A simple model of the integrable Hamiltonian equation," J. Math. Phys. 19, 1156 (1978).
- [87] A. S. Fokas, "Symmetries and integrability," Stud. Appl. Math. 77, 253 (1987).
- [88] F. Magri, "A geometrical approach to the nonlinear solvable equations, nonlinear evolution equations and dynamical systems," Proc. Meeting, Univ. Lecce, Lecce, 1979, Lecture Notes in Phys. 120, Springer, Berlin-New York, pp 233–263 (1980).
- [89] W. X. Ma, "*K*-symmetries and τ -symmetries of evolution equations and their Lie algebras," J. Phys. A: Math. and Gen. **23** 2707, (1990).
- [90] M. Wadati, K. Konno and Y.H. Ichikawa, "A generalization of inverse scattering method," J. Phys. Soc. Jpn. 46, 1965 (1979).
- [91] W. X. Ma, T. C. Xia and Z. N. Zhu, "A generalization of the Wadati-Konno-Ichikawa soliton hierarchy and its Liouville integrability," Int. J. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul. 15, 397 (2014).
- [92] R. Camassa and D. D. Holm, "An integrable shallow water equation with peaked solitons," Phys. Rev. Lett. 71, 1661 (1993).
- [93] M. J. Ablowitz and H. Segur, *Solitons and the Inverse Scattering Transform*, SIAM, Philadephia (1981).

- [94] J. Satsuma and M. J. Ablowitz, "Two-dimensional lumps in nonlinear dispersive systems," J. Math. Phys. 20, 1496 (1979).
- [95] W. X. Ma, "Complexiton solutions to the Korteweg-de Vries equation," Phys. Lett. A 301, 35 (2002).
- [96] Y. Xiao and E.G. Fan, "A Riemann-Hilbert approach to the Harry-Dym equation on the line," Chin. Ann. Math. Ser. B **37**, 373 (2016).
- [97] D. S. Wang, D. J. Zhang and J. Yang, "Integrable properties of the general coupled nonlinear Schrödinger equations," J. Math. Phys. 51, 023510 (2010).
- [98] B. Guo, N. Liu and Y. Wang, "A Riemann-Hilbert approach for a new type coupled nonlinear Schrödinger equations," J. Math. Anal. Appl. 459,145 (2018).
- [99] X. G. Geng and J. P. Wu, "Riemann-Hilbert approach and N-soliton solutions for a generalized Sasa-Satsuma equation," Wave Motion 60, 62 (2016).
- [100] W. X. Ma and H. H. Dong, "Modeling Riemann-Hilbert problems to get soliton solutions," Math. Model. Appl. 6, 16 (2017).
- [101] W. X. Ma, "RiemannHilbert problems and N-soliton solutions for a coupled mKdV system," J. Geom. Phys. 132, 45 (2018).
- [102] W. X. Ma, "Riemann-Hilbert problems and soliton solutions of a multicomponent mKdV system and its reduction," preprint (2017).
- [103] B. B. Hu, T. C. Xia and W. X. Ma, "Riemann-Hilbert approach for an initial-boundary value problem of the two-component modified Kortewegde Vries equation on the half-line," Appl. Math. Comput. 332, 148 (2018).
- [104] J. Yang, Nonlinear Waves in Integrable and Nonintegrable Systems, SIAM, Philadelphia (2010).
- [105] T. Kawata, "Riemann spectral method for the nonlinear evolution equation," in: Advances in Nonlinear Waves Vol. I, Res. Notes in Math. 95, Pitman, Boston, MA, pp. 210-225 (1984).
- [106] V. S. Shchesnovich, "Perturbation theory for nearly integrable multicomponent nonlinear PDEs," J. Math. Phys. 43, 1460 (2002).
- [107] V. S. Shchesnovich and J. Yang, "General soliton matrices in the Riemann-Hilbert problem for integrable nonlinear equations," J. Math. Phys. 44, 4604 (2003).

- [108] V. B. Matveev and M. A. Salle, Darboux Transformations and Solitons, Springer, Berlin (1991).
- [109] D. J. Kaup, "The legacy of the IST," in: *The Legacy of the Inverse Scattering Transform in Applied Mathematics*, Contemp. Math. **301**. AMS: Providence, RI, 1 (2002).
- [110] W. X. Ma, "Lump solutions to the Kadomtsev-Petviashvili equation," Phys. Lett. A 379, 1975 (2015).
- [111] W. X. Ma and K. Maruno, "Complexiton solutions of the Toda lattice equation," Phys. A 343, 219 (2004).
- [112] E. D. Belokolos, A. I. Bobenko, V. Z. Enolskii, A. R. Its and V. B. Matveev, *Algebro-Geometric Approach to Nonlinear Integrable Equations*, Springer, Berlin (1994).
- [113] F. Gesztesy and H. Holden, Soliton Equations and their Algebro-Geometric Solutions: (1+1)-Dimensional Continuous Models, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2003).
- [114] A.S. Fokas and J. Lenells, "The unified method: I. Nonlinearizable problems on the half-line," J. Phys. A 45, 195201 (2012).
- [115] A.S. Fokas and J. Lenells, "The unified method: III. Nonlinearizable problems on the interval," J. Phys. A 45, 195203 (2012).

Publications

- 1. X. Gu and W. X. Ma, "On a class of coupled Hamiltonian operators and their integrable hierarchies with two potentials," Math. Meth. Appl. Sci. 41, 3779 (2018).
- X. Gu, W. X. Ma and W. Y. Zhang, "Two integrable Hamiltonian hierarchies in sl(2, ℝ) and so(3, ℝ) with three potentials," J. Math. Phys. 58, 053512 (2017).
- 3. H. C. Zheng, W. X. Ma and X. Gu, Hirota bilinear equations with linear subspaces of hyperbolic and trigonometric function solutions. Appl. Math. Comput. 220, 226 (2013).